

Open Access Repository

www.ssoar.info

Organizational reforms and gender: feminization of middle management in Finnish and German banking

Tienari, Janne; Quack, Sigrid; Theobald, Hildegard

Veröffentlichungsversion / Published Version Arbeitspapier / working paper

Zur Verfügung gestellt in Kooperation mit / provided in cooperation with:

SSG Sozialwissenschaften, USB Köln

Empfohlene Zitierung / Suggested Citation:

Tienari, J., Quack, S., & Theobald, H. (1998). *Organizational reforms and gender: feminization of middle management in Finnish and German banking.* (Discussion Papers / Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin für Sozialforschung, Forschungsschwerpunkt Arbeitsmarkt und Beschäftigung, Abteilung Organisation und Beschäftigung, 98-105). Berlin: Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin für Sozialforschung gGmbH. https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-126210

Nutzungsbedingungen:

Dieser Text wird unter einer Deposit-Lizenz (Keine Weiterverbreitung - keine Bearbeitung) zur Verfügung gestellt. Gewährt wird ein nicht exklusives, nicht übertragbares, persönliches und beschränktes Recht auf Nutzung dieses Dokuments. Dieses Dokument ist ausschließlich für den persönlichen, nicht-kommerziellen Gebrauch bestimmt. Auf sämtlichen Kopien dieses Dokuments müssen alle Urheberrechtshinweise und sonstigen Hinweise auf gesetzlichen Schutz beibehalten werden. Sie dürfen dieses Dokument nicht in irgendeiner Weise abändern, noch dürfen Sie dieses Dokument für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, aufführen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Mit der Verwendung dieses Dokuments erkennen Sie die Nutzungsbedingungen an.



Terms of use:

This document is made available under Deposit Licence (No Redistribution - no modifications). We grant a non-exclusive, non-transferable, individual and limited right to using this document. This document is solely intended for your personal, non-commercial use. All of the copies of this documents must retain all copyright information and other information regarding legal protection. You are not allowed to alter this document in any way, to copy it for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the document in public, to perform, distribute or otherwise use the document in public.

By using this particular document, you accept the above-stated conditions of use.



discussion paper

FS I 98 - 105

Organizational Reforms and Gender: Feminization of Middle Management in Finnish and German Banking.

Janne Tienari*, Sigrid Quack, and Hildegard Theobald

November 1998 ISSN Nr. 1011-9523

 Helsinki School of Economics Centre for Doctoral Programme P.O. Box 12 10 SF-00101 Helsinki tienari@hkkk.fi

sigrid@medea.wz-berlin.de theobald@medea.wz-berlin.de

This analysis has been previously published under the title "Stuck!? Organizational Reforms and Feminization of Middle Management: The Common Mechanism and Societal Differences" in the working paper series of the Helsinki School of Economics.

ZITIERWEISE / CITATION

Janne Tienari, Sigrid Quack, and Hildegard Theobald

Organizational Reforms and Gender: Feminization of Middle Management in Finnish and German Banking.

Discussion Paper FS I 98 -105 Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin für Sozialforschung 1998

Forschungsschwerpunkt: Research Area:
Arbeitsmarkt und Labour Market and
Beschäftigung Employment

Abteilung:Research Unit:Organisation undOrganization andBeschäftigungEmployment

Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin für Sozialforschung Reichpietschufer 50 D-10785 Berlin e-mail: wzb@wz-berlin.de

Internet: http://www.wz-berlin.de

Summary

In this article, we analyze the longitudinal relationship between organizational reforms (with downsizing elements) and feminization of a specific managerial position. We maintain that two dominant contemporary approaches to reforms and change, i.e. the managerialist literature and its socio-political criticisms, have predominantly been gender-blind. We argue that the unfolding of organizational reforms in bureaucratic business firms cannot fully be understood without reference to how managerial jobs are redefined in relation to each other, and to what are the gendered connotations involved and the type of workforce sought for the newly defined jobs. These gendered *demands* of reforms must, moreover, be addressed in association with what comes to be seen as the adequate (female and male) *supply* by top decision-makers.

We contend that the gendered patterns inherent in organisational reform can only be discerned if the research takes into account the ways in which reforming is intertwined with developments in the division of labour between men and women, power and authority relations, and norms and values prevalent in the proximate business environment and the society at large. This leads us to suggest analysis which identifies processes of organising as constructed under, but not fully determined by, specific spatial and temporal conditions of gendered social practice.

We present in-depth evidence from organizational reforming in two banks, located in societies with significantly divergent gender cultures and gender orders (i.e. Finland and Germany). Through a detailed cross-national comparison, we propose a common fundamental operating mechanism for the reformgender link, and specify a number of societal differences in form. In general, our evidence supports the argument that specific forms of restructuring - even with reductive elements - in fact promote feminization of middle management positions, albeit as a reflection of a development that *reproduces gender segregation* in new forms.

Zusammenfassung

In diesem Beitrag wird der Zusammenhang zwischen Organisationsreformen und der Feminisierung einer spezifischen Managementposition aus einer Langzeitperspektive analysiert. Den Ausgangspunkt bildet eine Kritik an derzeit dominierenden Erklärungsansätzen zum Organisationswandel. Sowohl die managementorientierte Literatur als auch ihre sozialwissenschaftliche Kritik schenken deren geschlechtsspezifischen Implikationen zumeist keine Aufmerksamkeit. Wir gehen hingegen davon aus, daß der Verlauf von Organisationsreformen in bürokratischen Unternehmen nicht ohne Einbezug der Neudefinition des Verhältnisses von Leitungspositionen zueinander einschließlich der damit verbundenen geschlechtsspezifischen Konnotationen und des von SpitzenmanagerInnen gewünschten Typus von (weiblichem und männlichem) Personal für die neu-definierten Positionen verstanden werden kann.

Eine Untersuchung der sich im Verlauf von Organisationsreformen entwikkelnden geschlechtsspezifischen Muster erfordert die Berücksichtigung der Arbeitsteilung zwischen Männern und Frauen, der Beziehungen zwischen Macht und Autorität sowie der Normen und Werte innerhalb der Unternehmen und der Gesellschaft insgesamt. Notwendig werden Analysen, die Organisationsveränderungen als durch räumlich und zeitlich definierte, geschlechtsspezifische soziale Praktiken konstruiert, aber nicht völlig determiniert, begreifen.

Die vorliegende Untersuchung basiert auf Fallstudien in zwei Banken, die in Ländern - Deutschland und Finnland - mit sehr unterschiedlichen Geschlechtersystemen angesiedelt sind. Die Ergebnisse des Vergleichs deuten darauf hin, daß Organisationsreform und geschlechtsspezifische Implikationen in beiden Ländern durch einen ähnlichen Mechanismus miteinander verknüpft sind. Hingegen werden Form und Verlauf der Reformprozesse durch das jeweilige länderspezifische Geschlechtersystem geprägt. Die Ergebnisse zeigen, daß spezifische Formen der Restrukturierung - und zwar auch im Kontext einer Personalreduktion - durchaus die Feminisierung einer Managementposition fördern können. Dies geht aber mit der Herausbildung neuer Formen der Geschlechtersegregation einher.

Contents

		Page
1.	Introduction	1
2.	Organizational Reforms and Gender: Framework for Cross-National Comparison	3
2.1.	Criticisms of Managerialist Notions of Organizational Change	4
2.2.	Feminist Theory on the Gendering of Organizations	7
2.3.	Cross-National Comparative Analyses of Gender Relations and Employment	12
3.	Societal and Sectoral Embeddedness of Oganizational Reform: Finland and Germany Compared	16
3.1.	Gendered Labour Market Regimes	16
3.2.	Gendered Banking Sectors	24
4.	Methodology and Data	32
5.	Gendering of Branch Management in the Field of Finnish Banking	36
5.1.	Women's Inroads to Branch Management	36
5.2.	From Feminization to Gendering: Some Finnish Explanations	50
6.	Gendering of Branch Management in the Field of German Banking	53
6.1.	Women's Inroads to Branch Management	53
6.2.	From Feminization to Gendering: Some German Explanations	63
7.	Conclusions	70
	References	76

1. INTRODUCTION¹

The issue of organizational change and transformation continues to attract an overwhelming amount of attention in management studies and organization theory. In the increasingly volatile and turbulent business environment of the 1980s and 1990s, the success of business firms seems to increasingly rely on their flexibility in terms of learning, decentralizing, delayering and down-sizing. As part of this managerial discourse on the permanently reforming organization, we seem to experience a revival of a rationalistic, calculative and management-driven approach. Organizational change is perceived as a predominantly top-down process in the course of which top management radically reorganizes or transforms entire business units, divisions and firms (e.g. Peters and Waterman, 1982; Romanelli and Tushman, 1994; Kotter, 1995; Volberda, 1997). Relatedly, it is often postulated that the emergence of new competitors in the context of the internationalization and globalization of markets, the increasing pace of technological change and the managerial discourse of restructuring itself lead to converging trends of organizational form and development across different societal settings.

Critics of the managerialist discourse have pointed out that decision making on organizational reforms, rather then being a process of rational choice, is more likely to be characterized by bounded rationality and to reflect the previous change experiences of the organizational actors (cf. March and Simon, 1958; March, 1981). Organizational change may also be understood as a result of political bargaining and negotiation between competing interest groups in the organization (e.g. Pettigrew 1987; Pettigrew et al, 1992). Moreover, the notion of management as a monolithic and unified agent of change has been questioned. Instead, it has been suggested that management should be conceptualized as a vertically and horizontally divided set of actors with multiple and often contradictory structures and logics of action, including the potential independence of lower-level dynamics from top-down formulations of organizational change (e.g. Teulings, 1986; Tainio et al, 1991). Finally, it has

We would like to thank Susan Meriläinen, Jacqueline O'Reilly and the participants of the workshop on Professions: Continuities & Change at the *Work, Employment & Society Conference* in September 1998 in Cambridge, UK for their helpful comments on an earlier version of this paper. Financing from the following sources is gratefully acknowledged: The Academy of Finland and Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst (DAAD), Helsinki School of Economics and its foundations, the Foundation for Economic Education in Finland, Osuuspankkiryhmän Tutkimussäätiö, the Finnish Cultural Foundation, the Finnish Saving Banks Research Foundation and Marcus Wallenberg Stiftelse.

been indicated that the categories used in the discourse of change management are not self-evident, but socially constituted phenomena which need to be studied as part of the change efforts themselves (e.g. Morgan and Sturdy, 1997; Gerlach, 1996). Most authors within this wide range of criticisms subscribe to the argument that organisational reforms develop divergently in particular societal settings, as different practices and discourses emerge, are constructed and contested.

In this paper, we provide a twofold critique of the two perspectives to organizational reform and change, i.e. managerialism and its socio-political elaborations. *Firstly*, we argue that the process and outcomes of organizational reforms in hierarchical bureaucracies cannot be fully understood without taking into account the gendered underpinnings of organizations in general and the dynamics by which gender relations unfold throughout the process of reforming in particular (cf. Lewis and Morgan, 1994; Woodall et al, 1997; Tienari, forth-coming).

The majority in both the managerialist prescriptions of how organizational 'change' should be implemented as well as the critical literature on the social complexity and unintentionality of 'changing' operate with an apparently gender-neutral notion of organizations and organizing. They are typically blind towards gendering of organizations. Put simply, analysis is based on the premise that the sex of organizational actors - the formulators and implementors of reforms (usually men) and its recipients (usually women) - is irrelevant to its process and outcomes. More specifically, both streams of thought widely ignore the growing body of feminist organizational theory indicating that gender is to be regarded as a constitutive element of social relationships in organizations, based on the division of labour, perceived differences and asymmetrical power relations between the sexes (for an overview, see e.g. Mills and Trancred 1992; Calas and Smircich, 1996).

We suggest that processes of organizational reform often go hand in hand with a redefinition of the division of labour - and (symbolic) perceptions of women's and men's work roles - in the organization. As part of this redefinition, women may gain increased access to specific management positions. At first glance, this seems to indicate that contrary to earlier findings (e.g. Woodall et al, 1997), organizational restructuring does not necessarily disadvantage women. We suggest, however, that relationships of power between the sexes are simultaneously reproduced, and male dominated hierarchies in the overall organization remain unchallenged throughout the process. Gender segregation merely changes its phenotype.

Secondly, we argue that the study of organizational change and reform as a process of gendered organizing should go beyond the polarization between universalistic versus societal/cultural approaches prevalent in recent debates on the effects of internationalization and globalization (e.g. Müller, 1997). Rather, such a study needs to take into account both universal forces and mechanisms potentially resulting in converging developments - and the historically specific societal and sectoral settings which are likely to penetrate the organization and give a particular shape to the link between reform and gender.

More specifically, we suggest that similar interrelationships between organizational reforms and feminization (and gendering) of specific managerial positions can be found across firms embedded in very different societies. However, the form in which the mechanism unfolds and the outcomes it has for different cohorts of women (and men) is shaped by structures and practices rooted in both societal particularities and challenges of the business environment at hand.

In chapter two of this paper, we develop a theoretical framework for cross-national comparison. We then apply this framework to a detailed analysis of reform processes in two case banks². In chapter three, we present the location of our cases; we describe two societies with significantly divergent gender cultures and gender orders, and specify recent, similar and contrasting sectoral developments in banking within each of these societies. After a brief note on data and methodology in chapter four, we provide a detailed presentation of our findings in chapters five and six. These chapters are each divided into a (within-case) descriptive and an explanatory section. In chapter seven, we present our conclusions based on a comparative analysis of similarities and differences.

2. ORGANIZATIONAL REFORMS AND GENDER: FRAMEWORK FOR CROSS-NATIONAL COMPARISON

Organizational reforms and women's inroads to managerial ranks have previously been analyzed rather separately, and the discussions seem to have predominantly run in parallel rather than complemented each other. *On the one hand*, a vast literature on organizational change and transformation has emerged in recent decades, originating from both the managerialist camp (e.g.

3

Research on reforms in banks is particularly compelling since national banking sectors have been central to the emergence and development of 'service sector economies' in general.

Romanelli and Tushman, 1994) and from its more critical counterparts in organizational theory (e.g. March and Simon, 1958; Brunsson, 1989). *On the other hand*, we can also distinguish between feminist theory on the gendering of organizations at the micro level (e.g. Acker, 1990; Crompton and LeFeuvre, 1992), and cross-national approaches towards gender and employment at the aggregate level (e.g. Duncan, 1998; Fagan and O'Reilly, 1998). In the following, we provide an outline of the debates, demonstrating one way to integrate some of the crucial issues discussed.

2.1. Criticisms of Managerialist Notions of Organizational Change

The contemporary managerialist version of organizational change generates the picture of an ideal organization which is permanently changing and flexible. The underlying discourse of change management has become a universal phenomenon. As traces of similar top-down efforts for change become evident across national and sectoral boundaries, the discourse may be considered a new kind of isomorphism (for a critical perspective, see e.g. Gerlach, 1996; Morgan and Sturdy, 1997). One example is the spread of the 'Citicorp model' in banking - first implemented in the US in the 1960s - incorporating principles of organizing based on customer segmentation, decentralization of decision making authority and rationalization of operations (cf. Cleveland and Huertas, 1985; Eriksson, 1994). Under a general trend of deregulation in national European financial services sectors, changes in customer demand and increased market competition contribute to change within and between banks. The expected outcome is global convergence, for the large banks much along the lines of the principles of the 'Citicorp model'.

When carried out, organizational change proves to be more complex than the prescriptive managerialist literature suggests. Although organizations change, they rarely change in a way that fulfills the intentions of a particular group of actors (March, 1981). Differentiating between organizational reform (i.e. change efforts) and change (i.e. consequences of reform, intentional and unintentional) allows us to take into account the criticisms of viewing organizations as ready objects for change via top-down actions. In organization theory, much of the criticism can be traced back to the works of March and Simon (1958; Cyert and March, 1963), who pointed out that organizations are "continually changing, routinely, easily, and responsively, but change within them cannot ordinarily be arbitrarily controlled" (March, 1981: 563). Organizations rarely do exactly what they are told to do (ibid), although at times people do manage to convince each other to change their opinions, beliefs, and ways of acting - and not only by mistake (cf. Czarniawska and Sevon, 1996).

Reforms and routine adaptation mix in a variety of ways. Some preconditions for particular organizational mixes are briefly discussed below.

Firstly, rather than being a process of rational choice, organizational decision making is more likely to be characterized by bounded rationality (e.g. March and Simon, 1958) where solutions frequently drive problems (e.g. March and Olsen, 1975; 1976). There are contradictory intentions and expectations present in formulating decisions while coalitions are built for their facilitation (e.g. March and Olsen, 1976; Baier et al, 1986). Moreover, top decision makers are likely to be confined by their own perceptions of past actions and the success and failure attributed to these actions (e.g. March, 1995). In other words, current change efforts reflect previous change experiences, orientations and capabilities. Relatedly, with reference to the distinction between reform and change, one should be aware that the intention in changing the form of the organization is often to maintain the political status quo rather than to foster change. Reforms may contribute to stability. Reforms are often repetitions of earlier reforms (Brunsson and Olsen, 1994), and they tend to become causes and effects of reforms (Brunsson, 1989). Reforming may materialize as a chain where the links between individual events of reform become blurred, although new reforms are constantly implemented on the premise that previous ones have been readily completed (Tienari and Tainio, forthcoming).

Secondly, rather than being a task exclusively reserved for top management, all parts of the organization scan the 'environment' and act accordingly. What is usually conceptualized as organizational change may well be "an ecology of concurrent responses in various parts of an organization to various interconnected parts of the environment" (March, 1981: 564). Translating top management intentions into realized change may essentially be a process of legitimation shaped by political and cultural considerations (cf. Pettigrew, 1987). Rather than being a neatly unfolding process of implementation, the materialization of a particular reform is more likely to be effectively filtered by the leveled nature of the organizational structure itself (e.g. Levinthal, 1994; Bacharach et al, 1996). There is a loose coupling between formal decisions to reform and actual behaviour down the line (cf. Brunsson, 1989). The role of groups of organizational actors - or, rather, groupings related to specific tasks or maneuvers - and the interaction between them needs to be considered. In fact, it is even a quixotic task to specify 'management' (as a collective of actors) under a single label (e.g. Teulings, 1986; Räsänen, 1986; Teulings and Lilja, 1989). Tainio et al (1991) point out that a process of change in a business firm cannot be explained solely by the direct intentions of any particular group. They stress the importance of the organization's structural dynamics, pointing to the need for identifying the dynamics at lower management levels that hinder and obstruct corresponding low level action to top management plans. Pettigrew et al's (1992) ideas on the need to link 'top-down revolution' with 'local evolution' in transformation, Greenwood and Hinings' (1996) postulations on the importance of 'intraorganizational dynamics' in change, and Räsänen's (1991/92) suggestions of change itself as a dual dynamic of developing and dismantling existing practices have similar underpinnings.

Finally, recent contributions to the study of organization attempt to go beyond the socio-politically informed criticisms of managerialism outlined above. Morgan and Sturdy (1997: 21) argue that neo- institutionalist theory can contribute to a better understanding of "how varying discourses and practices of organizational change emerge and are constructed and contested in particular social contexts". In this view, the borders of organizations are permeable and organizational reforms do not take place in a firm-specific vacuum. Studies in the tradition of the societal effect school have demonstrated how work organization, organizational structures and management styles vary depending on the national institutional and societal context (Maurice et al, 1986; Sorge and Warner, 1986). Neo-institutionalist authors, in general, follow a less deterministic approach and give more emphasis to organizational fields. Such fields, defined as "those organizations that, in the aggregate, constitute a recognized area of institutional life" (DiMaggio and Powell, 1983: 143), do not represent an external environment in the conventional sense, but penetrate or constitute all aspects of organizational life (cf. Friedland and Alford, 1987; cited in Scott, 1987). Building on a long institutionalist tradition, Räsänen and Whipp (1992), for example, have similarly argued that the sector is an important determinant of social and economic relations below the national level. In that the accomplishment of multiple actors with potentially diverse logics of action is highlighted, their conception comes close to that of the organizational field. The sector includes organizations which provide similar goods or services along with those who regularly transact with them in supplying, servicing, regulatory or customer roles. It is an arena of coexisting competition and cooperation (ibid).

In sum, the goals and content of reforms should not be confounded with the resulting process of organizational change. Top-down efforts of implementing reform are likely to be complemented, contested and resisted by bottom-up processes, and intentional outcomes to be supplemented or counteracted by unintentional effects. Both *top-down* and *bottom-up* voices need to be incorporated in the analysis. Middle management in large business firms in established (but impermanent) sectors is a particularly fruitful pool of organizational actors to be examined³. On the one hand, middle managers are conveyors of the transformative tendencies prevalent in contemporary business life. They are

There is also evidence of increasing representation of women among middle management ranks in large business firms (see e.g. Bird, 1990; Jacobs, 1992; Tienari, forthcoming).

expected to 'implement change'. On the other hand, middle managers are personally affected by the measures as potential targets for downsizing. They are 'recipients of change' (cf. Kanter et al, 1992). An important aspect of organizational reforms is partial renewal of the managerial work force and changes in the way in which social reproduction of management takes place (cf. Gunz 1989).

Despite underlining the multiplicity of organizational actors and the dynamics originating from their social practices and interaction - and emphasizing how perceptions and actions of individuals are shaped by structures, norms and values prevalent in particular societies and sectors/fields - the criticisms of managerialist notions of organizational change often fail to address the gendered nature of organizations. We maintain that top-down change efforts (as we conceptualized them above) are very rarely gendered by origin, in the sense that they are intentionally initiated to produce and reproduce hierarchies where the 'feminine' is subordinated. However, it seems clear that the ways in which top-down change efforts materialize within organizations carry real, gendered implications.

2.2. Feminist Theory on the Gendering of Organizations

The gender-blindness of the organizational change literature is merely an example of a more general phenomenon. One of the basic, recurring paradoxes in the constitution of organizational theory is that the category of man and masculinity is central to the analysis - yet it remains hidden, taken for granted and unexamined (cf. Mills and Tancred, 1992; Collinson and Hearn, 1996). The longstanding taken-for-grantedness of the gender neutrality of organizing has, however, for some time been revealed by several diverse strands of feminist approaches which share a critical stance to the status quo, i.e. male dominance in social arrangements (cf. Acker and Van Houten, 1974; Hearn and Parkin, 1983; for a review and categorization, see e.g. Calas and Smircich, 1996).

Whereas early feminist studies often focused on individual characteristics of women and/or organizational structures contributing to gender specific opportunity structures (cf. Kanter, 1977), the focus of more recent work has been on both 'how gender is done' (e.g. Acker, 1994) and on gender critical analyses of fundamental theoretical assumptions in organizational theory, such as hierarchy and bureaucracy (e.g. Ferguson 1984; Savage and Witz, 1992), leadership (Calás and Smircich, 1991), power relations (e.g. Acker and Van Houten, 1974; Ragins and Sundstrom, 1989) and organizational culture (e.g.

Marshall 1984; Alvesson and Due Billing, 1992). A common concern of a variety of feminist approaches is that organizations cannot be understood without analyzing the gendered relations and interactions through which men and women become established as different groups (and assigned to different jobs and positions) and the ways in which male dominance is established, maintained and reproduced through power relations.

Firstly, an analysis of organizational reforms and women's position inspired by feminist approaches should attempt to reveal the underlying gendered subtext of reforms. Kerfoot and Knights (1993), for example, elaborate on paternalism and strategic management as techniques both constitutive of and embedded in what they term a discourse of masculinism. Secondly, such an analysis should attempt to reveal how the way reforms materialize is shaped by the existing division of labour between men and women, gendered practices, and the perceptions of actors at different hierarchical levels within the organization. Both are incorporated in the discussion below, but our emphasis is on the latter.

Why do organizational reforms appear gender neutral? One obvious reason is the ostensibly objective and impersonal language in which its overall goals and implementation procedures are manifested. Thereby jobs and hierarchies, and the way in which they are intended to be maintained and changed throughout the reform, appear as abstract categories (cf. Acker, 1990). Women have throughout time been concentrated in jobs at the lower end of organizational hierarchies, with little discretion and limited prospects in terms of remuneration and career development. Jobs at higher levels of the hierarchy, vested with more authority, higher pay and better career perspectives have predominantly remained the domain of men⁴ (e.g. Kanter, 1977; Adler and Izraeli, 1994). Jobs and hierarchies are thus intertwined, fundamentally gendered concepts.

The way in which stereotypically female and male jobs have evolved is to a large part based on the separation between the 'public sphere' of work and the 'private sphere' of the home, and the assumption that women have the predominant responsibility for the organization of domestic life and social reproduction. In an account of the exclusion of women from higher levels of academic hierarchies in the US, Martin (1994) presents an example (among

_

Those who have 'made it' to the upper echelons of organizations are the focus of specific women-in-management literature. W.I.M. is often associated with 'liberal feminist' theory which has been criticized, for example, for its positivist epistemological position (see e.g. Calas and Smircich, 1996). The central focus has been the pursuit of sexual equity or gender justice (ibid.). A popular theme has recently been 'difference', i.e. what is special about women that makes them good managers.

many) of how institutionalized rules and practices which are constituted by, and further contribute to, the separation of the 'public' and the 'private'. The tenure clock is apparently gender-neutral, yet effectively segregating: "in the USA, at the end of the sixth or seventh year, most faculty face an 'up or out' review for tenure. ... [T]his rule places women faculty who want to bear children at a disadvantage, as they must amass a teaching and research record sufficient for tenure at the same time that health concerns mandate they bear their children" (ibid: 409). Similarly, Heintz and Nadei (1998) maintain that whereas before men and women were separated through mechanisms controlling access to the public sphere, segregation according to gender now becomes reproduced more actively - and reinforced symbolically - via indirect, contextualized and often apparently gender neutral rules (e.g. working time arrangements). Thus, gender differences are no longer maintained to the same extent as before by 'macro level' societal institutions. Rather, the reproduction of segregation becomes dependent on specific organizational conditions and on the interests and social identities of the actors involved. (Ibid)

The gendered division of jobs has been identified as one of the cornerstones of power differentials between women and men in organizations (Acker and Van Houten, 1974; Collinson et al, 1990). An essential part of the gendering of jobs is that they become attached to a particular symbolism which consists of meanings and understandings involving gendered connotations (Alvesson and Due Billing, 1992). These are related to, but not fully determined by, numerical sex proportion. This symbolism - which is in part subconscious and difficult to articulate - becomes particularly evident in notions of what is considered by organizational actors as appropriate and desirable qualifications, skills and traits for recruitment and promotion to various positions.

The way in which organizational hierarchies have been constructed is itself deeply ingrained in the dominant concept of heterosexual, middle-class white masculinity (cf. Collinson and Hearn, 1996). Organizational authority and individual success have become intrinsically connected to upward mobility (see also Kanter, 1977: 131 on "be promoted or perish"), a male career pattern which can often be established and maintained only because a large majority of (female) co-workers are excluded from promotion. Crompton and Sanderson (1986), among others, have highlighted how gender specific definitions of credentials and formal qualifications have been used in order to maintain the exclusion of 'unpromotable' women from moving up the hierarchy. Furthermore, hierarchies are constructed on the assumption that those without responsibilities for caring for others outside work are naturally more suited to responsibility and authority (cf. Acker, 1990). Since the development of power in bureaucratic organizations typically parallels the development of careers, organizational hierarchies contribute to what Ragins and Sundstrom (1989) have described as

gendered paths to power in organizations. Disparities in numbers and power, together with other structural causes of inequality within organizations, contribute to gender specific opportunity structures (cf. Kanter, 1977).

The gendered nature of jobs and hierarchies, however, is not a static phenomenon but constantly reproduced by social practices. Thus, it can also be subject to contestation and change (Connell, 1987). Historically, changes in gender composition and segregation have been mainly analyzed at the level of industries, occupations and professions (cf. Millward and Woodland, 1995; Willms-Herget, 1985). Among the factors which have been discussed as contributing to the increased access of women into previously male dominated occupations are women's increased educational attainment and/or changing social norms relating to work and family roles (as well as economic needs of families for double earning). However, feminization has often gone hand in hand with a deterioration of working conditions, income and status of the occupation or profession in question (cf. Reskin and Roos, 1990). So far, little indepth analysis has been carried out at the level of the organization in order to identify processes through which organizational actors contribute to changes in gender composition of occupational groupings at the aggregate level (for exceptions, see e.g. Crompton and Sanderson, 1990; Acker, 1990, 1992, 1994).

Joan Acker (1990; 1992; 1994) identifies four ways by which persistent structuring along gender lines is reproduced within organizations. These four ways are "components of the same reality, although, for purposes of description, they can be seen as analytically distinct" (Acker, 1992: 252). They serve as different points of entry to the identification of gendered practices and processes, into the ongoing flow of actions and interactions. Acker's inventory of gendered processes distinguishes between a) the production of gender divisions through 'ordinary' procedures and decisions; b) the creation of symbols, images, and forms of consciousness that portray and give legitimacy to the divisions; c) the multitude of interactions that occur between individuals, enacting dominance and subordination; and d) the gendered social constructions of reality that form in the minds of individuals, for example, in terms of adequate performing in the organization.

There is a timely need to examine the role of organizational reforms in redefining and reshaping jobs and hierarchies within organizations. It has been suggested that jobs are even more sex-segregated than occupations (Rosenfeld and Spenner, 1992). In as far as the redefinition relates to the task profile, skill requirements, power and status of specific jobs and positions, it is also likely to have implications for the gendered connotations attached to them. Thereby, it is a question of gender segregation and its sustenance, reproduc-

tion and change (see e.g. Acker, 1994), not only of sex segregation, i.e. the distribution of men and women into different tasks and positions.

In the empirical chapters of this paper, we build on the processes specified by Acker (1990, 1992, 1994) to explicate the gendered subtext underlying organizational reforms. We want to underline both a focus on the more or less conscious 'use' of gender divisions by top managers⁵ and on gendered perceptions, behaviour and relationships of men and women at lower levels of the hierarchy, developing their own dynamics independent of the formal top-down procedure. Thereby, it seems also necessary to distinguish between different groups (or cohorts) of men and women, and to be sensitive to the variations, contradictions and ambiguities in gender relations and symbolism prevalent in different units and at different levels of organizations (see e.g. Alvesson and Due Billing, 1992).

Organizational reforms create (gendered) demands for workforce. The redefinition and reallocation of jobs and hierarchies in reforms carries the potential of creating a mismatch with the current holders of organizational positions. This mismatch may lead to eventual adaptation to changed work roles and requirements, but it can also result in defensive contesting of redefinitions and/or unintended job mobility of preferred employees. Redefined jobs (and thereby hierarchies) become filled with new individuals selected along redefined criteria of appropriateness and desirability. The way this demand becomes satisfied depends - among other things - on the (gendered) supply of available workforce within the organization and in the labour market in general.

Finally, it is important to note that delayering and downsizing have been among key catchwords of organizational 'transformations' in the 1980s and 1990s. Reforms have involved substantial shedding of managerial and non-managerial workforce. On the one hand, it has been maintained that women in management are particularly vulnerable in organizational reforms connected to downsizing. Woodall et al (1997), for example, have argued that such restructuring is likely to disadvantage women managers who typically make their careers by 'functional chimneys', are less well represented than men in informal networks and less often assigned special key tasks in the reform process. On the other hand, it has been argued that specific forms of restructuring, even

As precipitating factors for feminization of managerial ranks, evidence has been found for reclassification, i.e. retitling, of positions as well as dissemination of managerial titles, i.e. title-inflation (cf. Miller, 1980). Women on the move are more likely to get more pay than more authority (Jacobs, 1992). Savage (1992: 146), for example, maintains that in banking, women keep moving into areas where "they may be able to exercise high levels of skill and expertise but have little effective organizational discretion".

with reductive elements, in fact promote feminization of certain middle management positions, albeit as a spin-off reflection of a development that reproduces gender segregation in new forms (Tienari, forthcoming; see also Bird, 1990). Both arguments remain to be elaborated on from the demand and supply perspective.

In sum, the feminist theories discussed raise our awareness for distinguishing between (numerical) feminization and (social) gendering of jobs and hierarchies. The research points at the crucial importance of how everyday experience is constructed. The aim is to make visible the informal and 'invisible' ways - practices of organizing, symbols and ideologies, social interactions etc. - by which structuring along gender lines is produced and reproduced within particular organizations.

Authors from the early beginnings of feminist organizational theory have, however, also underlined the importance of extraorganizational influences, arguing that "women's position in any organization is inseparable from women's position in society" (Wolff 1977: 20). In general, the gendered substructure of organizations is located in practices relating to and assumptions about the extraorganizational reproduction of its members in society in general (see e.g. Acker, 1994). More specifically, gender relations in society penetrate and interlink with processes at the organizational level, also in times of implementing reform. In order to base our research on a detailed theoretical consideration of these extraorganizational influences, to complement the debates above, we now briefly turn to a discourse which has to a large extent developed in the field of comparative employment and labour market studies.

2.3. Cross-National Comparative Analyses of Gender Relations and Employment

In recent years, an increasing number of comparative studies has highlighted cross-national similarities and differences in the labour market position of women relative to men. Among the main issues studied in this literature are the institutional and normative influences on the degree and forms of women's and men's labour force participation, and the gendered division of labour along the lines of sectoral, occupational and vertical segregation (for reviews, see e.g. Duncan, 1998; Fagan and O'Reilly, 1998). It has been suggested that the cross-national variability in women's and men's economic and social position should be understood as a historical product, shaped by national institutions, societal structures as well as norms and values. These societal factors influence what comes to be considered as appropriate representation of women

and men in the public and private sphere (i.e. work and family life), what becomes considered as legitimate qualifications for specific jobs and what constitutes relationships of subordination and equality between the sexes.

Fagan and O'Reilly (1998) distinguish between two institutional approaches to cross-national employment research; societal employment systems and gender systems. Both assist in defining and operationalizing abstract notions of 'national culture'. Criticism has been extended to the often static nature of the analysis in both approaches, and recent contributions have especially attempted to account for 'change'. (Ibid)

On the one hand, the societal employment systems literature is informed by Maurice et al's (1986) work on the 'societal effect', identifying the way crossnational variety of organizational forms and practices is closely "bound to institutionalized human resources (education, training, work careers), social stratification and industrial relations" (Sorge, 1991: 162). Simply put, nationally distinct institutional systems are seen to influence the organization of work at the level of the firm. Unique configurations are the outcome. Whereas the societal effect approach highlights the importance of the educational system in shaping the relations between skill attainment and the organization of workplace hierarchy, recent criticisms of the (predominantly gender-blind) societal employment systems approach have underlined that other societal 'variables' such as welfare state system, state policy, family models are equally important to the understanding of societal patterns of gendered organizing (cf. O'Reilly, 1998). The main consideration here has been on understanding how gendered labour market divisions are developed and maintained through the action of employers, organized labour and the intervention of the state. Within this tradition, Rubery (1988) has argued for a framework that, in order to account for cross-national differences in the position of women, incorporates the interrelatedness of the system of industrial, labour market and family organization, and the role of the society's political and social values in maintaining these relationships. Institutional structures to be incorporated in the analysis include the organization and industrial structure of the production system, labour market conditions and regulations, the training and education system, and dominant social attitudes and values, including those concerned with gender roles (Rubery and Fagan, 1995; Fagan and O'Reilly, 1998).

On the other hand, recent *gender systems literature* has more directly addressed the social reproduction of gender roles. Feminist debates around the welfare state, starting from a critique of Esping-Anderson's (1990) 'Three Worlds of Welfare Capitalism', have busted in a variety of gradually different classification systems of welfare states in relations to gender relations (cf. Duncan, 1998). These classifications, however, tend to remain at a rather

normative and abstract level. Crompton and Harris (1997: 196) argue that an "expanded version of the 'welfare state modelling' approach" which incorporates not only welfare state regimes, but also gender equality policies and the encouragement and support given to women as mothers has the capacity to develop a sufficiently detailed and dynamic account of national variations in gender relations and gender role attitudes. Their results coincide with Lane's (1995) earlier work which points at important differences in how women's employment opportunities are effected by laissez-faire or interventionist ideology of the state towards family and employment policy.

Pfau-Effinger (1998) has argued that an analysis of gender regimes in labour markets should also take into consideration gendered cultures, e.g. ideologies, norms and values which are underlying the various state policies and the behaviour of social actors. Referring to Connell's (1987) dynamic conceptualization of gender order (and regime), both Lane and Pfau-Effinger have attempted to show how the division of labour, power relations and emotionally charged social relations become constituent structures that affect women's labour market participation and employment status. Gender regimes at the level of the society, then, are a result of "negotiations between actors relating to the gender culture and institutions within the gender order" (Pfau-Effinger 1998: 178).

The societal effect and the gender systems approaches may be fruitfully combined, and applied to the comparative study of gender relations at work and to the ways in which gender becomes ingrained in organizational structures and practices. Following O'Reilly (1998: 19), the societal effect approach "can be applied to examining gender relations to allow us to identify national specifities in women's employment that are materially rooted in institutional arrangements". It is particularly useful in explaining employers' labour choices in terms of the societal context of the education and training system, the role of industrial relations and the organization of business. "However, the societal approach was effectively blind to the socialization institutions related to the sphere of social reproduction which could identify differences in the availability of female labor and the ideology of gender roles" (ibid). These aspects may be complemented based on research originating from the gender regime perspective. However, some reservations need to be made.

Recent research points to the need to take into account existing variability within national systems. For example, the concepts of organizational fields (or sectors) as mediating structures between the societal and the organizational gender regime need to be developed. In their cross-national study of biographies of female bank managers and medical doctors, Crompton and

Harris (1998) present the occupational structure and associated employment experiences as an important institutional filter through which "macro level social and economic changes" impact upon interpersonal relationships. They found that occupational structure and employment experience contribute substantially to the systematic variations in family building, and in the domestic division of labour, between female bankers and doctors. With respect to the banking business, Crompton and Harris (1998) highlight the rapidity of organizational change in general and change in the content of managerial jobs in particular. Consequently, women in bank management have not "been able to contemplate long-term forward planning of their employment and family careers" (ibid: 306). They have tended to be reflexive to the "constant flux of organizational realities" and adopted a "more gender egalitarian division of labour" at home (ibid: 307, 311). One implication of Crompton and Harris' (1998) findings is striking; variation between occupations seems to outplay cross-national differences with respect to coping with the employment/family interface. It seems that female bank managers have typically been either forced to choose between employment career and, for example, having children - or, in order to have both, to construct individual solutions within the 'private sphere'.

In addition to the distinct ways in which gender relations become institutionalized in societies, organizational fields/sectors or occupations, "enduring regional and local cultures of gender and work" call for examination (Duncan 1998: 216). The emphasis upon differences in gender relations should also be viewed in parallel to the existence of fundamental commonalities. This is emphasized in, for example, Crompton and Le Feuvre (1992). They found that despite aggregate level differences in the employment patterns and careers of women in France and Great Britain, at the level of the organization women's experiences and attitudes were significantly similar. "Gender may not be a universal concept, but the experiences of individual women nevertheless demonstrate important continuities" (ibid: 114; see also Crompton and Harris, 1997). The commonality may well be the active construction of differences, and should not be confused with the universalism inherent in the managerialist notions of organizational change and transformation.

In sum, cross-national comparative analyses of gender relations and employment enable us to identify specific gender regimes within different societies and fields emerging at particular times. We indicated earlier that women in business firms in Western societies come into contact with ostensibly gender-neutral structures and practices, the effects of which on their everyday experience and personal career unfolding cannot be directly derived from national, regional or local gender profiles, orders, regimes, contracts, cultures or arrangements (for the concepts, see e.g. O'Reilly and Fagan, 1998). How-

ever, cross-national comparative analyses highlight important institutional features and gendered patterns of social relationships which penetrate firms, but cannot be revealed through firm-specific research alone. Both sides must be included in the analysis.

The employment/family interface is an adequate example of where elaborations within cross-national comparative analyses have been particularly valuable. Women are forced to satisfice, juggle or balance between work and family, depending on norms that vary between societies (cf. Chafetz and Hagan, 1996; Jacobson, 1991). Pfau-Effinger (1998), for example, demonstrates how dominant societal norms and values about motherhood and the family affect the mechanisms which facilitate women's representation in the labour market. Similar mechanisms may operate in the gendering of organizational reforms, not least in terms of 'gendered demands' and what comes to be considered the adequate 'female supply'.

In the light of the discussion in this chapter, three basic types of explanations can be traced for the links between organizational reform, feminization and gender: *individual skills and credentials*, *gendered demands and the female supply*, and *gender (re)segregation* in terms of jobs and hierarchies. Before presenting an in-depth analysis of such links, we will outline the societal and sectoral location of the firms compared.

3. SOCIETAL AND SECTORAL EMBEDDEDNESS OF ORGANIZATIONAL REFORM: FINLAND AND GERMANY COMPARED

3.1. Gendered Labour Market Regimes

Why Finland and Germany? Because they appear very different. In recent years, an increasing number of comparative studies has highlighted cross-national similarities and differences in the labour market position of women relative to men. It has been suggested that the cross-national variability in women's and men's economic and social position should be understood as a historical product, shaped by national institutions, societal structures as well as norms and values. These societal factors influence what is considered appropriate representation of women and men in the public and private sphere, work and family life, as well as what constitutes relationships of subordination and

equality between both sexes. In this section, we outline some of the most salient differences in the overall institutional framework and state policy of Germany and Finland, and show how they have impacted on gender relations and women's position in the labour market. Following Crompton and Harris (1997) we differentiate between 1. welfare state policies, 2. state support for mothers of small children, and 3. equal opportunities policies⁶.

Firstly, it has been argued that gender differences were built in to the structuring of welfare states from the very beginning (Pateman, 1989). The extent and the forms in which this took place, however, differ considerably between Germany and Finland. The 'Bismarckian welfare state regime' (Duncan 1998) was built around the idea that the provision of social benefits should be organized around the principle of insurance which reflects and reproduces existing status hierarchies in society, including the gendered division of labour between men and women. It was thus taken for granted that men would earn the family's income through employment and that therefore, married women staying at home and caring for children, did not need individual entitlements to social security. Assumptions about the 'male breadwinner family' were also built in when the West German welfare state was reconstructed after the Second World War on conservative-corporatist principles. "Capital and labour, civil servants, white or blue collar workers as well as men and women are perceived as having distinct status or closed social relationships ... difference comes before equality" (Ostner, 1994: 36). As Pfau-Effinger and Geissler (1992) have shown, German welfare state regulations offer only few incentives for an egalitarian family model.

In Finland, the beginnings of a modern welfare state emerged when the country was still largely an agrarian society. According to Pfau-Effinger (1996: 480) large women's organizations were considerably involved in developing state policies towards the support and social security of farming families, and particularly women. This has also to be seen against the background that women in Finland obtained political rights more than a decade earlier than in Germany. In fact, they were the first in Europe to do so in 1906 (compared to 1919 in Germany). In contrast to the Bismarckian model, the Finnish welfare state is oriented towards redistribution and equalizing social differences. It was, at least from the 1940s onwards (Keinänen, 1994), universalistic, and all citizens were entitled to a relatively high level of state-provided social support. The underlying agrarian gender role model - both sexes contributing through work to the family economy - was transformed into an egalitarian-individualistic model, based on the idea of men and women as individual breadwinners, when

In this paper we focus on the gendered legacy of the former Federal Republic of Germany. For differences between the gender systems of the FRG and the GDR, see e.g. Duncan (1998).

Finland underwent a rapid transition from an agrarian into a modern service economy in the 1950s and 1960s.

In general, employment policy in Finland has been based on the idea of social cohesion and integration of a small and homogeneous nation. The state has played an important role in both buffering the social outcomes of cyclical economic developments in the private sector, which is very vulnerable to external pressures, as well as creating jobs in the public sector through the expansion of social services.

Secondly, different approaches of state policy towards gender relations are also visible in the support which is provided for mothers of small children in the two countries. In recent decades, German state policy on family and reproduction has been rather conservative in the sense that it sustained a gender ideology with a strong emphasis on women's duties as housewives and mothers. This is not only expressed in tax and social security legislation which make it financially worthwhile for married women (whose husbands have a reasonable income) to stay at home or to switch to marginal part-time jobs when they have small children (Quack 1993). Child care provision, at least in the Western Länder of Germany, is also not designed to free women for employment; there is very little provision for under-threes, and the short duration of daily provision of child care for the 3-6 years-old make sometimes even part-time work difficult to organize (the coverage and time periods of provision are still more generous in the Länder of the former East Germany despite cuts in public spending and a dramatic decline of birth rates). School is organized on a half-day basis and out-of-school care is available in West Germany for only 5% of school children - compared, however, to 88% in East Germany (Lane 1995; Rubery et al, 1998). This renders employment often difficult even with primary school age children. There have been, however, some improvements during recent years. In return for maintaining a restrictive abortion law, the parliament has passed a law which renders full-coverage of care provision for the 3-6 years old obligatory from the beginning of 1998 onwards. In 1993, statutory parental leave (following a maternity leave of 70 weekdays) was extended from one to three years with a flat-rate compensation equaling to approximately 22% of an average manual wage (Rubery et al, 1998). This reform gives mothers (or fathers) an extended right to retain their employment contract for a longer period. It has been argued, however, that the extension of parental leave as a substitute rather than a complement for child care services has led to an institutionalization of interrupted women's employment careers (ibid.)

In Finland, in contrast, various state policies are directed at support for working mothers, and taxation and social security regulation treats women and men as individuals. The broad provision of child care facilities enables a

balancing of motherhood and continuous employment career for Finnish women (cf. Jacobson, 1991). The balancing is, however, based on an ability to organize family-specific solutions.

Since 1990, all Finnish children under 3 have been entitled to municipal day care. Mothers are at present entitled to a maternity leave of 105 weekdays (with a coverage of appr. two-thirds of monthly income), while fathers can simultaneously take paternity leave of up to 12 weekdays. Subsequently, one of the parents is entitled to care leave of 158 weekdays (same coverage). After the 263 weekdays of leave, and until the child turns three, the parents are able to choose between a state provided place for the child at a municipal day care center or support for child care at home (a tax free sum of approximately FIM 1500 per month). In contrast to Germany, Finnish state policy is clearly directed at providing the necessary support for women to continue employment during child rearing periods, and full-time employment of mothers is considered the norm. It must be pointed out, however, that it has been argued that "family policy issues were created more with families and children in mind than to support female careers" (Aaltio-Marjosola and Jacobson, 1998).

Thirdly, equal opportunity policies are another field in which the contrasting approaches of the German and Finnish states to gender relations can be demonstrated. In Germany, equal opportunities has never been a significant issue on the political agenda. Even though the proportion of women elected to the Bundestag is increasing, women are still in a minority in the political arena. European directives on equal opportunities legislation were first strongly opposed and then half-heartedly implemented by the Federal government. Since the mid-1990s, however, equal opportunities legislation has been introduced in the civil service at the Federal and Länder level, which requires plans for equal opportunities and affirmative action. It is indicative that the possibility of positive discrimination led several male job applicants to bring their case to the European Court where some of the legislation was rejected as problematic.

Finland has frequently appeared in cross-national comparisons as the 'laboratory of equality', together with the other Nordic countries, relying on an idea of equality that takes into account individual differences between human beings (Ostner, 1994). Among other things, this is reflected by a relatively equal representation of women in the political arena. Recently, almost half of the ministers in national governments have been women. In general, there is a highly developed sensibility on equality issues in Finland, which is reflected in strong equal opportunities legislation. According to the 1987 Equality Law, public authorities and private employers have to actively promote gender equality. In the 1995 reform of this law it was laid down that employers (public and private) with more than 30 employees have to take measures to promote

equality between women and men in the work place, which might also include positive discrimination in order to achieve a higher representation of women in decision-making bodies. This legislation has shown some positive outcomes in the public sector, but the private sector has so far been barely affected.

In sum, German and Finnish societies represent contrasting cases with regard to their welfare state regimes, state support for mothers, as well as equal opportunities agendas. In Germany, state policy provides few incentives for continuous integration of women into the labour market. In fact, state policy is still strongly oriented towards a family model in which women are primarily assigned the role of carers. At the same time, the reproduction of status hierarchies overrides equality concerns in German society. In Finland, in contrast, state policy has a long-standing focus on the double earner family in which women combine continuous employment with caring for children, and equal opportunities rank - at least in terms of political and cultural discourse - higher on the political agenda. The gender profile, resulting from the Finnish gender regime at state level, is thus much more straight forward in offering a socially accepted model of balancing work and family, whereas in Germany it remains much more ambiguous and subjects women to conflicting pressures (see also Lane, 1995: 15).

How have these state policies then affected the position of women and men in the labour market? The most significant differences can be seen in the degree and forms of female labour force participation. In both countries, the number of women entering the labour market has increased considerably since the 1960s. In 1990, however, 73% of Finnish women compared to only 56% of German women aged 15-64 years were active in the labour market. The gap between the countries has barely changed since the 1960s (Pfau-Effinger 1996: 472). These differences are particularly pronounced at the lower and intermediary qualification level, whereas participation rates of women with academic degrees are rather similar; in 1992, 89% in Finland compared to 82% in Germany (OECD, 1997).

The labour force participation of women with children clearly reflects the different institutional and societal context outlined above. In Finland 73% of women with children under 7 years were active in the labour force (data referring to 1993 in Statistics Finland, 1996), whereas in Germany this was the case for slightly less than every second woman with children in this age group (data based on 1990 in European Union, 1992). Child care as a primary activity decreases by approximately 50 percent for Finnish women at the end of the maternity and care leave period as a large proportion return to full-time work. In Germany, however, despite a continuous increase in the labour force participation of young mothers, only one out of two women return to work after the 3-

years parental leave expires. Longer employment breaks in Germany are often connected with disadvantages in terms of women's professional advancement. In many cases, the jobs which women take up after their return are below the qualification level which they occupied before their leave. One reason among many is that many women returnees take up part-time work (Quack, 1993). In 1990, about one-third of female employees in German were working part-time compared to only 10% in Finland (Pfau-Effinger, 1998). Studies of the orientations of younger women in Germany, indicate, however, that the majority of them would prefer to combine motherhood and work (Geissler and Oechsle, 1990) if the institutional context would allow them to do so. As Baumeister (1994: 110) argues "(T)here are indications that the practices of institutions in the educational and employment system are based on specific normality assumptions regarding the employment of women which evidently adjust to changing reality with a certain time lag".

In Finland and Germany, horizontal and vertical segregation of the labour market is pronounced. Women are overrepresented in the services, and underrepresented in manufacturing occupations. They are also overrepresented at the lower end of occupational and organizational hierarchies. Interesting differences can nevertheless be observed which can be related to the institutional framework. Firstly, *occupational segregation* (measured on the basis of a 2-digit classification) is somewhat higher in Finland than in Germany. Whereas in 1980, 68% of gainfully employed women in Germany were working in female occupations (employing 60 or more percent of women), this was the case for 79% of gainfully employed women in Finland (Quack et al, 1992; Nummenmaa,1994). No recent data are available on a comparative basis, but time series for the individual countries indicate that little change has occurred since then. As Ostner (1994) points out, women's paid work has "never interfered with men's jobs and spheres in the Nordic countries" (ibid: 33).

Horizontal segregation between sectors and occupations remains sharp in Finland. The state has played a central role in providing service jobs for women, particularly in public caring institutions - usually highly feminized occupations. Accordingly, gender segregation between the public and private sectors is much more pronounced in Finland than in Germany. In 1995, 42% of female and 19% of male employees in Finland were working in the public service. In Germany, the public sector accounted for only 19% of the female employees and 13% of the male employees (Statistics Finland, 1996; Breidenstein, 1997). The higher degree of women's labour force participation in Finland compared to Germany can thus be attributed to a large extent to the expansion of public sector employment. It has not affected the private sector to the same extent in which women accounted in 1995 for approximately 40% of employees in both countries.

Given the relatively strong focus of Finnish society on equality, one might expect that this should have contributed to a more balanced gender distribution in higher level occupational and organizational positions. In fact, available studies show that the proportion of women among managers and higher level public servants is higher in Finland than in Germany. In the public sector, Finnish women represent 41% of higher level civil servants (Kolehmainen, 1995; cited in Pfau-Effinger, 1996) compared to 28% in Germany (Breidenstein, 1997). Again, the relative progress which Finnish women have made in recent decades seems to be largely confined to public sector employment. The private sector remains *vertically segregated*; women are predominantly concentrated at lower levels of organizations. The Nordic Council (1996) found that one out of five managers in private sector firms was a woman, but that in the largest firms the proportion was somewhat lower (12%) and that at the very top, only 2% of the CEOs and managing directors were women.

Figures for Germany, even though not directly comparable, suggest that there are even fewer women in private sector management than in Finland. According to Hadler and Domsch (1994), in 1990-1991 women represented 6% of the managers in private sector companies, and only 3% in the largest business undertakings. The number of female managers at the very top is extremely small; Quack (1997) found only 0.5% female CEOs and managing directors (or the equivalent) in Germany.

Another indication of persisting strong gender hierarchies is the *wage gap*. In Finland, despite the equal pay legislation implemented in 1987, the wage gap continues to be the largest in the Nordic countries. In 1986, for example, the wages of female Finnish manual workers in manufacturing amounted to 77% of their male colleagues, a gap that was only insignificantly smaller than the German ratio of 73% (Keinänen, 1994). In sum, the private sector seems to display less country-specific differences than the public sector.

The persisting gender inequalities in the labour market cannot - at least in Finland - be attributed to a lack of women's education and training. The Finnish women's movement has, as Julkunen and Rantalaiho (1990) state, "maybe more than anywhere else ... used the strategies of professionalization in fighting for recognition of women's work" (cited in Keinänen, 1994: 173). The educational level of Finnish women and men is at present approximately the same; in younger generations the level is slightly higher among women. In principle, the Finnish educational system is relatively straight-forward. There is nine-year compulsory education in a comprehensive school. Approximately a half of the pupils continue in the upper secondary school (i.e. high school), which is completed after three years through a matriculation examination (i.e. A-levels). There are then entrance examinations for academic education. The

competition is intense, especially in fields which potentially lead to high status and / or well paid positions in the labor market (e.g. business, law, medicine). On average, 12-14 percent of each age group in Finland continue their studies at university level. The proportion of women in higher education is slightly over 50 percent. At the crossroads after both the comprehensive school and the upper secondary school there are possibilities for vocational education. There is, however, no equivalent for the German dual system. An academic degree is typically a crucial entry port into the upper echelons of business firms and governmental institutions.

In Germany, in contrast, the education and training system is more strongly gender segregated. The dominant type of training leading to jobs at the intermediary skill level is an apprenticeship in the dual system. Approximately twothirds of each age cohort enter such an apprenticeship in Germany. The dual system is based on corporatist collaboration between employers, unions and government at the national and local level. "Training includes a strong practical component of on-the-job training which is closely related to theoretical instruction at public vocational schools. Examinations at the end of the apprenticeship provide state recognized certificates" (Quack et al, 1995: 11). Despite equal, and partly even better results in school examinations, young women are still underrepresented in the apprenticeship system and highly concentrated in training for a few occupations. In contrast, women are overrepresented in purely school-organized forms of training - often viewed as second-class training with poorer prospects on the labor market (Baumeister, 1994) or leading into highly feminized occupations such as nursing and kindergarten teaching. As Quack et al (1992) have shown, occupational segregation in the German labor market has a strong basis in the differentiated occupational training system. Furthermore, young women are still underrepresented in the university system - even though their proportion is continuously rising. In 1993, women represented 40% of the students and 39% of the graduates at German universities.

In sum, in Finland the institutional context supports continuous full-time employment and equality has a relatively high standing on the political agenda. Equal opportunity has been successfully put into practice in the educational system, and to some extent, in the public sector where the majority of employees are women. In Germany, the institutional context and state policy on the surface promote the picture of 'individual choice' between work and family, but when it comes down to what the state really provides in terms of welfare state regulations and support there are strong incentives for women to stay at home during periods of child rearing. This creates 'moral dilemmas' (cf. Pfau-Effinger, 1998) for the younger generation of women that wants to combine motherhood and employment. Furthermore, status hierarchies are more readily accepted in

Germany and equal opportunity is not ranked very high in the political and cultural discourse.

Besides the overall differences between Finland and Germany, however, there appear to be similarities with regard to a stronger persistence of gender inequalities in professional position and income in the private sector, indicating that at least some of the institutions and state policies described above seem to have a weaker impact in the private than the public sector of the economy. There are thus indications that national gender regimes are more complex than often contended. Even though some similarities are to be expected with regard to how societal factors shape the division of labour between women and men in different economic sectors, considerable differences may also appear.

Sectoral (or occupational) differences in gender relations in work can emerge as result of the historical constellations of state policies, societal norms and labour force activity of men and women. These constellations come into being when sectors come into existence or go through a major expansion or contraction. The relative importance attributed to certain sectors by government industrial policy as well as the collective actors (employer associations and unions) are likely to become reflected in the wage distribution and to attract a different composition of the labour force. Differences in working conditions and working time might render employment in certain sectors more or less attractive for women and men (cf. Crompton and Sanderson, 1986).

An analysis of changes within organizations should therefore not only be embedded in a review of gender relations in the society in general, but also take into account how the gendered division of labour and relations of subordination and equality between women and men have become institutionalized within particular sectors. Moreover, an understanding of the sectoral patterns of gender segregation is a necessary prerequisite for a thorough contextualization of a cross-national comparison of individual case studies. We therefore now turn to a short inspection of developments in the German and Finnish banking sectors.

3.2. Gendered Banking Sectors

Why banks? Because they are the heartland of gendered bureaucracy (cf. Halford and Savage, 1995). On the one hand, banks are archetypal examples of bureaucratic organization. Banks have historically incorporated centralized decision-making structures, i.e. concentrating authority in the upper echelons. Hierarchies have been visible, and the nature of the business seems to have

entailed a high degree of formalized rules and standardization of operations. Banks have been conceptualized as organizations in the heartland of the classic bureaucratic career; vocational and characterized by expectations of step-by-step upward mobility (e.g. Savage, 1992; Halford and Savage, 1995; Witz, 1995).

On the other hand, national financial services industries in Europe are among the most striking recent examples of relatively stable, domestic-centred operating 'environments' transforming into highly complex and dynamic ones. Since the 1970s and 1980s, protective national regulation has been eliminated. Most commonly, these changes are described under the notion of deregulation. Related changes experienced by firms in financial services include globalization of markets and rapid technological advancement. The corrective process to the failure of regulation is often perceived to have been inevitable, and it is expected to result in an outcome of global convergence of the financial system (e.g. Swary and Topf, 1992).

Morgan and Knights (1997) raise two crucial issues that have been over-shadowed in much of the popular and academic discourse in and around deregulation. Firstly, it is not a case of moving from regulation to deregulation. Rather, there has been a reconstitution of the nature of regulation in the national and international contexts of financial services. Secondly, the idea of convergence conceals the fact that national financial systems and their regulatory structures remain distinctive in many respects, maintaining patterns of constraints and incentives that in turn define the interests of the actors and shape and channel their behaviour. The interpenetration and interdependence of the global and the local has to be picked out and unravelled in particular contexts. (Ibid; see also Zysman, 1994).

The financial systems in Finland and Germany have traditionally been predominantly bank- or credit based (cf. Zysman, 1983), dominated by universal banks offering the whole range of services for different customer segments. Banks and industrial firms have also been firmly interlinked in both countries. In Finland, for example, the Union Bank of Finland and Kansallis Banking Group were centerpieces in their own distinct economic power blocs (see e.g. Tainio and Virtanen, 1996). However, whereas the Finnish financial system has since the early 1980s been characterized by deregulation and instability of a formerly state regulated sphere (cf. Tainio et al, 1997), the German system has remained relatively stable during the last decades (cf. Morgan and Quack, forthcoming; see also Morgan and Knights, 1997). Moreover, while the Finnish and German banking sectors both remain gendered, the underpinnings are relatively different. In this section, we outline similarities and differences between the Finnish and German banking sectors in terms of sector structure,

employment, financial performance and bank strategy within the framework of regulation and deregulation. We then go on to compare the overall development of gender relations and women's position within the two sectors (with specific reference to branch banking).

During 1983-1991 in particular, the legal framework for *Finnish* banks was rapidly altered under labels of liberalization and modernization. The most important decisions were taken in 1986-1987. The Finnish financial system shifted towards a capital market -centred model (Tainio et al, 1997; cf. Zysman, 1983). Moreover, in terms of managerial initiatives and responses, Finnish banks seem to have adjusted to the changing regulative conditions rapidly and dramatically (see e.g. Tainio et al, 1991, 1997; Tienari and Tainio, forthcoming; Santalainen and Spencer, 1990; Ropo, 1989; Nyberg and Vihriälä, 1994). A remnant of the regulation era, following the leader was the emergent competitive strategy of Finnish banks entering deregulation (e.g. Ropo, 1989).

Deregulation and changes in the Finnish banks' managerial competitive practices seem to have proceeded hand in hand. Tainio et al (1997) maintain that after 1986 in particular old bank competition, based on regulated pricing and homogeneous products, gave way to new dynamic forms of competition based on more flexible manoeuvring in the loan market. They also argue that changes of the banks' competitive practices in the period of growth were not, in fact, activated by major institutional reforms, but rather by the banks' own initiatives and small-scale experiments with new businesses. The banks altered the nature of competition by engaging in new activities, which were later accentuated by new institutional rules and structures, i.e. deregulation. (Ibid)

The latter part of the 1980s, in particular, was a period of rapid growth in Finland. The economic atmosphere was overwhelmingly opportunistic. The boom was followed by bust. In 1990-1991, Finland plunged into the deepest recession in its history as an independent nation, primarily due to a downturn in the world economy and the collapse of the Soviet Union, an important trading partner. This was reflected in - some would even claim it was partly due to - what has been referred to as the Finnish banking crisis (see e.g. Nyberg and Vihriälä, 1994). Either way, it is illustrative to note that an aggregate pre-tax profit of nearly FIM five billion shown by Finnish deposit banks in 1988 turned into an aggregate loss of over FIM 20 billion in 1992.

The Finnish banking sector has in recent years, as result of a series of mergers and acquisitions, become increasingly dominated by a few commercial banks (see e.g. Nyberg and Vihriälä, 1994). In 1993, the five largest Finnish banks accounted for 74% of the overall balance sheet volume compared to only 17% in 1995 in Germany (BIS, 1996). The two largest and most powerful

Finnish commercial banks, Kansallis Banking Group (henceforth referred to as Kansallis) and the Union Bank of Finland (UBF) announced a merger in February 1995, forming *Merita Bank*. The merger aimed at creating a solid and efficient bank of 'international size' in the post-crisis, pre-EMU operative environment. This manouvre further increased concentration of banking in the domestic Finnish market. In October 1997, Merita Bank announced a merger with Nordbanken (Sweden) under a joint holding company structure. With an equity capital of approximately FIM 27.7 billion, MeritaNordbanken ranked 34th largest in Europe at year-end 1997 (source: Institutional Investor).

Economies of scale attained through an elimination of overlapping operations was a further motive for the Merita merger in 1995-1997. 'Rationalization' through branch amalgamations and staff dismissals has, however, been evident in Finnish banking since the early 1990s. Already during the period 1989-1994, the aggregate number of employees in Finnish deposit banks was reduced from approximately 53,000 to 36,000. By year-end 1996, the figure was down to just over 28,000. The aggregate number of branches decreased from approximately 3,500 in 1989 to just over 1,700 in 1996. (Finnish Bankers Association, 1997) Cost efficiency remains the major concern of Finnish banks, the majority of which have shown profits since 1995-1996. The major Finnish banks also remain among the world's most advanced in automated and electronic banking.

Specific skills accumulated through experience in bank work have not been considered easily transferable to other industries within the Finnish labour market. Moreover, in practice, an unspoken agreement between the major commercial banks in particular prevented recruitment from each other's pools of managers (excluding experts in e.g. investment banking). Life-time employment within one bank was the dominant mode. After the crisis, worsening employment perspectives have run in parallel to recent shifts in the dominant patterns of job mobility in Finnish banking. The underlying reasons are manifold. Banks are no longer able to guarantee safe, lifelong employment. Moreover, the making of Merita blurred established 'cultural' barriers, and the recruitment activities of foreign banks setting up branches and representative offices in Helsinki since mid-1990s in particular have for their part widened the scope of career possibilities for competent bank employees.

In contrast to a visible transformation from regulation to deregulation in Finland, the *German* financial system has already since the 1950s been operating in a fairly 'open' legal and business environment (direct interest rate control by the central government, for example, was removed in 1958). The system has also remained relatively stable in recent decades; legislative changes have not upset its basic characteristic (see e.g. Müller, 1997; Morgan and Quack,

forthcoming) nor has the overall economy gone through a similar major crisis as in Finland.

The German banking sector is subdivided into commercial, savings and cooperative banking groups. The historically existing differentiation between three banking groups has been increasingly blurred since the 1960s. Commercial banks whose traditional activities were in corporate banking and shareholding in large industrial companies discovered the increasing importance of retail banking, while savings and cooperative bank groups which had traditionally been confined to dealing with private customers gradually expanded through their second-tier institutions into corporate finance and investment banking (Quack and Hildebrandt, 1997). In contrast to Finnish concentration, each of the banking groups in Germany hold a considerable part of the overall business volume.

Competition between local savings and cooperative banks and nationally acting commercial banks has so far contributed to the maintenance of rather dense branch networks. The reduction of the aggregate number of employees in the German banking sector has so far been modest; for example, from 220,850 in 1994 to 215,500 in 1997 (Quack 1998). Like in Finland, internal labour markets have been dominant in German banks. There has, however, always been some mobility of employees and managers between smaller banks. More recently, this has extended to younger employees in larger banks who, confronted with limited possibilities for fast progress in their own bank, search for better opportunities with other employers within the sector.

Driving forces for gradual change in German banking since the mid-1980s include market saturation in domestic retail banking, falling profitability in lending business, increasing operating costs, increasing importance of revenues from fee-based business as compensation for decreasing net interest incomes, and changing demand patterns of both private and corporate customers (Oberbeck and d'Alessio, 1997). According to OECD (1997) statistics, the pretax profits of German banks showed a continuous increase from the mid-1980s to mid-1990s. Despite reasonable overall profits, German banks perceive their ratio of returns to costs increasingly as problematic and try to reduce their costs through implementation of new strategies of customer segmentation and automation in retail banking.

There are also differences between the German and Finnish banking sectors in the type of gendered legacies carried. In Germany, banking is a mixed sector with women representing about half of the overall work force. Vertical sex segregation is nevertheless clearly visible. In Finland, banking is a highly feminized sector. The distinction between men's and women's jobs has,

however, manifested itself in Finnish banks by men holding the managerial positions at all hierarchical levels and women occupying the majority of the shop floor clerical jobs. The latter still applies; for example, in Merita in 1996 approximately 97 percent of the bank clerks were women.

In Germany, the expansion of retail banking in the 1960s and 1970s went hand in hand with increasing recruitment of women. The growing need for personnel under the tight labour market conditions of the 1960s, in particular, transformed the gender identity of the sector (Willms-Herget, 1985). By the 1970s, women accounted for 50 percent of the overall labor force compared to approximately one-third in 1950. But most of them were still concentrated in low-skilled routine jobs (Hoffmann, 1987). The shift to the Allfinanz concept (providing all services and products through a personal customer advisor) and rationalization of routine tasks led to a shift in the required skill profile of bank employees. By the mid 1970s, the proportion of women among the apprentice-ship intake of banks had risen to about 50 percent (Figge and Quack, 1990). It was this cohort of well-trained young women which gained for the first time in larger numbers access to skilled positions such as customer advisor, most of them in retail banking. At the same time, professional advancement in German banks has become increasingly dependent on further education.

At the sectoral level, each banking group (i.e. commercial, savings and cooperative) operates institutions of further education - for example, the Bankakademie - which provide courses on general banking and management knowledge for those individual employees who expect to progress in their respective organizations (Quack et al, 1995). The number of bank employees which annually pass further education examinations (as 'Bankwirt') nearly doubled between 1978 and 1987. During the same period, the proportion of women increased from 14% to 30% (Figge and Quack, 1990). By 1996, the number of graduates had tripled and women represented half of the graduates. Since the mid-1980s German banks have also begun to recruit relevant numbers of university graduates which are mainly assigned to expert positions in corporate and investment banking or central staff departments. The proportion of women in academic trainee programs seems to have risen considerably as data from the Commerzbank, one of the large commercial banks, indicate. Whereas in 1980 women represented only 12% of the academic intake, in 1992 the proportion had increased to 43% (Quack, 1998).

Promotion to branch management in German banks, however, typically relies on an apprenticeship followed by working experience in a variety of positions and a further training degree. Until the 1980s, branch manager positions remained in practice out of women's reach. The explanation is that female and male employees are often assigned to rather different jobs after completion of

apprenticeship, that further training takes place outside working hours, and that the main career steps leading to branch management coincide with the biographical phase during which women also have to decide whether they want to have children.

German banks have been rather conservative employers with respect to equal opportunities, justifying that professional advancement is a question of individual qualifications and continuous professional commitment. In reality, however, bank employers have made little effort to make it easier for women to combine careers and family, and women with employment breaks have often had to accept jobs at lower skill levels after their return. To date, the proportion of part-time workers has been comparatively low in banking compared to the overall economy. In 1989, banking employers and unions concluded on collective agreements relating to 'equal opportunities, family and work'. These agreements stipulate that women and men should be treated equally with regard to recruitment and promotion. Furthermore, employees were granted the right to extend their legal parental leave up to 3.5 years (which at the time of the agreement meant an extension of 18 months compared to the legal entitlements). Thus, we find arrangements at the sectoral level which reinforce the institutionalisation of career breaks observed in the society in general.

A strange paradox has been prevalent in Finnish banking. On the one hand, because the major banks assumed a lot of power and authority within the society, they were considered relatively high status employers until the crisis of the early 1990s. Throughout the regulation era, bank management carried a conservative, masculine image. Because loans, for example, were in continuous excess demand, even branch managers down the line were perceived as important decision makers. On the other hand, the female-dominated clerical jobs in Finnish banks - although located within the overall umbrella of prestige - were low-paying and without genuine upward career prospects.

Sex segregation in Finnish banks seems to have been grounded in gendered entry modes. Traditionally, branch manager positions have been reached through one of two parallel avenues. Firstly, by men with academic degrees, joining the bank directly at assistant manager (or even manager) level after a brief period of 'managerial apprenticeship' (bank-internal practical management training), typically at the age of 25-29. Secondly, since the expansion of the Finnish banks' branch networks in the 1960s and 1970s in particular, by men with commercial college diplomas entering the bank at 21-23 years of age, showing practical initiative and taking a somewhat slower internal route via credit officer and supervisory positions in the branches. Only a handful of women made it into branch management in Finnish commercial banks before the 1980s.

Simultaneously, women were continuously recruited for clerical jobs. Formal apprenticeship systems for bank clerk jobs have been virtually non-existent in Finnish banking. Moreover, the emphasis has been on on-the-job training over theoretical instruction. Vocational training was organized individually by each bank, in the form of courses in special internal training centers. Continuous participation has typically been voluntary, but crucial in order to move up the job ladder. For women, this would typically entail ending up on advisory or (often 'unofficial') supervisory positions on the shop floor.

It may be then hypothesized that the necessary credentials for entry into branch management became more blurred in Finnish banks in the 1970s. There seems to have been, however, differences between the banks. UBF, for example, considered an academic degree as a credential for branch manager positions to a larger extent than Kansallis. Most importantly, up until the early 1980s, it still seemed legitimate in Finnish banking to solve a potential shortage of university graduates by lowering the necessary credentials for male applicants - instead of recruiting female university graduates who were entering the labour market in larger numbers.

It seems only to have been from the mid-1980s onwards that the Finnish banking sector recruited a more balanced proportion of women among their academic intake. However, during the period of crisis (1991-1994), most banks in practice suspended their academic trainee programs completely. In Merita, this continued in 1995-1996. It is also important to point out that internal boundaries within banks have been - and still are - significant in moulding the unfolding of individual careers. The initial choice was between a 'field' (domestic service network) career or a head office career. It was then extremely difficult to oscillate between the two. In this sense, a 'double dual' career system, available mostly for men, has been dominant in Finnish banking. An academic degree is still a crucial prerequisite for reaching the upper echelons of Finnish bank organizations.

In sum, German and Finnish banking are examples of how gendered divisions of work become established through shared structures and practices within organizations considering themselves as part of particular fields/sectors. In Germany, similarities within the field of banking seem to become institutionalized to a relatively large extent through corporatist cooperation of banks setting up, for example, joint training institutions. Finnish banks are used to operating more individualistically, but their practices have through time been linked to each other by a tendency to follow the strategies and practices of sectoral leaders. Whereas in Finland, clerical positions in banks are highly feminized and not considered 'desirable' jobs for men, in Germany only low skilled jobs are feminized to the same extent. Clerical positions at intermediary

skill level such as customer advisor are mixed jobs, equally attractive to women and men who have completed a bank apprenticeship.

In both countries, managerial jobs have traditionally been kept out of women's reach. The mechanisms which have contributed to this outcome, however, seem to be different. In Germany, the majority of bank employees complete an apprenticeship. It is only after this introductory period that the careers of men and women start to diverge. Generally speaking, this seems to result from gender specific jobs assignments and differential support of superiors for professional advancement. Gender hierarchies have been further reinforced by the fact that professional career building in banks coincides with the biographical period of child birth and rearing. The pressures and dilemmas of women aiming to combine the two in Germany - a 'Bismarckian status hierarchy' - are likely to result in employment interruptions and further disadvantages for career development. This vicious circle is likely to be hard to break.

In Finland, the traditional dual system of recruitment in banks in effect put women and men on separate career tracks. Along with the recent, gradual increase in the number of women with academic degrees, the clear-cut conservative segregation lines within Finnish banks are likely to have become more ambiguous. As this development is embedded in Finnish society, which should in principle both respect and offer possibilities for continuous employment careers (i.e. with short breaks for child birth and rearing), the emerging picture ought to be more encouraging for women's entry into managerial positions.

In chapters five and six, we provide an in-depth analysis of links between organizational reforms and feminization (and gendering) of a particular managerial position in a Finnish and a German bank. These chapters are each divided into a (within-case) descriptive and an explanatory section. The universalities and particularities in structures and practices - societal and sectoral - discussed above are woven in each case. Similarities and differences become disentangled in the conclusions chapter, when the cases are compared. Next, we outline the methodological underpinnings for the study.

4. METHODOLOGY AND DATA

In order to explore the richness and complexities of a temporal phenomenon, we followed an intensive case study research design (Yin, 1989). The research process was iterative, oscillating between theorization and field work. The

emphasis is on qualitative analysis, relying mainly on retrospective interview data from several managerial levels in the case firms. The advantages of an "in-depth, micro-level approach" for a cross-national examination of the operation of gender in bureaucratic organizations are indicated, for example, in Crompton and Le Feuvre (1992). This entails focus on the unfolding of personal histories (or biographies) of employment, inextricably bound with both 'family life' and 'organizational change'.

The primary source of evidence in the present study is self-determining actors' accounts of organizational reality. Individuals were put in the role of telling their version of the story (their subjective experience), in order to reconstruct organizational events in a manner that makes sense to them (e.g. Bryman, 1989). Social actors' commentaries upon their actions - or attempts at purposive action, embedded in concrete, on-going systems of social relations (Granovetter, 1985) - were treated as authentic reports of phenomena, but revisable and subject to empirical criticism (cf. Harre and Secord, 1972). Interview data were constantly compared, and triangulated (e.g. Jick, 1979) with 'real time' archival evidence. Combining various kinds of data is vital in studying organizational change and stability (see Denzin, 1978) which entails gathering of first-hand information about social interaction in an on-going organizational context. We proceeded *from within-case comparisons to comparison across cases*.

The comparison of Finnish and German case banks reported here was initiated as an elaborated replication of an earlier study on female branch managers in Kansallis and the Swedish S-E-Bank during the period 1982-1995 (see Tienari, forthcoming). The German case bank was chosen to match the Finnish part (Kansallis, UBF and Merita) as closely as possible with regard to the phenomenon under examination, i.e. a process of organizational reform with elements of divisionalization, customer segmentation and downsizing (in the face of financial difficulties). The type of business conducted - universal banking with a portfolio ranging from retail banking to corporate finance and investments - is also a characteristic shared by the case banks.

The Finnish part of the study presents empirical evidence from Kansallis and UBF (1982-1995) and from the implementation of the merger between the two banks to form Merita Bank (1995-1997). We present the empirical evidence from the German case during the same period under the pseudonym of BANK (our agreement with the bank regrettably prevents us from revealing its identity). The focus is on retail banking activities in the case banks' domestic service network; in Finland on the branch units in the Helsinki region and in Germany on the branch units in the areas of Frankfurt (Middle region) and Berlin (Eastern region) in particular.

Several authors have underlined the difficulties involved in designing matched case studies in cross-national research. Choosing firms along the most-similar design does not always mean that these firms are equally representative of the respective national context, and vice versa (cf. Maurice et al, 1986, on the "comparison of the non-comparable"). Despite the crucial similarities listed above, it was not possible to achieve a perfect match of all relevant variables in our research. Even though Kansallis and UBF were each quite similar to the German BANK in terms of total assets, after the Merita merger the Finnish case became significantly larger than its German counterpart.

The relative size of the banks differs even more. Merita is the dominant, major player in the domestic Finnish market, as were its predecessors Kansallis and UBF. In contrast, BANK is clearly a middle-sized player domestically, and the reforming examined is related to its intended repositioning within the German banking sector. The difference in the relative size of Merita and BANK is shown in their shares of the overall number of employees within the two banking sectors (figures for 1996). While Merita accounted for approximately 41 percent of all bank employees in Finland, the equivalent figure for BANK was 0.6 percent in Germany. It is important to note that the German banking sector is less concentrated than the Finnish. For example, a major player such as Deutsche Bank accounted for 6,6 percent of bank employees in Germany in 1996.

Our empirical evidence consists of archival data and in-depth interviews with female and male managers in the case study banks. In Finland, various kinds of documents on recent intraorganizational restructurings in Kansallis and UBF and on developments in Merita Bank until October 1997 were reviewed extensively. Most notably, this comprises the internal weekly personnel newsletters of UBF (1982-1995), Kansallis (1982-1995) and Merita (1995-1997). In Germany, the case bank's annual reports as well as newspaper and business journal articles were tracked over the period 1985-1997 in order to compile a profile of the financial development and reforming of the bank. Statistical data were obtained from the Finnish and German case banks on the representation of women in branch management (and other areas of banking) over the period examined. The German figures apart from 1998 are to be taken as indicative rather than a 100 percent accurate, because they are drawn from a range of documents and expert interviews rather than one archival source.

The core of the study is based on semi-structured, in-depth interviews with managers at several hierarchical levels of the case banks. Firstly, *top*

⁷

⁷ Calculations for Germany are based on information provided by the German association of privat banks and annual reports of the banks under consideration. Calculations for Finland are based on information provided by the Finnish Bankers Association (1997).

managers were interviewed on the goals, implementation and problems occurring throughout the reforming process, and on the outcomes of reforms in terms of branch management. In Finland, interviews with seven top managers in Merita - five respondents from the former UBF (including two women) and two from the former Kansallis - were conducted between August 1996 and May 1998. The interviewees include the managing director of the Retail Bank division, and the executive vice presidents in charge of the Helsinki Region of the Retail Bank and group administration. In Germany, the directors of three organizational Regions in which the research took place were interviewed in May-August 1998, following an earlier interview with a manager from the personnel department of the bank in January 1998. A telephone interview was undertaken with the director of the bank's communication department, and further telephone interviews were carried out with two regional managers to check and confirm ambiguous information from the face-to-face interviews. Finally, one of the regional managers was reinterviewed in August 1998. With the exception of the contact in the personnel department, all our top management respondents in BANK are men.

Secondly, *female branch managers* were interviewed on their individual experiences throughout the reforming and on their views on the changes in the gendered division of labour and power distribution in their organization. In Finland, twelve female branch managers (eight from Kansallis and four from UBF) were interviewed according to a semi-structured schema in two rounds to follow-up the different stages of the restructuring process. The first interviews took place in August 1995 (ex-Kansallis) and August-September 1996 (ex-UBF), the follow-up interviews in May-June 1996 (ex-Kansallis) and December 1997 (ex-UBF). In Germany, nine female branch managers were interviewed throughout the period January-April 1998. Key respondents were later contacted by telephone in order to elaborate on issues touched upon in the interviews.

All the interviews in Finland were conducted by the Finnish author of this report. All the interviews in Germany were conducted by one of the German authors. In both countries, the interviews took place individually in the office of each respondent. The interviews were taped, and subsequently coded verbatim.

Incommensurability of concepts and measurement is a potential problem in cross-national research (see e.g. Crompton and Harris, 1998). Throughout the research process, we paid particular attention to ascertain that comparable phenomena are investigated. The concepts used in the report of the earlier Finnish-Swedish comparison (published in English) were thoroughly discussed before field work in Germany. Research instruments were standardized in two

ways. Firstly, a joint list of questions for interviewing informants beyond the branch manager level was developed specifically for the purposes of the present study. Secondly, the branch manager interviews in Germany followed the instrument used in the earlier Finnish-Swedish comparison. Relevant clarifying questions emerging in the German interviews were then repeated in the subsequent Finnish field work. In writing out the individual cases (chapters 5 and 6 in this report), and while comparing the findings in particular, a final 'concept check' was carried out between the German and Finnish researchers. Yet, we regret that in translating the German and Finnish material into English something was lost, even if we made as sure as possible that the meanings did not change. Sarcasm, for example, is extremely difficult to translate from one language to another. We have attempted to make available to the reader as much of the primary (translated) material as possible. All names used for branch managers in the empirical sections of this article are pseudonyms.

5. GENDERING OF BRANCH MANAGEMENT IN THE FIELD OF FINNISH BANKING

5.1. Women's Inroads to Branch Management

When the Retail Bank division of the newly established Merita Bank was set up during the spring of 1995, the outcome of the selection procedure for branch management was that in the Helsinki region women came to occupy 50 percent of the positions in this level of the hierarchy.

Viewing the merger procedure as a sequence to recent events of restructuring within Kansallis and UBF reveals the complexity and historical continuity of the phenomenon. The feminization trend had been evident for some time in both banks. In 1983, the proportion of female branch managers in the entire Helsinki region of Kansallis was approximately 7 percent. By 1992, the proportion had risen to over 37 percent. The advancement of women to branch management was slightly more modest in the Helsinki region of UBF where the proportion rose from just under 4 percent in 1983 to approximately 22.5 percent in 1992.

The recent paths of internal development in UBF and Kansallis shared a number of similarities, especially up until the late 1980s. Both banks were striving towards a divisionalized profit-centre model, encouraged by the domi-

nant managerial discourses of the deregulation era. Competitiveness seemed to entail a cascading of decision making authority down the line. Although its direct link to decentralization is rather ambiguous, the extremely poor financial performance of the banks in 1991-1994 is often argued to have resulted in particular from the volume-seeking lending of the latter part of the 1980s. Centralizing measures and control mechanisms have since been forcefully reintroduced.

Some key characteristics seem to have differentiated the two banks. Since 1988 in *Kansallis*, internal reforms were targeted towards extremely clear-cut segmentation based on customer-type - for example, retail versus corporate banking - and related specialization of managerial work. The legacy of Kansallis' recent history seems more ambiguous than that of its merger companion (for more details, see Tienari and Tainio, forthcoming). Individuals in the upper echelons of the bank appear to have constantly competed with each other. This setting was created and maintained by a flow of restructurings valuing individual, albeit often vaguely defined profit-responsibility. Confusion seems to have been reflected throughout the hierarchy. Up until the merger, Kansallis was widely considered as the reforming, aggressive bank.

UBF, on the other hand, had obtained a 'winner image' in 1985-1986, after it successfully acquired and absorbed the Bank of Helsinki. With the deep crisis the Finnish economy confronted at the turn of the decade, UBF was relatively quick to return from an Armada organization with broad operative independence for individual business units (see e.g. Jacobson, 1991) towards an Alliance organization with a more 'matrix-type' structure where collegial decision-making procedures were established and co-operation between expert and customer-related units was emphasized. Moreover, organizational/structural differentiation according to customer-type was never taken to its extreme in the domestic service network of UBF, although groups consisting of branches with different service profiles were set up in 1989. Striving for organizational stability in the midst of environmental turbulence seems to have marked UBF's style in its recent reforms. In sum, UBF was widely considered as the authoritative, cautious bank.

Kansallis: Reforms - and the Ladies from the Ranks. The initial large-scale influx of women into branch management in Kansallis took place in the late 1980s, during search for new business and the last stages of the growth period (in 1987, for example, the proportion of women in branch management in the Helsinki region was still under 10 percent). Feminization seems to have been triggered by specific organizational arrangements.

During the early 1980s in particular existing supervisory work practices under the managerial level in the branches began to get formal recognition. The most competent clerks, most of whom had in practice carried out the role of shop floor leader for years, now received an official supervisory label (equivalent to the 'Innenleiter' in Germany). The majority of these individuals were women.

While the decentralizing developments in the bank in 1983-1988 reinforced the 'masculine attractiveness' of branch management, a turnaround took place in 1988. The domestic service network of the bank was split up into two separate divisions: Corporate Banking and Retail & Private Banking. A complete operative differentiation between the two sectors was now sought. The top management perceived that the reform had to be both radical and rapid. Concentration of corporate (business) banking knowledge and expertise into specialized units was communicated as particularly essential in this move.

Most major corporate clients were picked out of the branch offices - most of the branches had up to now operated on a full-service basis, i.e. offering a range of services to all customer groups - and concentrated in specific, newly established corporate branches. Local branches were then to focus almost entirely on private and small- and medium-sized enterprise (SME) customers. The 1988 reform forced the men heading the branches to make distinct career decisions, to choose a side. Many of these individuals were able to follow their corporate customers and find their way into the newly established expert units. Many traditionalist men, however, stayed in their newly formulated positions.

Specific branch groups were also established in the retail banking division of Kansallis during 1988-89. This was done on a geographical basis, among local branches operating in proximity to each other. Moreover, the specific asset management units that were now established also picked their clientele this time, the profitable end of the private customer segment - from the local branches. The degree of freedom for the individual local branch manager was diminishing. His/her duties were becoming more standardized and less persondependent. Managers could now more easily be horizontally transferred: from one branch to the next, from one local community to another. Somewhere along the way, the official title of the local branch manager towards customers was changed from pankinjohtaja (bank manager) to konttorinjohtaja (branch manager).

Shop level female supervisors emerged as the 'natural' choices to take over branch management with a new, private customer emphasis. They had, in practice, led the operations related to this segment as shop-floor supervisors, while their male predecessors had been committed to corporate customer

expertise. 'Feminine' traits and skills - sales-orientation and the ability to organize the front line - also matched the top managers' visions of the new role of local branch manager. The women chosen were typically recruited by Kansallis as clerical workforce in the 1960s and 1970s. The development of organizational differentiation now presented them with a niche to come up from the ranks, step by step, reaching their first managerial position at a relatively advanced age. For these female trailblazers, new challenges bred enthusiasm. Our respondents eagerly point out that, on the one hand, there was a clear demand for new blood in branch management as the men cued up for the new specialist units and, on the other hand, the women chosen typically began to produce sound financial results. They also indicate avoidance of considerable loan losses - a burden of many male managers of the 1980s.

Leena, a trailblazer who received her first branch manager appointment in 1988 after being with the bank for 22 years recalls:

"It was mainly us, people that had come a long way. (By now) we occupied these positions of (customer service) chief. We had advanced inside the branch, wherever we happened to be. [...] That was it (the 1988 reform). There was a division right away; men on the corporate side and the other field left to women. The men didn't really even apply for (positions on) this side. [...] The young men sought their way to corporate banking. [...] Corporate banking was 'finer'. I decided that I liked to work in the private customer sector just as much. I didn't really even want to go (to corporate banking). There was such a big fight to see who gets there."

Maria got her first own 'shop' a year later, when she had been employed by Kansallis for 16 years. She confirms the atmosphere of the period:

"When we had this boom period, the men were after something extra, something different. It fell on us women, we were left to take care (of the branches). And we began to do it better. [...] (To be appointed) we had to prove our worth; to work hard and to have something to show for it. [...] (But) there is still the idea that women can't talk about business like men do. The men have their own business language."

It must be noted that in parallel to the initial prevalence of the trailblazers, a more balanced yearly intake between the sexes in Kansallis' 'managerial apprenticeship' (academic) system was reached during the 1980s. It seems, however, that regardless of sex, the first job for these academic recruits was rarely in a managerial position within the branch network.

Next, more women were chosen to head branches during the back to basics period of 1991-1994, when Kansallis confronted a serious financial crisis. Parallel to a recentralization of decision-making authority, 'prosaic' business in the branches was briefly rehabilitated in the bank's official communication. The years from 1991 onwards, in particular, were also characterized by slackened demand for banking products and services. The women chosen

to head the local branches were considered by their superiors to have 'made things happen' in their previous jobs. Many female trailblazers were placed in the socially most challenging conditions in the bank's domestic service network. One example is amalgamating or running down local branches in accordance with the bank's rationalization formula, while keeping the employees motivated in the uncertain circumstances. Kansallis' acquisition of STS-Bank (a smaller Finnish commercial bank) in 1992 is a specific event where such demands for combining 'hard' management and 'soft' leadership were locally met by a number of female trailblazers. Another example is revitalizing the sales efforts of a branch, as a successor to a frustrated, passive male traditionalist. (See also Tienari, forthcoming).

UBF: the gentlemen's bank - and niches for competent women. The recent history of UBF seems to confirm the link between organizational restructuring and piecemeal feminization of branch management. However, the mechanism in UBF seems to have operated in a somewhat different mode. Organizational differentiation based on segmentation by customer type in the domestic service network was never taken to such extremes as in Kansallis, and the feminization trend in branch management emerged later and less dramatically. Units with specific, more specialized service profiles emerged through a more gradual development. However, since 1989-1990, and along with the Alliance (i.e. matrix) organization of 1991 in particular, the latitude of the individual branch manager began to change. He (or she) was not directly deprived of segments of his customer base, but he (or she) was now expected to cope with newly defined control through more collegiate decision-making procedures.

"Women began to get noticed as preparers and proposers of loans," as a top manager in UBF put it. "Their proposals were sensible, and you thought these people could do something else, too". Entering the 1990s, he added, promoting women also served a purpose of signalling that the "soldier-like men's world" of Mr. Mika Tiivola was being moderated. Tiivola was CEO of UBF from 1970 until year-end 1988, and well-known for his military officer background. As in Kansallis, there was an element of purposefulness in the first steps of appointing women to branch manager positions. Moreover, as in Kansallis, top managers in UBF were eager to point out that it was individual merit that counted for women's advancement: "they are very vigorous, trustworthy and they attend to matters carefully ... they have clear opinions which they have dared to state". This is a shared, active behavioural mode. Yet, reference must be made to the popular 'cultural' differences between the two banks. In comparison to themselves, our female manager respondents from UBF typically describe their female Kansallis counterparts as more aggressive and more direct in emphasizing their own personal achievements.

In both banks, women were typically appointed to managerial jobs with a private customer emphasis while corporate finance in particular remained a male bastion. In addition to the everlasting caste division between corporate and retail banking, however, there exists a visible, historical hierarchy concerning the value of each individual branch in the totality. Number-one jobs in key branches which had more employees and served a significant number of business customers were still out of the reach of women.

Moreover, since the early nineties, the policy of UBF was not to give the title of branch manager to individuals who, in practice, were promoted to be in charge of operations in small local branches. Rather, they were appointed as 'profit responsible assistant managers' (implications in terms of pay are evident here). Often, this implied a female assistant manager successor to a male branch manager. Simultaneously, preparation of loan documents, for example, were removed from these branches and concentrated in more central all-round (full-service) units.

The employment histories of the women chosen to head local branches in UBF are diverse. Many seem to have entered the bank through the 'managerial apprenticeship' (academic) system in the 1980s in particular. Although similar procedures were evident in Kansallis, UBF was noticeably an organization with a hierarchy of yearly superior-subordinate development talks and 'potential lists'. In principle, the development talks provided active individuals with regular, formalized opportunities to voice their career desires, vertical or horizontal. At the same time, each line manager was expected to keep track of their potentially most promising subordinates. This was so that openings could be filled through a wider and more thorough search within the organization. This system served a second, related purpose: to ensure that each academic recruit's career development in time matched both his/her performance and aspirations. Incidentally, new recruitment was practically abandoned by both Kansallis and UBF since the first signs of the crisis were evident in 1991-1992 and deployment became timely.

Finally, the custom developed in both banks throughout the 1980s allows for breaks from employment career in order to go on maternity (or paternity) and care leave, and return to the previous or equivalent position in the organizational hierarchy. A number of our respondents have also experienced this when in a supervisory, assistant manager or branch manager position. Moreover, while up until the early 1980s it was not unusual to openly question the few female applicants to managerial positions on their future family plans, the threshold for this sort of conduct has risen considerably. For this change, our branch manager respondents typically refer to "change in the society in general" and to the "growing number of a new breed of women" (i.e. the

academic recruits) itself. Mechanisms of segregation have become more subtle, as is evident in the next sub-section of this article.

Tiina's experiences in UBF's branch network are telling. Tiina is an active female manager in her early fourties. She was accepted to the bank's academic apprentice programme in the late 1980s. Subsequently, she held a 'customer service chief' (shop floor supervisory) position for brief periods in several branches. During that time she gave birth to two children, i.e. she went on a maternity leave twice and returned to the bank. She was then appointed to what she terms the position of 'profit responsible assistant manager' in a small branch in 1994. Tiina sums up the developments in UBF rather cynically:

"If you consider UBF, I think it was clear. They looked for female managers on the retail banking side. On the corporate side you had male managers. [...] Men never seem to go to the retail customer side, they all want to be big bosses in corporate banking. [...][...] Why are women popular on the retail banking side? If you ask the staff, women are just sort of softer, and they listen to customers and they have the patience to chat with the grandmas and grandpas. And the patience to listen to the staff's problems differently than men. The majority of the clerks are, after all, women."

Our female branch manager respondents from both Kansallis and UBF emphasize the role of key individuals (usually men) in their personal step-by-step career development. Firstly, there were 'open-minded' individuals in district / branch group manager positions in particular who actively and sometimes purposefully promoted women to managerial jobs where 'feminine' qualities were in demand. Women who had 'become visible' in projects, sales campaigns etc. were chosen. Interestingly, many women who reached branch management in Kansallis had at some point in their career served as trainers at the bank's training centre. Secondly, there were individuals in the upper echelons who valued trust, and invited - after they themselves reached a new managerial position - a former subordinate to follow them and take up a more demanding job.

Reproduced gender segregation in the making of Merita. The merger of UBF and Kansallis was announced on the evening of February 9, 1995. The majority of the board of management in the new bank was settled during the negotiation phase initiated by the most prominent owners of the two merger partners. Only a handful of top managers from the two banks were involved in the negotiations. They were sworn to secrecy. Mr. Vesa Vainio, the number one man in UBF in 1993-1995, was appointed CEO of the new bank. Mr. Pertti Voutilainen, CEO of Kansallis in 1992-1995, was made second-in-command. No women were chosen on the board of management in the new bank. The first woman ever to have reached the board of Kansallis in 1992 was dropped in the battles of the merger procedure, and soon left.

The new bank was initially organized into four main business areas, i.e. divisions: the Retail Bank, the Corporate Bank, Treasury and Capital Markets, and Asset Management. The Retail Bank caters to personal customers, SMEs and public sector entities. The name Merita Bank was launched in May 1995. Directly after the merger announcement, the managerial appointments in the Retail Bank took place top-down, level by level. The bank's board appointed the regional managers (executive vice presidents) in mid-February 1995. All six geographic regions in the Retail Bank were managed by men, and all the regional managers' deputies were men. The regional managers in turn had their say in the district manager appointments that were made official in the beginning of March. In the seven districts within the Helsinki region, four district managers came from Kansallis and three from UBF. Only one of the seven districts was managed by a woman (the corresponding figures for the entire country were 39 and four).

Next, each district manager carried out a formalized interview procedure to choose the branch managers for his/her district from the two pools of managers available. The Helsinki region serves as an example of the dramatic rationalization procedures following the merger, attained through branch amalgamations and staff dismissals. From the approximately 350 manager and assistant manager level staff employed by Kansallis and UBF in Helsinki, some 200 were selected for the new bank during the course of 1995. From just under 150 branch offices at the outset in February 1995, the figure was down to approximately 70 by autumn 1996.

The branches in Merita were profiled into three categories: all-round branches, consumer banking branches and neighbourhood branches. The term local branch used in the present study refers primarily to the last two categories. The basic criteria for branch management were "competence, work experience, suitability, and capabilities for cooperation, related to the requirements of the task at hand". The branch manager appointments were announced in early June 1995. An approximate fifty-fifty balance between managers from Kansallis and UBF was the outcome of the initial selection procedure in the Helsinki region. As mentioned earlier, approximately 50 percent of the remaining branches were now managed by a woman. It is, however, important to note that outside the largest cities the representation of women in branch management is still modest in Merita (the ratio for the entire bank was 24.4% in 1996 - the Northern region demonstrating a figure of 8.2% and the Western region 11.1%).

A number of our respondents express concern for their observation that on average, the men chosen seemed to be younger than the women. 'Young' refers here to men in their thirties; due to the recruitment policies outlined

above, the age pyramid in Merita has become somewhat obscured. In 1996, for example, there was only a handful of manager or assistant manager level employees under thirty years of age among a population of over 150 in the Helsinki region. The first 'larger-scale' yearly intake of managerial apprentices in Merita took place in the autumn of 1997; a total of 26 men and 15 women were recruited.

An active, sales-oriented and participative branch manager role was communicated as the standard in the Merita merger. One of the primary tasks of the branch managers chosen was to negotiate and carry out staff reductions in their own local units. The top management announced early on in the merger process that the existing clerical workforce in the bank would be cut by roughly one-third by late 1996. The statutory staff-management negotiation procedure in respect of clerk level redundancies (henceforth referred to as the YT procedure) was initiated within Merita's branch network in September 1995. However, the negotiation procedure was delayed due to protests and threats by the Finnish Bank Employees' Association. For example, in the Helsinki region, the last decisions regarding choices for personnel in this first round of rationalization were made during November 1996.

Parallel to its objective of cost-cutting through elimination of overlapping operations, the making of Merita was also potentially problematic in terms of the 'organizational cultures' of Kansallis (popularly considered reforming and aggressive) and UBF (popularly considered authoritative and cautious). The merger was launched as a union between equals, but the top management in the new bank anticipated cultural incompatibility right from the beginning.

The sarcastic metaphor of merging 'Serbs' (UBF) and 'Croats' (Kansallis) was adopted and frequently used by the Finnish media, illustrating the apparent and assumed differences between the two organizations and the drama involved in the union. Moreover, UBF's financial position was apparently stronger: "[t]he merger creates one of the greatest culture clashes ever seen in Scandinavian banking," Euromoney reported in June 1995, suggesting a "takeover by the Swedish-speaking UBF". On a generic level, the branch manager respondents in the present study typically confirmed the UBF dominance in the initial stages of implementing the merger. This was mainly due to choices of top management and of decision-making procedure (i.e. the custom adopted in UBF's Alliance organization, centering around smaller personal limits and collegial procedures) for the new bank.

The top management in Merita forcefully advocated a new monolithic culture. They set out to overcome the apparent UBF - Kansallis differentiation: the most sensitive people-related issues were to be partly handled by packag-

ing them into a formalized, controlled project. The top managers attempted to channel and mediate the unavoidable confrontations. "For the creation of Merita's corporate culture and identity based on the best traditions of the merging banks," the top management launched a corporate culture and training project called Kide in the autumn of 1995. The objectives of Kide were "to communicate the bank's values to the employees, to unify management models, and to deal with the past and differentiate it from the present". In other words, the project was ultimately targeted at uniform courses of action.

Employees were informed that the project would comprise official seminars at the bank's training centre. Everyone was to attend: the process would proceed level by level, unit by unit, beginning with the board of directors and ending at branch manager and clerk level. Participation by the regional and district managers in the seminars was scheduled for November 1995 and by the branch managers for February 1996. Each participant was to compare his/her personal values and ways of acting with those of the discussion group which included colleagues from both merging banks. Differences and discrepancies were to be brought out into the open, for a better understanding of others' ways of acting. The past should then be abandoned and forgotten. Mutual principles for action were to be agreed on and adopted. Each hierarchical level was then to be responsible for "passing on the baton" after attending the seminars, for inspiring an exchange of ideas among their subordinates locally, in their own units. The top management sought what may be termed an organized dialogue on the rapid path to a new corporate culture.

Combining cultural integration - officially determined by the Kide project since autumn 1995 - with the simultaneous statutory negotiation procedure in respect of staff dismissals remained the realm of managers in the branches. Our female branch manager respondents typically hold a realistic attitude towards their role in the making of Merita. They maintain that they were chosen because of their past record - particularly in "producing results through people". They were both qualified and willing to do the tough job. Especially the experienced trailblazers were able to devote a large part of their time to the emerging social problems in their units, parallel to "business as usual". In a typically direct, Finnish way many also point out that they do it for less pay than the average male colleague.

Ritva joined Kansallis in 1960, and was appointed to manage a small local branch already in the early 1970s. She amalgamated a small UBF branch into her own in autumn 1996. She described her role in the making of Merita as follows:

"The women (trailblazers) have been taken along because we're needed desperately for three or four years as we master the employee relations side. [...] I realize that I

will carry out this particular piece of work. I have only four years left until retirement. [...] My superior needs me for four years to keep one branch office calm. [...] We (trailblazers) are going to carry out the crisis period, the time for 'giving birth' to the bank."

It is also interesting to note that in 1997-1998 several of our trailblazer respondents ran down their local branch; integrating their staff with a larger branch and taking up a position of sector manager there. This is what Ritva did in early 1997.

Kristiina spent approximately 20 years in different bank clerk positions in Kansallis before she actively sought a 'customer service chief' position in the mid-1980s. She was first appointed branch manager in 1990. In 1995, she summarized the phenomenon of women advancing into branch management:

"The women do a tough job for a smaller salary. Let's see if they take the men back in (to head the branches) when things start to improve. [...] The reorganization has been completed for now, but there is going to be another round (of dismissals in branch management). [...] It is a little worrying what will happen to the present women. [...] The bank is a conservative company."

Sirkka rose from the ranks in UBF. She got her first own 'shop' in 1992, and will reach retirement age in a few year's time. Sirkka confirms the experience-based observations above:

"This is just an impression I have, but I think there are two reasons why women are carrying out the merging in practice. [...] Women are, in a way, many-sided. [...] Woman to woman ... perhaps they understand family life a bit and there are other reasons why the co-operation was psychologically successful. And the other thing is salary. I dare say it, even today. It's a well known fact that women do the same job for less money. First of all, women have had to make their career slower than men and their salaries rise more slowly. Whether salary is important, that's another thing. It is a factor, though. [...][...] And when (the branches) are in shape - the functioning has been terrific - there may come a time when you can just go."

The atmosphere of uncertainty intensified in most branches in 1995-1996 due to delays in the YT negotiation procedure; the final individual decisions on redundancies were postponed and rumours of even harder measures spread. This uncertainty coincided with Merita's principle of a formalized path towards a new culture, marked by top-down appeals for local discussions on developing uniform values and culture. It often seemed useless to roll out abstract culture talk among employees concerned with losing their jobs. The branch managers were thus forced to improvise in the face of local, daily constraints. Empathy continued to be a crucial managerial quality.

In the summer of 1996, a survey was carried out among a sample of 88 percent of the total population of manager or assistant manager level

employees in the Helsinki region (see Tienari and Tuunainen, 1998). It is interesting to note that statistically significant differences were found between men and women in response to the statement "discussing values is unnecessary before final decisions concerning personnel have been made". Men expressed stronger opinions on the irrelevance of value discussions. (Ibid)

Referring to the respondents' comments above on pay differentials in branch management, it must be pointed out that certain aspects of equality between the sexes were formally attended to during the making of Merita. The YT negotiation committee established a sub-committee responsible for equality initiatives (the sub-committee was then to be developed into a permanent body within the bank). The chief shop steward in Merita was particularly active in the process. As the chief shop steward of UBF, she had been involved since 1987 in committee work, charting and correcting pay differentials between men and women carrying out corresponding jobs. She was then principally responsible for outlining Merita's Equality Programme. The core of the programme is the principle of same pay for same work, although recruitment and access to the bank's vocational training are also highlighted. A top manager involved in formulating the programme underlines its 'sensibleness':

"People don't consider this an oddity. We haven't had any difficulties in making it known because it hasn't received the label of fanaticism. It has in fact been widely and objectively discussed."

The process is under way, and its potential consequences will be felt gradually. Merita received formal public recognition for its efforts when it was recognized for being one of the best 'equality employers' in Finland for 1997. In its internal communication, the bank maintained a low profile in equality matters. Incidentally, most of the branch manager respondents in the present study had not even heard about the Equality Programme at the time of the last interviews in December 1997.

The role of experienced trailblazers is emphasized above. This does not indicate that young women were discriminated against in the Helsinki region in the branch manager appointments of 1995. To put it crudely, it seems that there were simply not many to choose from (and a number of women with small children were indeed appointed to managerial positions in the branch network).

In the Merita merger, Tiina was chosen to manage and amalgamate two branches, her old UBF branch and the Kansallis branch across the street. Tiina's experiences and feelings provide a glimpse of the gendered substructure of Finnish society. She carried out the initial integration work in amalgamating two branches in the Merita merger, and then decided to take up an expert managerial position in asset management for private customers in a

larger branch. She expresses no regrets about her banking career and considers the bank as a flexible employer; "inflexibility is always related to individuals". Yet she says with a sigh:

"Never has any of my superiors said that it's terrible (for a working woman) to have kids and so forth. In that sense, too, I've had really good bosses all along. And if the kids are ill, there hasn't ever been anything negative. The only thing is what's inside you. Right now, my little boy's ill ... and I take him to his day nursery although I feel I should stay at home with him. [...] You have a bad conscience because you can't work long hours, and then you have a bad conscience because you're tired and annoyed and you don't care if your kid's a little bit ill. [...] In our family at least it's me who has the final responsibility (for the children)."

The younger generation of female bankers, now in their thirties, are often accused in popular discourse of being reluctant to interrupt their employment careers in order to have children. On the one hand, judging from our interviews, it is obvious that the contemporary custom in Merita leaves room for individual solutions in balancing between motherhood and challenges at work. How it works out in practice depends both on one's own initiative and on the nature of the working relationship - or negotiating position - with one's immediate superior. There also still exist key decision-makers in the bank who consider small children a 'handicap' for women in challenging organizational positions. On the other hand, career breaks are considered particularly risky in times of grand organizational reform, such as the mergers of 1995 and 1997. To put it crudely: out of sight, out of mind.

Marianne is a branch manager in her late thirties, with an academic degree. She was chosen to amalgamate several branches in the Merita merger, although she previously held only an assistant manager position. After 18 months of integration work, she went on maternity leave (the child is her third). Afterwards, Marianne decided to take advantage of the option to receive compensation for child care at home, and also use the time to study. Her break from work will extend to approximately two years:

"If I consider my colleagues, I'm an exception in the sense that I'm on maternity leave. [...] My husband's a busy man, too ... and it has been interesting to note that quite a few people have told me that I'm in a way 'brave' to do this. [...][...] I have a lot of young colleagues who won't have children. For what reason, I don't know. [...] Many say that it's not the right time, but I have learned somehow that (if you think that way) it's never the right time. I've got to be the one who decides about my own life. [...] [...] Now that I'm on a leave, my boss keeps me pretty well informed. We're in touch at regular intervals. He tells me what's going on, and we reflect a little bit about my future. [...][...] I always get enthusiastic about new things and even now I'm looking for something new. My (career) cycles are short in that sense. [...] For me, the merger was a project. In our development talks, I've told my superior that my next job could be something else. Not in a branch."

As a direct legacy of Kansallis and UBF, male domination continued to characterize virtually all the prestigeful core activities in Merita: for example, the Corporate Bank. When the organization of Merita's Retail Bank was established in 1995, most key branches which had more employees and served a significant number of business customers continued to be managed by men, though often with the assistance of a female manager in charge of the private customer sector. Women increasingly took care of smaller, more peripheral branches. After the initial appointments had been made in Merita in 1995, vertical career progression from (or within) the branch management level was difficult in the diminishing opportunity structure. Positions were 'locked'.

The trailblazers are typically considered to be on the top of their individual careers. One of Merita's district managers in Helsinki sums up the present situation:

"I have quite a few female branch managers here who will remain branch managers. [...] I don't have many potential individuals here in my district. One thing is that we don't have many with academic degrees, but people who came up through the ranks. They're in their best spots right now."

Choices are delicate for the up-and-coming, too. An experienced female manager of a large branch describes a choice facing a young, promossing sub-ordinate:

"If I were young and beginning my career, I'd consider very carefully before I'd go to head a small branch with private customer emphasis, because it easily turns into a dead-end position. [...] [...] I have a woman working for me as a (SME sector) manager. She's a little over thirty, very competent, young and hungry. I fear that this organization has nothing to offer her, that she'll take her competence elsewhere. [...] I know that they're considering offering her a job (in Merita) as the manager of a rather small private customer branch. I think it would be a disaster for her. Her career would develop on the private customer side, and all the competence that she now has on business customers would go to waste. [...] She'd be there for three years and during that time she'd be out of the developments in business banking. And with this Nordbanken thing and all, she'd be out of the competition for three years. To update her knowledge would be a project of its own. And the people who'd done that work all along would go past her (career-wise)".

Even those who possess the 'right' credentials face constraints. Anja is a branch manager in her late forties, with an academic degree. Her merger experiences reveal how an ambitious woman confronts her own personal glass ceiling in an hierarchical organization. Because Anja had gained competence in dealing with business customers in her previous job, and because she had successfully managed a change project in a branch unit, she was chosen for a challenging position during the first round of appointments in Merita in spring 1995. She was appointed manager of a relatively large, centrally located branch office where she subsequently amalgamated several units from UBF

and Kansallis. Along the way, the response from her superiors indicated that she was doing a good job. Her tone in the second interview in December 1997 was analytical:

"If you consider women proceeding in the bank, it is a cosmetic thing. And I, for one, I don't think I'm going to advance from this level. [...] If I'd been asked that question two years ago, I'd said that the sky was the limit. [...] It's partly due to reading about recent appointments in the bank. Young men have began to prevail. [...] You have this feeling that when women succeed as managers, they (men) consider it some sort of 'nice tinkering'. It's quite nice that they do well, but they're not fit for any serious assignments."

As Anja's new branch was beginning to run smoothly, the managerial challenges had for the most part turned into routines for her. In 1997 a position higher up the hierarchy, one that Anja was interested in, suddenly became vacant. She did not get the job, which went to a man coming from another part of Merita:

"I was put up as a candidate for position X, but I wasn't chosen. Afterwards, I've given thought to whether I want that job. On second thoughts, I don't. [...] Well, it could be tricky to rise to that position from within. It may be better to come from outside the unit, so that you're not already so committed to the people, the way I'm committed to them. You would have to make all sorts of decisions. That could be one factor. [...] But there was also talk about them (the decision-makers) needing to have someone from (the other side of the family) to fill that position. [...] And I know there are certain individuals higher up who have their ceiling in terms of where they're prepared to appoint women. [...] It was probably all these things put together."

Finally, it is important to note that branch banking seems to be a diminishing part of the Finnish banks' business portfolios. For example, as the focus vis-avis private customers shifts to electronic and telebanking, the development is likely to lead to a smaller number of branches. Services become increasingly concentrated. The large, all-round units in central locations, catering for the full range of banking needs for all customer groups are the likely survivors. Managerial level 'organizers' in small, private customer-oriented units will be less and less needed.

By mid-1998, the number of branches in the geographical region of Helsinki in MeritaNordbanken was down to 40, and the proportion of women in branch management peaked at 57.5 percent.

5.2. From Feminization to Gendering: Some Finnish Explanations

Individual skills and credentials. Our respondents in the first wave of female branch managers in Kansallis, UBF and Merita typically provide three kinds of

intertwining general explanations for their own personal career advancement, in addition to "being able to make their voice heard" with supportive key individuals, i.e. (male) immediate superiors. Firstly, our respondents point out the ability and will to commit oneself to the daily routine activities in the branch, also after reaching a supervisory or assistant manager job. The significance of maintaining this commitment in the branch manager position is particularly highlighted. Involvement improves sales work - and produces results. Secondly, our respondents emphasize the ability to organize and make the staff work together as a team, "letting other people develop". They often simultaneously present this as a typically feminine behavioural mode. Thirdly, our respondents highlight their personal flexibility and open-mindedness towards change, yet often spicing such comments with sarcastic remarks of being easily egged on to work harder and harder. In sum, the first wave manifest an ability to balance the so-called femininity related with "creating a feeling that the manager is one of the team" with the constant demands for financial performance, demands that at times entail harsh actions and strong management, i.e. so-called masculinity. These personal explanations, however, have distinct organizational underpinnings.

Gendered demands (of reforms) and the female supply. In both Kansallis and UBF, the feminization of branch management is clearly related to organizational reforms. The top managers' vision of the new role of local branch manager, attained through restructuring, were based on sales-orientation and the ability to organize the front line. These traits and skills matched a feminine stereotype. And in parallel, the pool of potential candidates for promotion had become more 'visible' as sellers of the bank's products and services and/or as preparers and proposers of loans. A feature particularly characteristic of Kansallis were the 'ladies from the ranks'. When entering branch management, they were typically past the stereotypical conception of the child-rearing stage, and were able to invest a lot of time and effort in their work. In any case, both Kansallis and UBF were typically mentioned by our respondents as having become relatively flexible in relation to breaks from employment and re-entry to former position, also in management.

Kansallis serves as a particularly revealing example of a development where the initial large-scale entry of women into local branch management coincides with the most active period of reform directed towards organizational differentiation based on customer type and specialization in managerial work (see also Tienari, forthcoming). For the pre-1988, predominantly male holders of these positions, handing over the largest corporate clients equated a downgrading of their job. The luxury of acting as a generalist expert was gone. The status of the position in the bank's internal pecking order was in decline (see Tienari and Tainio, forthcoming). A large number of the pre-1988 branch

managers attempted to follow their corporate customers to the new specialized units. In sum, narrowing the scope of tasks and downgrading customer-related decision-making authority led to a decline in social influence and an erosion of the status of the local branch manager position within the bank, and it consequently became peripheral as a career step for upward mobility (cf. Reskin and Roos, 1990; Bird, 1990; Maile, 1995, on reconstituted managerial positions).

In UBF, organizational differentiation based on segmentation by customer type in the domestic service network was never taken to such extremes as in Kansallis. The feminization trend in branch management emerged later and less dramatically (which, on the other hand, is not entirely surprising considering the popular image of UBF's organizational culture as authoritative and cautious). The majority of the branches in UBF were not downgraded through radical reform. Units with specific, more specialized service profiles emerged gradually. Yet, the content of reforming was matching Kansallis', and in the domestic service network women deemed competent by male decision-makers were typically assigned managerial positions dealing with private customers. The employment histories of women who reached branch management in UBF are more diverse than their Kansallis' counterparts. From an organizational perspective, however, a similar resource had now accumulated in both banks.

This recently developed new form of managerial separation prevalent in both Kansallis and UBF - between male 'business bankers' and female 'caretakers' - was visibly reproduced in the merger between the two banks (see also Tienari, 1998). In the making of Merita, combining cultural integration with the simultaneous statutory negotiation procedure in respect of staff dismissals remained the realm of managers in the branches (from a top-down perspective, the prolongation of this ambiguous situation was unintentional). It is evident that a rapid kick-off in the local integration of diminishing groups of employees from two apparently diverse organizational backgrounds was partly rendered possible by the availability of experienced female branch managers who were prepared to do the tough job down the line (from a top-down perspective, they emerged as 'natural choices'; cf. Kansallis in 1988). More women were chosen to manage other women.

Gender (re)segregation. The initial increased representation of women in branch management seems to have been due to a more visible ranking of skills (and related authority) and an uncoupling of high- and low-ranked skills (and related authority) into separate managerial jobs (cf. Savage, 1992). The career structure became increasingly varied (or fragmented). Local branch management per se became a dead-end position in terms of upward career mobility in this structure, unless the individual in question had a particularly versatile career history where the branch manager job was merely a one-off step. The

fact that there was a large-scale rise of women previously stuck in the shop floor clerical jobs (cf. Crompton and Sanderson, 1986) - both as a consequence of a lack of male applicants and as an intentional managerial manouvre - for its part accounted for the worsened career image of the position, especially in Kansallis. In Finnish banking, it seems clear that segregation according to gender does not necessarily entail open discrimination. Rather, it is an historical phenomenon related to the rigidity of the structural elements within organizations. It is a self-fulfilling process that is particularly evident when grand organizational reforms (such as mergers) are implemented.

6. GENDERING OF BRANCH MANAGEMENT IN THE FIELD OF GERMAN BANKING

6.1. Women's Inroads to Branch Management

Until the late 1980s, within BANK only a very few branches were managed by a woman. There has, however, been a recent increase in the proportion of women on the branch manager level. In the Northern Region of the bank, for example, the figure rose from approximately 10 percent in 1990 to approximately 25 percent in 1998. The equivalent figures for the Middle Region are approximately 15 percent and just over 30 percent, this being the largest proportion of women in branch management within the entire bank. Differences between the five regions in the bank are relatively small; the proportion of women is the smallest in the Western Region, where approximately every fifth branch is managed by a woman.

Although feminization is a recent phenomenon, it is rooted in history. BANK was established with the motto of being a 'different bank', in the context of a strong cooperative sector in Germany. The aim was to develop specific products for the ordinary private customer. Entering the 1980s, however, the bank had become what one of our top management respondents referred to as a credit-oriented corporate customer bank.

The Burden and the Aborted Restructuring. Until 1986, BANK was controlled by an institutional owner whose other business ventures had fallen into disrepute. BANK had also accumulated a portfolio of bad corporate customer loans in particular. This was due to a pursuit of volume in lending: for example, by taking on 'second choice customers' already rejected by the larger and more

prestigeful German commercial banks. In 1986, a major German holding company (a variety of businesses, e.g. insurance) bought a share holding of just over 50 percent in BANK (the previous owner maintained a minority share). Thereby, BANK gained a powerful financier willing to provide the further capital which the bank needed for its further expansion in the 1980s. The acquisition motive of the new owner was based on the idea of promoting an Allfinanz concept; i.e. joint sales of bank products, insurance and housing loans etc.

Driven by persistent economic problems, a restructuring programme was launched in BANK in 1986. Market proximity and decentralization were the catchwords of the manoeuvre, one of the aims of which was to create the preconditions for the expansionist Allfinanz strategy. External consultants were used throughout the restructuring. While the chain of command had traditionally been board of management, main branch and local branch, an additional hierarchical level of regional offices (10 in total) was introduced between the board and the main branches.

On the one hand, decision making on lending was centralized from the previously powerful managers of main branches to the new regional level (the objective was to both streamline and to improve the quality of decision making processes). On the other hand, the restructuring incorporated decentralizing elements as the prestigeful credit unit of the headquarters was moved to the regional offices. It is important to note that the position of credit officer in these units represented, and still represents, both high status and a crucial career step within the bank. Women typically did not have access to these positions. They were not able to develop the crucial credentials and could therefore not progress, for example, to managerial positions in the main branches.

"Women were considered as friendly little mouses at the counter," as one of our female branch manager respondents put it. She was active in the work council (i.e. employees' representative body) of the bank in the 1980s, and describes the explicit nature of discrimination confronted by one of her female colleagues:

"The credit units have always been something special. During my time in the work council, for example, this boss told me that he would accept a woman in the credit unit only over his dead body. [...] And this woman was really good. If she hadn't been, I would not have talked about it anymore. But she was excellent. I fought for her, and she got the position in the credit unit. After all this, of course, the boss didn't like me one bit."

In effect, a number of managers of the main branches were the losers in the reforms intended in BANK in 1986. Their individual discretion with regard to lending, i.e. the upper-lending threshold, was reduced (it is important to note that even today, the discretion in lending among the branch managers in the

bank is person-dependent; the restructurings have not affected all managers to the same extent). Thus, it comes as no surprise that managerial personnel in the main branches in particular strongly resisted the restructuring. Many managers in the main branches left the bank, others attempted to use their informal networks with managers at the upper echelons to maintain their authority.

Parallel to streamlining the processing of loan applications, another objective of the restructuring was to improve the service within the branch units. For example, more personnel were to be allocated to deal with the increasingly important target group of wealthy private customers as advisors. This was carried out through automating basic banking services and concentrating back-office tasks. Due to the reasons discussed above, the measures proved to be rather ineffective and the work organisation in the branches did not change much.

A consultancy firm conducted a market analysis for BANK in the late 1980s, and concluded that it had too many employees and branches (of which some would never operate profitably), and that business with private customers should be emphasized instead of risky lending to corporate customers. The continued poor financial performance of the bank led Mr. X, the CEO with a background closely connected with the previous owners, to resign in 1990. The new owners were after a CEO who would be able to give the bank a new strategic direction. A new broom took charge.

The shuffle, the men from the outside - and women as the second choice. In 1990, Dr. Y was elected the new CEO of BANK. He had previously been in charge of another German financial institution when it was put back on its feet after severe financial difficulties. New restructuring measures were introduced in BANK after his arrival. Dr. Y received an opportunity to built up a new management team of his own at the level of the board of management (while a representative of the main owners continued to chair the bank's supervisory board). At the same time, the name of the bank was changed, in order to signal the intended internal changes to the outside. The aim was to replace the image connected to the previous owners, now increasingly considered a burden, with an image of a profit- and performance-oriented, dynamic and innovative bank. External consultants were used throughout the restructuring process. The two basic objectives introduced in the late 1980s were still present: improvement of Allfinanz sales orientation through all-round customer advisors and attraction of new low-risk customers.

Customers were now segmented into four groups in BANK: retail, corporate, real estate and institutional. Each customer segment was organized as an

independent line of business with its own organization structure up to board level. A better focus on customer groups and more clearly defined responsibilities were the objectives of the manouvre. Every line of business in the bank was to have its own branch structure. For example, specific units for corporate customers were established. This entailed further restructuring of the retail banking network. The regional offices which had been introduced in 1986 were abolished again. Instead, the network in retail banking was divided under the authority of five regional managers (who no longer ran a branch unit of their own). In the regions, branches were grouped under the authority of branch group managers who were 'travelling coordinators' without a branch unit of their own (simultaneously, they acted as contacts to top customers, with higher personal limits as the branch managers). Importantly, the distinction between main and local branches as organizational units was blurred; both were now referred to as branches. This overall structure has been maintained to the present day.

The reorganization of BANK into four independent lines of business in 1990 resulted in a number of changes for the traditional main branch manager position, initially in relation to its task profile in particular. Up until the 1990 restructuring, the (predominantly male) main branch managers were primarily doing business with a limited number of their most important corporate customers, supported by the officers in the credit unit. As a result of the restructuring, the majority of them were to give up this customer segment and concentrate on dealing with private and SME (small- and medium sized business) customers. The branch manager job now explicitly focused on product sales, setting into practice the strategies for the mass market which have been planned at the headquarters. The task profile of the manager became more specified. Moreover, refined control systems meant that the profits and costs of each individual unit - branch, for example - could now be calculated in detail, and the performance of each unit has become more transparent. According to the present formal description of the position in BANK, a branch manager is expected to allocate 50 percent of his/her working time to daily sales work, and 50 percent to the operational leadership of his/her staff.

On the one hand, through an increasing rationalization of back-office tasks and the introduction of more self-service in the front-office, the number of clerical personnel was cut down in BANK by one third during the period 1990-1996. This could, to a large extent, be carried out through 'natural attrition'. Administrative work was further reduced in the branches in order for more personnel to become available for customer advisory tasks. On the other hand, amalgamation of (local) branches was also beginning. The number of branches did not, however, decrease to the same extent as the number of personnel. Consider-

ing that new units have simulatenously been set up for corporate customers, institutional customers and real estate business, the decrease in the extent of the service network has so far been minimal.

As part of the 1990 restructuring, BANK set up a specific assessment centre procedure. The procedure was expected to help in allocating managers to new positions according to objective criteria. All managers in the bank - including members of the board - had to reapply for their positions. In effect, this meant competition between the previous holder of each position with other potential candidates. For positions in branch management, for example, each participant underwent two types of testing. Firstly, in terms of his/her social competence vis-a-vis staff (management dialogue, processing of personnel cases). Secondly, in terms of his/her sales orientation (analysis of sales of data and development of strategies for improvement).

Some former branch managers were able to achieve a promotion to the next hierarchical level, stay put or move horizontally, or take up a position as a highly qualified specialist (without responsibility for staff) in retail banking. Relatively few switched to the newly established units in the other lines of business, i.e. corporate, institutional or real estate. Some gave notice with the argument that the content of their job had changed so much that their employment contract no longer applied. Some managers who had already reached a certain age went into early retirement, voluntarily or without a real choice. It is important to note that there was an external market for the men leaving BANK in the early 1990s. They were able to find positions as, for example, branch managers in other banks (where they envisaged an opportunity to maintain the traditional 'bank director' role).

In all, more than a half of the previous holders of managerial positions in BANK were replaced through the assessment centre procedure. The bank was actively searching for individuals who could act as a model in conveying the new sales-oriented strategy to the staff. In the first stage, the positions were filled from within. For the positions which remained open, individuals were recruited from outside, the large commercial banks in particular. In terms of age, the newly recruited branch managers differed considerably from the previous pool of branch managers. Most of the new recruits were young men who had typically worked one step below branch management in one of the large German commercial banks. Our example is from Berlin, where several men from the same bank - concerned by their immediate career possibilities there - joined BANK as branch managers. One of our top management respondents explained what in his view was the reason for the lack of women in the search:

"There were no equally qualified women available. Not within the bank nor on the external labour market."

Despite recruitment efforts from other banks, it proved to be difficult to fill branch manager positions in BANK on a permanent basis. Many male branch managers - who had come from the outside and taken up the position during the course of the restructuring initiated in 1990 - moved along to other banks. In this situation, some older women with long experience within BANK were offered an opportunity to take up a position as branch manager (typically in small branches). Two traits in particular were now considered crucial for the new branch manager role; sales orientation and social skills. There were competent women available to match both criteria. There was a pool of qualified women who had shown outstanding performance in selling Allfinanz to the mass market in advisory (or equivalent) positions or who had managed to sneak into a credit officer position in the credit units. Women were viewed as 'friendly' and 'flexible' and therefore well suited to carry out the operational leadership in a unit of 5-7 employees (i.e. the smallest of BANK's branches).

Helga was first appointed (local) branch manager in 1988, when she was in her early fourties. She recalls the impact of the subsequent restructurings on management hierarchies within the bank:

"(Earlier,) managers in the main branches played the real bosses. They had their own power structures. They dealt with the job very different from how it is run today. [...] They mingled with the same people all the time (the 'best' customers). [...] The management concept has changed completely. [...] Many of the things which I do today as (local) branch manager have been carried out by an operations manager (Innebleiter) before."

Susanne was first appointed to a branch manager position in 1992, at the age of 29:

"In my mind, social competence - the ability to get along with other people and to treat one's co-workers as partners - is very important. This can be hard at times. [...] You need a lot of patience. I think that this is a point which demonstrates that female leadership is different from male leadership. This quality has been ascribed to women - and in my experience, rightly so. I think that we are better at making compromises in some areas. Of course, you need to invest a lot of energy (into your managerial work) and you need authority. But it's not like the power which men usually use."

Ruth's career step in 1993 is revealing. She had worked as personal secretary to the manager of a main branch, taking part in the operational leadership of the unit, albeit without official authority. Her superior then recommended her for a branch manager position at a smaller local branch focusing on retail customers:

"The structures had actually been established already (in 1990), there just happened to be a manager in this branch who wanted to leave after two years. I had never thought of this position. [...] Of course, I have always been open to new challenges. [...] Then they offered me this position, asking whether I was interested. Then I also participated in the assessment centre. That was a requirement, of course, that I should pass the AC. [...] I was just a guinea pig. [...] There were always rumours that I was the secret leader in (the previous branch). I have only laughed about it because this was not a problem for me."

Next, women increasingly getting their chance in branch management in BANK was closely related to the bank's reconsidered overall personnel policy. External recruitment had proved to be too expensive. Moreover, it did not appear appropriate in the long term as the external recruits were not familiar with (and/or committed to) the organization itself. For them, branch management in BANK was often a brief career step between two positions elsewhere. Internal candidates could also be evaluated more accurately; based on their firm-specific employment history. By 1992, the bank's personnel department was systematically looking for internal candidates, regardless of sex, and training them for branch management through a planned development programme (the other lines of business in BANK run their own trainee programmes).

It may also be argued that the control systems introduced in BANK since 1990 - in principle, making the financial performance of each organizational unit more transparent - provided 'objective' evidence of the irrelevance of the sex of the branch manager in relation to producing results. In fact, it could now be noted that the few branches in retail banking managed by women operated profitably.

In 1993, a foreign bank bought a share holding of just over 50 percent in BANK. The previous main owners maintained a minority share of approximately 25 percent each. From their point of view, the need of additional operating capital and a foreign cooperation partner were decisive for the sale of shares. Finally, it may be noted that the restructurings taking place in BANK since 1986 occurred in parallel to an eventual increase in its financial performance. While the bank was unable to pay dividends to its shareholders in 1986-1993, since 1994 it has been able to do this. The direct intervention of the foreign bank has been relatively moderate.

The system and the prevalence of young women. The systemization of internal scanning for promising individuals within BANK mirrors itself in how the careers of the present female branch managers have unfolded. Of the nine women we interviewed, for example, six had received their first branch manager position in BANK within the period 1995-1998. With one exception, these women are now in their early thirties. They were systematically trained

for the branch manager job. Because of recent positive personal experiences, they assess the deliberate and active personnel policy of BANK in a favourable light: both for their own career development and for increasing the career possibilities of women in general.

With an academic degree, Gabriele is an exception in branch management in BANK (the fact that she had completed two years of bank training before her studies was, however, a crucial prerequisite for recruitment). She attended the academic apprenticeship programme of BANK, spent brief spells as an advisor to wealthy private customers and as an officer in a credit unit, and received her first own 'shop' in 1997 after a total of three years with the bank. In effect, then, she was a product of internal scanning:

"I have been supported by my superiors, also perhaps just because I am a woman. [...] [...] In any case, they try to recruit internally. It makes no difference whether you're a man or a woman. Women will be treated fairly if they show the respective managerial potential and so on.. [...] This I can say for my superiors at least."

The young female branch managers also stress their own personal initiative and activity. Hannelore has been employed by BANK since 1986 (joining at the age of 19), and was first appointed branch manager in 1996. She worked her way up the ladder through jobs as clerk, credit officer, and advisor for private customers before taking part in the bank's internal trainee programme and receiving her first branch:

"You must always look for vacancies. Nothing ever happens by itself. You have to keep looking. Thus, to simply give a hint during the regular evaluation interview is not enough. [...] You really have to demand it, or to repeat again and again what you would like to do."

In filling managerial positions within the bank, however, our young female branch manager respondents point out that the possibility of a career break still has an indirect influence. There seems to be two typical ways to interpret personal experience and that of others. The first interpretation is that of cynical realism. Hannelore explains:

"As I mentioned earlier, there is always the question 'will she be pregnant or not?' if a woman is put into a position of responsibility and stress (i.e. branch manager). At my age (31), in particular. [...] A young man who is equally qualified in their (i.e. the decision makers') view, and about the same age, may then be preferred. This is because they don't need to worry that he drops out for biological reasons, for which nothing can be done really. I have told them very honestly in my (recruitment) interview that I do not want to have children within the next five years; just in case this should be an argument. They looked at me wide-eyed, and I said that you have definitely been waiting for this statement."

The second interpretation is that of competence-emphasizing. Gabriele's comment demonstrates that the undertone is yet similar:

"The danger that someone will move away in his or her mid-30s, be it a woman because of child rearing or a man because of a new position, is likely to be fifty/fifty. This is how it was expressed by my superior, too. You would not get offered a branch manager position at 29 or 30, if the superior was expecting you to drop out in one or two years. As I mentioned already, people get appointed to this position rather independently of their sex. It is achievements and sales orientation that count. By and large, we're all sales people. And we have to produce results. To match these criteria is more important than whether you're going to drop out in two or three years time."

As indicated above, the branch manager in BANK has become a coach whose task is to actively 'build up a team' in the local unit, to solve conflicts and to support his/her staff in its professional development. These changes in the role of the branch manager are at present also visible in the physical conditions of the workplace; the manager no longer sits in an office of his/her own but has, as the other employees do, a desk on the shop floor. Gabriele explains her present role:

"My predecessor was not a very team-oriented leader. This, of course, did not always go down very well (with the staff) - sitting on your high horse and trying to delegate all the unpleasant trifling things. Therefore, it was also something new for the staff that I am one of them. I am also a specialist (Sachbearbeiter). I actually know my way around in all areas - and can talk to the staff on the smallest detail. [...] Therefore, it was from the beginning a positive development in the sense that the staff have realised that I do not look down on them. I do not just sit back and be the king and wait until my underlings come to me. I have just endeavoured myself to make progress with sales, be a role model. In this way, it is also much easier to understand each other as a team."

As a follow-up to the development since 1990, finding individuals with the above qualities to the branch manager positions became increasingly important in BANK in 1997-1998, when so-called advisory centres were set up. The asset management related advice for wealthy private customers is no longer carried out in the branches. The needs of this customer segment, requiring specialized expert knowledge, is now served in the advisory centres (who are now also responsible for lending to SMEs). The establishment of these units was carried out using external consultants. The advisory centres have become the key in pursuing BANK's Allfinanz strategy. Most of the branch managers who had previously been in charge of the customer segments in question were transferred to managerial (or advisory) positions in the advisory centres. In the hierarchy of the bank, the managers of these units are on the same level as the branch group manager. There are no women in these positions in BANK'S 18 advisory centres, nor on the next managerial level down the line.

There are two further elements which have recently contributed to the changing nature of everyday life in the branches of BANK. Firstly, there are typically fewer people to do the job. Since 1990, cuts in staff have in some units been dramatic. For example, one of our respondents is at present managing a

branch of six employees, whereas her male predecessor had 28 employees in the same facilities prior to the 1990 restructuring (the figures also reflect a downgrading of the unit). Secondly, there has been a recent increase in the number of customers served. A cost-free account for private customers was introduced by BANK in early 1996 to attract customer relationships which can be further developed in line with the Allfinanz concept. This product has been a success, and the work load has thereby become heavier. The total number of private customers in the bank more than doubled in the course of 18 months in 1997-1998. One sales campaign follows the other.

Gerda was first promoted to branch management in 1995 when she was already in her mid-fourties. She describes her experience and observations:

"A woman as branch manager is not so rare in BANK after all, but this is only because in principle nobody wants to be a branch manager anymore. This is a backbreaking job. [...] There has been a recent change. This is indicated in the internal job announcements. They are searching for branch managers with no end in sight. This is also one reason why women are put there. [...] You must also look at the salaries of the female branch managers, in comparison to the salaries of their male counterparts. The salaries are different, although they run a similar branch. [...][...] One reason is that they pay the men coming from the outside better. Another reason is that the men from within have their informal networks."

In sum, the (local) branches ever more clearly deal with the day-to-day business of the private customer-related mass market. Once again, social competence has gained relatively in importance for the (local) branch manager job. And once again, there is a shortage of candidates. The demand exceeds the internal supply. Even though our respondents typically feel comfortable with the re-defined branch manager position, and although the branches they manage have in general been profitable, they express dissatisfaction with the relative standing of the job within BANK. "We must find the incentive from the work itself", as Gabriele remarked. Hannelore is also concerned about the ostensibility of women's recent advancement:

"What I feel ... annoyed about is that, yes, you get the position; but I really consider myself an upgraded customer advisor. This is because I work so much as a specialist. Actually, they (i.e. superiors) only need someone who takes the blame (for a particular unit). The acceptance is really not there. What I think is that to the outside they (superiors) save face, following the motto '...I already have eight women in my region who are branch managers'. However, how they behave towards them (i.e. female managers) is something else."

While the overall distribution between the sexes in the total personnel of BANK is 50-50, women constitute approximately 15 percent of all managerial positions. Our respondents are typically in charge of branches with fewer than 10 employees. This corresponds to the overall situation of female branch managers in BANK; the larger units are managed by men. Moreover, only one

of our respondents is in charge of a branch with an equal share of female and male subordinates. All others have no men working for them, or have only one. This, again, seems to correspond to the overall situation in the bank; women tend to manage other women. It is important to simultaneously note that in aggregate, there is only a slight female majority among clerical personnel in retail banking. Male clerks tend to be distributed evenly within the different lines of business, while women are especially concentrated in branch banking as well as the clearing centres constituting of routine, low-skill jobs.

In contrast to formalized personnel policy, our respondents gauge formal equal opportunity measures rather sceptically. Similarly, the respondents seem to trivialize specific women's networks within the bank. Female colleagues are considered important partners for discussion in everyday working life, but the support of male superiors is crucial for the individuals' future career development. Our younger informants in particular underlined the need to be acknowledged for personal competence rather than networking:

"In my mind, to take an eye for an eye is pointless. [...] I would support that if I didn't have any other choice. Because then I would place myself on the same level as they do, and I don't actually want to do this. It means that I want to be accepted because of my achievements, not because I ally with others in order to achieve specific goals. [...] Sometimes it is rather useful to exchange experiences with other women. There is nothing wrong with that. But not in this extreme version. I wouldn't like it."

None of our branch manager respondents between 30-35 years of age had children at the time of the interviews. The young women yet give consideration to ways through which to combine the life spheres of work and family. The decisive problem for them seems to lie in the temporal workload in branch management in general, and with respect to the opening hours in particular. Karin received her first own 'shop' in early 1998:

"If I may say so; if you have a family, kids and so on, a branch manager position is not scheduled for you in our bank. Not yet, anyway. In terms of a part-time position, for example. With our opening hours - I do not know whether you are aware of this you simply cannot have that. It's not possible. [...] It is simply not a position for a mother, if you come home three times per week at eight or half past eight in the evening."

Incidentally, the present office hours in BANK include two days when the branches are open until 6.30 p.m, on other days doors are closed at either 3 p.m. or 4 p.m.. Many of our respondents pointed out part-time work as a potential personal solution to combining child rearing and work. A specialist position (Sachbearbeiter) within the bank seems to be an option where an opportunity to work part time is envisaged. Even in this hypothetical case resistance by superiors is expected.

It is evident that because the young female branch managers at present find no possibility for a reduction in their working hours, they postpone the idea of having children. The respondents indicate that they are planning to stay put for at least the next few years; either because they have spent a lot of time and energy in establishing their present position and/or because they have only recently taken it over. One of the young women has since the interview given birth to her first child. She is on her leave now, and will not return to a branch manager position. Rather, she will begin working part-time in a specialist job.

In contrast to the young women, two of our three respondents in their late fourties or early fifties have children. Taking up part-time work played a role for both of them in staying in touch with bank work while their children were young. Helga returned to BANK on a part-time basis when her youngest child started kindergarten. She was assigned a clerical job at the bookkeeping department, and had to fight the resistance of her superior to be able to be in contact with customers. Gerda already had a highly qualified specialist job (corporate advisor in a credit unit) when her child was born. She received a lot of help from her superior in getting her old job back on a part-time basis. However, they had to fight together to overcome the resistance of the bank's work council:

"It is important for your career development to keep on being gainfully employed (even with small children). I made a compromise, stating that I would work only five hours a day so that I can combine both spheres of life. In the end, it was possible. My boss was very cooperative, but he had problems with the work council. The decision to allow me to work part-time was made at the last minute on the last day of my maternity leave. [...] Also, the credit unit was at that time a very male-dominated area. [...] It is only during the last couple of years that things have changed; that women have had the possibility to get in."

Up-and-coming women must also fight to 'be accepted' by the older (male) customers in particular. Many customers are still astonished not to find an experienced man with a dark suit in charge. The apparent reluctance of wealthy male clients to do business with women may then be used by decision-makers in the bank to justify not choosing female managers outside the mass market segment.

Personal interests and experiences in everyday working life are reflected in how our female respondents in branch management view their future career. It seems evident that they have no explicitly expressed ambitions to climb onto the next hierarchical level in the organization; to become a manager of a group of branches, for example. The women indicate a preference for changing into a larger branch office or for taking on a specialist position. The reluctance to seek a branch group manager position is at least partly related to its task profile. The respondents fear a loss of customer contact, an element of bank

work which they particularly value. Some raise doubts about the satisfaction in doing the 'strategic thinking' that is required higher up, in contrast to 'translating the strategies into action'. Moreover, the bank's policy of not appointing branch group managers from within the same group is likely to combine promotion with mobility.

There are also very few examples of successful women on higher management levels in BANK. Out of a total of 23 branch groups in BANK in 1998, two are managed by a woman. There are no women on the regional manager level. This is regarded as evidence for the fact that it is difficult for women to find support for climbing onto the upper echelons of the organization. And a mentor is still required in the present hierarchy. Hannelore points out:

"To be promoted further, that is difficult. Much more difficult than to get to this level. [...] You always need somebody to support you. And there must be somebody up there who dares (to appoint a woman higher up). [...] (Prejudice) is not conscious. Rather, it is subconscious. For example, considering men stronger and more pushy, or women fragile and 'irrational'. I think these generalizations are still alive in the subconscious."

Moreover, a move up the hierarchy in BANK is typically viewed by our branch manager respondents to indicate more pressure and more 'acceptance work', leaving little time for private life. This is somewhat paradoxical, given the pressures life in the branches has been recently subject to. On the one hand, the branch unit in BANK has over the years become to resemble a profit centre; the branch manager is now - within a pre-defined framework - visibly responsible for the costs and returns of his/her unit. On the other hand, new control systems introduced simultaneously allow for more detailed control of individual branches, per se and in relation (i.e. competition) to each other.

Our top management respondents typically suggest a three-fold explanation for the still modest representation of women on the branch group manager level. Firstly, the link with the received view on women's domestic role - as wives and mothers - is inescapable. The possibility of women combining family life and management at the upper echelons is deemed impossible in the present circumstances (e.g. working hours etc.). Top managers expect women to decide whether they want to have children or not, and by the time they do so "for sure" (towards their late 30s) equally qualified men have possibly already been promoted. In this perspective, also childless women face constraints in career mobility due to their perceived obligations as wives. Secondly, and relatedly, top managers stress women's "lack of interest" in higher-level positions - again, due to their family obligations. Thirdly, the fact remains that the majority of women in branch management are relatively young and have only reached their present positions during the last few years: "we have to wait

and see". In view of the above, top managers only predict a slight increase in the proportion of women above branch management.

The most recent developments in BANK indicate both an ever more strengthened position of the private customer segment and a formalized reestablishment of formal, hierarchical distinctions within the branch management level. Dr. Y resigned as CEO of BANK in 1997. He was replaced by Mr. Z, director of the retail banking business line in the bank since 1991 and a recently appointed deputy CEO.

During the 1990s, retail banking - particularly with wealthy private customers - has become increasingly significant for generating BANK's income. At the same time, for example, there has been a significant reduction in the volume of lending to corporate customers. Even though real estate and institutional banking have also been profitable, these lines of business are too small to be able to contribute significantly to the bank's overall performance. At present, private customers account for approximately 70 percent of the bank's returns. Still today, external recruitment of branch managers is necessary because it is considered that there is a lack of potential, qualified internal candidates. Experience in a credit officer position remains a necessary precondition, on top of social competence and sales orientation.

The top management in BANK have decided to rank the retail banking branches in the near future; according to number of employees, customers and amount of return. The resemblance to the pre-1990 main branch - local branch distinction is obvious. The new hierarchy, however, distinguishes between three types of branch; initially termed A, B, and C branches. All three branch types provide the same services. Moreover, branch managers in all types of branch carry out similar tasks. The managerial positions in A-branches, however, will again receive the previous status symbols (e.g. company car and secretary), and thus will - at least on the surface - correspond once again to the image of the traditional bank director. The managers of B-branches will in practice remain on the present level. Managerial positions in C-branches - typically peripheral units in cities - will become further downgraded in the future. One of our top management respondents points out that in terms of career structure, the idea is that branch managers should start at a C-branch and then gradually make their way up to an A-branch. Susanne speculates:

"The role of the branch manager will change completely for the new people coming in. I think it is a pity that it has developed this way. [...] The tasks are becoming less diverse. The prerequisites for the present branch managers were a trainee period after university or a professional examination at the Bankakademie. Future branch managers don't need such qualifications (the official policy of the bank, however, still

states otherwise). All they really need is social competence and an ability to sell well."

An analysis recently carried out by a consultancy firm concluded that BANK is unable to improve its financial performance through increased profits. Rather, intensive further cost reductions are required.

6.2. From Feminization to Gendering: Some German Explanations

Individual skills and credentials. Our respondents in the first wave of female branch managers in BANK typically attribute their own personal firm-internal career advancement to a mix of traits. Firstly, our respondents stress that they have gathered the necessary credentials and qualifications, typically including vocational training within the bank. For the younger women in particular two further qualifications are crucial; experience as advisors for wealthy private customers and/or as credit officers in the prestigious (and for a long time maledominated) credit units, and the professional examinations completed after further training at the Bankakademie. Secondly, our respondents are confident in that their social skills enable them to be successful in 'building up a team' and in putting the bank's sales strategies into action. The former in particular is perceived as a specifically female competence, and a crucial personal trait for promotion to branch management. Thirdly, our respondents underline that throughout their employment career they have been active in indicating that they are prepared for more challenging assignments. The annual evaluation interviews are only one occasion for articulating one's personal ambitions. In most cases, a supportive superior became a necessary precondition for career progression.

Gendered demands (of reforms) and the female supply. Linking feminization of branch management in BANK with organizational reforms suggests that women's larger-scale entry into these positions coincides with the strategy of divisionalization, customer segmentation and downsizing implemented since 1990. Traditionally, the image of the (main) branch manager in BANK corresponded to the picture of the typical bank director in German banking, well paid and vested with a secretary and company car. In contrast to the aborted restructuring of 1986, the far-reaching reform of 1990 in practice initiated a change in the way the position of branch manager in retail banking was formulated by the strategists and perceived by its contemporary holders (cf. Reskin and Roos, 1990; Bird, 1990; Maile, 1995). The recent increase in the number of women in branch management within BANK seems to have unfolded in two stages.

The first stage was an outcome of the 1990 reform in BANK, albeit taking place with a lag. The reform was initiated to further the bank's attempts to change from a 'credit-oriented corporate customer bank' towards an emphasis on private customers. It created a lot of turmoil and unrest among, in particular, managers of the previous main branches who were relegated to the same level with the managers of the former local branches. The assessment centre procedure turned out to be controversial. Many pre-1990 branch managers perceived the changes as downgrading. Since retail banking did not have a high profile within BANK until some time later, the branches' new focus on this segment as a result of the 1990 restructuring went hand in hand with a perceived, continued loss in the status of the branch manager position. The (local) branch manager is no longer an authoritative figure, but much more strongly integrated into the everyday work within the unit.

On the one hand, there was an urgent demand for new blood in branch management within BANK. External recruitment soon became necessary. The top decision-makers perceived that young men were likely to be able to cope with the exhausting, psychologically stressful and time-consuming assignment that the branch manager position had now become. At the same time, they possessed the necessary credential of credit officer experience. For them, becoming branch manager was a step in personal career development - and many subsequently left the organization to (re)join one of the large commercial banks. On the other hand, the ranking of the branch manager position within the career structure of BANK was now changing. In the past, managing a main branch, for example, was considered as a comparatively high position which individuals would only reach rather late in their career. Branch management was now shifting towards an entry position (in the larger units especially, it is still today an attractive career step for young men). These developments triggered feminization. In the early 1990s, a small number of women with long experience within the bank gained access to (local) branch manager positions which had, in practice, previously remained out of their reach.

It is thus significant to note that within BANK women were not, in the first instance, considered possible candidates for branch management. When the 1990 reform gained momentum, and the bank was searching for individuals who could make the new sales strategy work in the branches, it appeared natural for the higher level managers that these positions should be filled with men. This was the case even if a premium had to be paid to attract candidates from other banks. It was only after these young men from the outside proved to be too expensive and too mobile, using BANK as a springboard for their personal career advancement, that women entered the focus of attention. In effect, then, they were viewed as a 'second choice' by the personnel management in BANK. They were the activated reserve.

At second stage, a more radical increase of women's influx to branch management seems to have taken place in BANK in 1995-1998. Here, it was predominantly childless women in their early thirties who prevailed. These individuals benefited from the introduction of systematic internal scanning of potential candidates for managerial positions and from the subsequent trainee programme which had now also become sensitive to the potential of female candidates. In general, unprecedented access for women to training took place first and access to lower tiers of management later. The majority of our young respondents progressed via short steps as advisors for wealthy customers and/or as credit officers. Whereas the first women to be promoted to branch management in BANK obtained the necessary qualifications over a long period of time in the course of which they were exposed to various forms of overt discrimination (cf. Crompton and Sanderson, 1986), the young women that followed came up to this hierarchical level through rather short and purposefully directed career steps.

The attractiveness of the (local) branch manager position per se deteriorated further in BANK in 1997-1998 when specific advisory centres for wealthy private customers were set up. These customers were picked out of the branches and concentrated in the new units. The tasks in branch management became even more standardized. Again, reform coincided with feminization. This time there was no lag in feminization. A first cohort of internally trained female candidates were now available, and the proportion of women in branch management reached an all-time high. However, it is important to note that women are still mostly given responsibility for branches which throughout organizational reforming have been considerably scaled down. Moreover, women seem to almost exclusively manage branches where the staff predominantly consists of women. The gendered implications of the envisaged reestablishment of an explicit hierarchy within branch management (through the introduction of A-, B- and C-branches) remain to be seen. It seems, however, an attempt to reinforce hierarchical career paths in order to improve the attractiveness of the lowest positions for young men in particular.

Gender (re)segregation. Overall, from a purely equality perspective, women's increased access to branch management in BANK represents an improvement over the past. However, the discussion above suggests that an increase in the representation of women in this organizational level coincided with a creation and reproduction of a new form of segregation according to gender (cf. Tienari, forthcoming). Women are still largely excluded from the management of units for wealthy private customers as well as corporate and institutional customers within BANK. Furthermore, our respondents indicate that when contrasted with reaching a branch manager position, climbing up to the next hierarchical level (branch group) within the retail banking line of

business entails a different game with a different set of rules. This game is visibly kept out of the reach of women.

Making a 'traditional' upward mobile bureaucratic career is further complicated by the persistent difficulties of women to balance the employment/family interface in the German society. Women are socialized to choose one over the other. On the one hand, for example, instead of accommodating the combination of work and family (e.g. through re-entry schemes possibly accompanied with flexible, individual working time scheme solutions), it is taken for granted in BANK that women are to give up the branch manager job when they have children.

On the other hand, our young female branch manager respondents typically postpone having children. They either consider a job move to an expert position with better possibilities for part-time work or have vague hopes for more 'family-friendly' working time arrangements in branch management itself. Finally, top managers' perceptions of women's obligations as wives and mothers still seem to form a decisive barrier for their further upward mobility in the hierarchy.

7. CONCLUSIONS

Through a cross-national comparative framework, we set out to analyze in two ways the gendered effects of organizational reforms characterized by downsizing. Firstly, we specified the link between reforming and shifts in women's positioning within bureaucratic hierarchies in business firms, with particular reference to lower and middle management. Secondly, we examined this link further, and revealed the reproduction of gender segregation involved in the process.

There are two points of entry in our research. On the one hand, the widely accepted view that "unless restructuring involves an expansion of managerial positions it is likely to disadvantage women managers" (Woodall et al, 1997: 2). On the other hand, the argument that specific forms of restructuring - even with reductive elements - in fact promote feminization of middle management positions, albeit as a reflection of a development that reproduces gender segregation in new forms (Tienari, forthcoming). The latter point has emerged from a comparison of firms in fundamentally similar societies, namely Finland and Sweden. We took a step further by comparing firms embedded in societies with apparently very different, historically constituted structures and practices of

gender relations and, consequently, women's labour market positions relative to men. Findings from a Finnish - German comparison of branch management in banking are reported here.

During the period examined (from the early 1980s to 1998), our Finnish and German case banks demonstrated similar top-down managerial actions. They introduced versions of a divisionalized organizational structure based on segmentation by customer-type and specialization of managerial work. In both cases, an integral part of the reforming came to be downsizing, both in the number of personnel and in the size and shape of the domestic service network. In the Finnish cases, this was particularly due to a rapid, drastic decrease in financial performance, following a period of exploratory expansion. In the German case, this was due to poor financial performance triggering a repositioning of the bank within its field. In both cases, one of the content elements in the reforming was a reorganizing of the local branches; forcing a newly defined focus on the mass market of private customers, in contrast to the traditional full-service model available to all customer segments. At different speeds and to a different extent (cf. pre-merger differences between the two Finnish banks), services for corporate and wealthy private customers were removed from the branches and concentrated in newly established, specialized units.

Both in Finland and in Germany, organizational reforming was inextricably linked with a feminization trend in local branch management. *Our research suggests two crucial points*. Firstly, there seems to be a common fundamental mechanism in operation. Secondly, this mechanism manifests itself in a variety of forms; due to societal and firm-specific particularities intertwining in how top managers utilize symbolically feminine qualities as an organizational resource, and due to societal differences in how ways for coping with the employment/family interface in particular are laid out for women.

Firstly, narrowing the scope of tasks and downgrading customer-related decision-making authority led to a decline in social influence and an erosion of the status of the local branch manager position within the banks (cf. Reskin and Roos, 1990; Bird, 1990; Tienari, forthcoming). In the Finnish case, it consequently became peripheral as a career step for further upward mobility. In the German case, it shifted towards an entry position which, although now unattractive for experienced male bankers, still appears attractive for young men on the move within - and between - bank organizations. In both cases, the desirability of the position changed relative to other positions, and women covered the demand when the male supply seemed to be drying up.

The symbolically assigned set of 'feminine' qualities suitable for the redefined branch manager role appears in both our Finnish and German cases as an active, subject-like mode. The common denominators are sales-orientation and organizing skills. In the Finnish case, such qualities continue to be subordinated to 'masculine' strategic thinking and, per se, become trivial with regard to moving up the hierarchy in retail banking or switching over to other divisions within the organization. In the German case, the explanation related to qualifications is less marked. It is top decision-makers' perceptions of women's obligations as wives and mothers that continue to serve as a barrier for their upward mobility in the hierarchy. In both banks, the large-scale female entry into middle management has been restricted to one cluster only.

The perceptions and consequent actions of the previous holders of the branch manager positions were instrumental to the initial larger-scale rise in the proportion of women. These perceptions and actions were characterized by discontent and eventual mobility. Rather than being a consequence of the uncoupling of skill from authority (cf. Savage, 1992), then, the initial feminization seems to have been due to a more visible ranking of skills (and related authority) and an uncoupling of high- and low-ranked skills (and related authority) into separate managerial jobs⁸. Segregation according to gender was reproduced, albeit with a different phenotype. A *common mechanism* is evident between the Finnish and German cases.

Our comparison confirms the suggestion that segregation according to gender is a self-fulfilling process. On the whole, it is evident that men abandon less 'desirable jobs' leaving them to the care of women, and are better equipped to track down the newly desirable jobs. The newly desirable jobs in turn present opportunities to gain the managerial credentials that are, at each point in time, considered crucial for further vertical career mobility in the firm. (Cf. Tienari, forthcoming; see also Bird, 1990)

Secondly, there is an apparent divergence between our Finnish and German cases in the degree of eventual increased female representation in branch management. The Finnish figures for 1998 appear more dramatic, the German more moderate. In the light of the literature on the distinct differences of the two societies in relation to gendered labour market regimes (and to the gendered constitution of the sectors in question), this is expected rather than surprising. However, when applied individually, neither the literature on

In the German case, the core of authority and status shifted in line with the bank's newly defined strategic focus - and the reforms implemented - from corporate customers to the wealthy private customer segment. In the Finnish case, the core seems to have remained attached to corporate customers, the target segment in Kansallis' 1988 reform, for example, and the major competence area in Merita Bank.

gendered labour market regimes nor the organizationally-informed fundamental mechanism outlined above fully explain differences between the case banks in the form the feminization took within restructuring. Accounting for these differences in form also enables a more comprehensive analysis of the difference in degree.

There were differences in the immediacy of women's initial larger-scale prevalence in branch management. After the radical reforms in the aggressive Finnish Kansallis, shop level female supervisors emerged relatively soon as 'natural' choices to take over branch manager positions (in the more cautious Finnish UBF, reforms were less radical in the domestic service network, and feminization emerged less pronouncedly). After the merger between the two banks, female representation in the Helsinki region immediately reached an alltime high. In contrast, in the aftermath of the radical reform within the BANK in Germany, women were not readily considered possible candidates for branch management. Women only prevailed as a second choice, after external male recruitment failed to provide a steady supply. In the first stage, a small number of experienced women gained access to local branch manager positions. After formalized trainee programmes specifically targeted at filling these positions had been set up, and the system had produced a pool of potential female candidates (in parallel to a male majority), a second, more pronounced stage of feminization materialized. This coincided with further segmentation measures changing the task profile of the local branch manager job.

It seems that for top managers in the Finnish banks, the threshold to give women a 'chance' in the newly formulated branch manager positions - when the male supply initially did not match the demand - was relatively low. Many had already made it to levels immediately below branch management. Moreover, the decisions did not upset a fundamental characteristic of the society; "women can do anything, as long as they do it in relative subordination to men" (Rantalaiho, 1997: 20). The top management in Germany were more reluctant to appoint women. There was what we term a *societal lag*. On the one hand, this may be related to the prevalence of conservative views about family and providership in the society in general. With their perceived handicaps, women were disregarded until other available options failed to satisfy the demand. On the other hand, it seems that there was no preceding, large-scale entry of women to supervisory and assistant manager positions when the turnover in branch management accelerated in the early 1990s (regrettably there is no statistical evidence available here).

As the feminine, symbolic stereotype nurtured in our case banks is specified further, more differences are evident. In Finland, women gained access to grassroots-level positions which were crucial in regard to the downsizing

measures. For example, a number of female managers in Kansallis excelled in running down and amalgamating branches already during the initial stages of the rationalization process in the early 1990s. When organizational cultures were attempted to be integrated in parallel to a harsh policy of reducing personnel in the Merita merger, a large number of women were assigned the role of local trouble-shooters in delicate and demanding social settings. They often negotiated and decided, in practice, which of the employees were to be dismissed. Within the German BANK, on the other hand, the female managers in the branches seem to have remained mere recipients of top-down schemes for downsizing. The branches they were assigned to manage were typically already trimmed down, the staff dismissals could be carried out by 'natural attrition', or their immediate superiors made the actual choices.

The feminine mould in Finnish banking thus seems to include a dimension alien to the German; women are considered both capable and suitable for making tough people-related decisions. This may be seen to reflect the dominant gender role model in the society in general. Given the fact that the clerical personnel in the branches of Finnish banks are almost exclusively women, success in handling social problems may once again be working to reproduce established segregation lines. Women's managerial capabilities come to be increasingly attributed to leading other women. The stereotypical 'care-taker' mould (cf. Aaltio-Marjosola and Jacobson, 1998) fulfils itself.

Finally, despite the shared stereotype of sales-orientation and organizing skills, there were distinct differences between our Finnish and German case banks in relation to which type of women prevailed in the initial larger-scale feminization of branch management. In Finland, female branch managers are a mixed group. A major part of the first wave, however, seem to have received the job at a relatively advanced age; typically after a long employment history with practically no formal hierarchical advancement until supervisory jobs were 'officialized' in the early 1980s. During the segmentation reforms, they were in the right place, at the right time, with the right traits. From a top management perspective, the female branch managers with experience and competence in dealing with private customers continue to be a crucial resource - in their present positions, the aggregate number of which is likely to continue to decrease. From the perspective of the inviduals in question, the majority are comfortably plateaued. Comfortably in the sense that being a branch manager was more than they had expected in the first place; plateaued in the sense that becoming an adequate organizational performer (Acker, 1994) at one time seems to have backfired for them. Branch management has become an 'iron cage' of security and entrapment (cf. Morley, 1994). Those with upward aspirations are stuck.

In Germany, it seems that predominantly childless women in their early thirties were appointed to local branch management during the crucial, second stage of feminization. From a top management perspective, these women are providing continuity in managerial positions where the focus is on the mass market of private customers. Despite the perceived risk of dropping out due to child birth, top managers rely on women not to actively aspire further career mobility. They are perceived more likely to 'stay put' than their young male counterparts (the received view seems that the men require incentives beyond the work itself). It is tempting to argue that the bank would not have been able to push the concept of segmentation as far as it eventually did if the top managers had not discovered and activated women as a resource. From an individual perspective, it seems evident that the young female managers are concretely faced with the profound dilemma provided by the German society for its women; whether 'moral' (cf. Pfau-Effinger, 1998) or more financial by nature. To combine having children and making a traditional, upward-mobile bureaucratic career is virtually impossible. Even if the women make a personal choice favouring continuous employment, the persistently gendered career structures within the bank - rooted in fundamental societal characteristics - render them stuck.

Our evidence and analysis indicate that processes of organizational reform - or, as termed in popular discourse, of organizational change - cannot be fully understood without reference to their gendered underpinnings (cf. Lewis and Morgan, 1994). However, the multiplicity of ways through which women are 'used' as a managerial resource in securing the implementation of reforms and restructurings needs to be researched further. This 'usage' seems to lie at the border of intentionality and unintentionality.

REFERENCES

- Aaltio-Marjosola, I. and Jacobson, S.W. (1998) Using Q-Methodology in Cross-Cultural Research: Contextualizing Gender, Experience of Women Managers and 'Scripts' of Career. Paper presented to the 14th EGOS Colloquium, Maastricht, the Netherlands, July 9-11.
- Acker, J. (1990) Hierarchies, Jobs, Bodies: A Theory of Gendered Organizations. *Gender and Society* 4, 139-158.
- Acker, J. (1992) Gendering Organizational Theory. In *Gendering Organizational Analysis*, eds. A.J. Mills and P. Tancred. Sage Publications, Newbury Park, CA.
- Acker, J. (1994) The Gender Regime of Swedish Banks. *Scandinavian Journal of Management* 10, 117-130.
- Acker, J. and Van Houten, D.R. (1974) Differential Recruitment and Control: The Sex Structuring of Organizations. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 19, 152-63.
- Adler, N.J. and Izraeli, D. (1994) *Competitive Frontiers: Women Managers in a Global Economy*. Blackwell, Cambridge, MA.
- Alvesson, M. and Due Billing, Y. (1992) Gender and Organization: Towards a Differentiated Understanding. *Organization Studies* 13, 73-103.
- Arbeitgeberverband des privaten Bankgewerbes (1997). Bericht 1996/1997. Köln.
- Bacharach, S.B., Bamberger, P. and Sonnenstuhl, W.J. (1996) The Organizational Transformation Process: The Micropolitics of Dissonance Reduction and the Alignment of Logics of Action. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 41, 477-506.
- Baethge, M. and Oberbeck, (1986) Zukunft der Angestellten. Campus, Frankfurt/New York.
- Baier, V.E., March, J.G. and Saetren, H. (1986) Implementation and Ambiguity. *Scandinavian Journal of Management Studies*, May, 197-212.
- Baumeister, H. (1994) Transition to Working Life for Young Women in the Federal Republic of Germany. In *Women and Markets*, eds P. Koistinen and I. Ostner. University of Tampere Work Research Centre publications 13/1994.
- Bird, C. (1990) High Finance, Small Change: Women's Increased Representation in Bank Management. In *Job Queues, Gender Queues*, eds B. Reskin and P. Roos. Temple University Press, Philadelphia.
- BIS (1996) Bank of International Settlements 66th Annual Report. Basle, Switzerland.
- Breidenstein, W. (1997) Beschäftigte Im Öffentlichen Dienst am 30. Juni 1995. Wirtschaft und Statistik 3, 180-186.
- Brunsson, N. (1989) Administrative Reforms as Routines. *Scandinavian Journal of Management* 5, 219-228.
- Brunsson, N. and Olsen, J.P. (1994) The Reforming Organization. Routledge, London.
- Bryman, A. (1989) Research Methods and Organization Studies: Contemporary Social Research 20. Unwin Hyman, London.

- Bryson, L., Bittman, M. and Donath, S. (1994) Men's Welfare State, Women's Welfare State: Tendencies to Convergence in Practice and Theory? In *Gendering Welfare States*, ed D. Sainsbury. Sage Publications, London.
- Calas, M.B. and Smircich, L. (1991) Voicing Seduction to Silence Leadership. *Organization Studies* 12, 567-602.
- Calas, M.B. and Smircich, L. (1996) From 'The Woman's' Point of View: Feminist Approaches to Organization Studies. In *Handbook of Organization Studies*, eds S. Clegg, C. Hardy and W. Nord. Sage Publications, Newbury Park, CA.
- Chafetz, J.S. and Hagan, J. (1996) The Gender Division of Labor and Family Change in Industrial Societies: A Theoretical Accounting. *Journal of Contemporary Family Studies* 27, 187-219.
- Cleveland, H. van B. and Huertas, T.F. (1985) *Citibank 1812-1970*. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Cockburn, C. (1991) In the Way of Women. Macmillan, London.
- Collinson, D., Knights, D. and Collinson, M. (1990) *Managing to Discriminate*. Routledge, London.
- Collinson, D. L. and Hearn, J. (eds) (1996) *Men as Managers, Managers as Men: Critical Perspectives on Men, Masculinities and Managements.* Sage, London.
- Connell, R.W. (1987) Gender and Power. Polity Press, Cambridge.
- Cromption, R. and Harris, F. (1997) Women's Employment and Gender Attitudes: A Comparative Analysis of Britain, Norway and the Czech Republic, *Acta Sociologica* 40, 183-202.
- Crompton, R. and Harris, F. (1998) Gender Relations and Employment: The Impact of Occupation. *Work, Employment and Society* 12, 297-315.
- Crompton, R. and Le Feuvre, N. (1992) Gender and Bureaucracy: Women in Finance in Britain and France. In *Gender and Bureaucracy*, eds M. Savage and A. Witz. Blackwell Publishers, Oxford.
- Crompton, R. and Sanderson, K. (1986) Credentials and Careers: Some Implications of the Increase in Professional Qualifications Among Women. *Sociology* 20, 25-42.
- Crompton, R. and Sanderson, K. (1990) *Gendered Jobs and Social Change*. Unwin Hyman, London.
- Cyert, R.M. and March, J.G. (1963) *A Behavioral Theory of the Firm*. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ.
- Czarniawska, B. and Sevon, G. (1996) Introduction. In *Translating Organizational Change*, eds B. Czarniawska and G. Sevon. Walter de Gruyter & Co, Berlin.
- Denzin, N. (1978) *The Research Act: A Theoretical Introduction to Sociological Method.* McGraw-Hill, New York.
- DiMaggio, P. and Powell, W.W. (1983) The Iron Cage Revisited: Institutional Isomorphism and Collective Rationality in Organizational Fields. *American Sociological Review* 35, 147-160.
- Duncan, S. (1998) Theorising Gender Systems in Europe. In *FrauenArbeitsMarkt*, eds B. Geisler, F. Maier and B. Pfau-Effinger. Edition Sigma, Berlin.

- Engelbrecht, G. (1991) Berufsbildung, Berufseinstieg und Berufsverlauf von Frauen. Mitteilungen aus der Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung Heft 3.
- Eriksson, K. (1994) *The Interrelatedness of Environment, Technology and Structure: A Study of Differentiation and Integration in Banking.* Uppsala University Department of Business Studies doctoral thesis no 54.
- Esping-Anderson, G. (1990) The Three Worlds of Welfare Capitalism. Longman, New York.
- European Union (1992) *Bulletin on Women and Employment in the EC*, 1, 1-7. European Commission, Brussels.
- Fagan, C. and O'Reilly, J. (1998) Conceptualizing Part-time Work: The Value of an Integrated Comparative Perspective. In *Part-time Prospects: An International Comparison of Part-time Work in Europe, North America and the Pasific Rim*, eds J. O'Reilly and C. Fagan. Routledge, London.
- Ferguson, K. E. (1984) *The Feminist Case Against Bureaucracy*. Temple University Press, Philadelphia.
- Figge, K. and Quack, S. (1990) Die Auswirkungen des europäischen Binnenmarktes 1992 auf die Beschäftigung von Frauen im Kreditgewerbe der BRD. WZB Discussion Paper FS I 90-15. Berlin.
- Finnish Bankers' Association (1997) Finnish Financial Markets. Painojussit, Kerava, Finland.
- Geissler, B. and Oechsle, M. (1990) Lebensplanung als Ressource im Individualisierungsprozeß. In *Statuspassagen und Risikolagen im Lebensverlauf*, ed Sonderforschungsbereich 186 der Universität Bremen, Arbeitspapier 10, Bremen.
- Gerlach, N. (1996) Review Article: The Business Restructuring Genre: Some Questions for Critical Organization Analyses. *Organization* 3, 425-438.
- Giddens, A. (1984) The Constitution of Society. Polity, Cambridge.
- Granovetter, M. (1985) Economic Action and Social Structure: the Problem of Embeddedness. *The American Journal of Sociology* 91, 481-510.
- Greenwood, R. and Hinings, C.R. (1996) Understanding Radical Organizational Change: Bringing Together the Old and the New Institutionalism. *Academy of Management Review* 21, 1022-1054.
- Gunz, H. (1989) The Dual Meaning of Managerial Careers: Organizational and Individual levels of Analysis. *Journal of Management Studies* 26, 225-250.
- Hadler, A. and Domsch, M. (1994) Frauen auf dem Weg in Spitzenpositionen der Wirtschaft? Aus Politik und Zeitgeschichte 6, 11-21.
- Halford, S. and Savage M. (1995) The Bureaucratic Career: Demise or Adaptation? In *Social Change and the Middle Classes*, eds T. Butler and M. Savage. UCL Press, Norwich, UK.
- Harre, R. and Secord, P.F. (1972) *The Explanation of Social Behaviour.* Basil Blackwell, Oxford.
- Hearn, J. and Parkin, P.W. (1983) Gender and Organizations: A Selective Review and a Critique of a Neglected Area. *Organization Studies* 4, 219-42.

- Heintz, B. and Nadei, E. (1998) Geschlecht und Kontext: De-Institutionalisierungsprozesse und Geschlechtliche Differenzierung. *Zeitschrift für Soziologie* 2, 75-93.
- Hirdmann, Y. (1988) Genussystemet reflexioner kring kvinnors sociala underordning. *Kvinnovetenskapligt Tidskrift* 3, 49-63.
- Hoffmann, U. (1987) Sind "die Damen in der Bank auf dem Vormarsch"? Frauenarbeit in der Bank seit 1950. In *Geldwelt. Volume 2,* ed C. Tatschmurat. Rainer Hampp Verlag, München.
- Jacobs, J.A. (1992) Women's Entry into Management: Trends in Earnings, Authority, and Values among Salaried Managers. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 37, 282-301.
- Jacobson, S.W. (1991) Careers in Cross-Cultural Context: Women Bank Managers in Finland and in the United States. University of Massachusetts Doctoral Dissertation. UMI, Ann Arbor.
- Jick, T.D. (1979) *Processes and Impact of a Merger: Individual & Organizational Prospectives.*Cornell University Doctoral Dissertation.
- Kanter, R.M. (1977) Men and Women of the Corporation. Basic Books, New York.
- Kanter, R.M., Stein, B.A. and Jick, T.D. (1992) *The Challenge of Organizational Change: How Experience It and Leaders Guide It.* The Free Press, USA.
- Keinänen, P. (1994) Gendered Wage Structures of the Finnish Labour Markets. In *Women and Markets*, eds P. Koistinen and I. Ostner. University of Tampere Work Research Centre publications 13/1994.
- Kerfoot, D. and Knights, D. (1993) Management, Masculinity and Manipulation: From Paternalism to Corporate Strategy in Financial Services in Britain. *Journal of Management Studies* 30, 659-677.
- Kotter, J.P. (1995) Leading Change: Why Transformation Efforts Fail. *Harvard Business Review* 73, 59-67.
- Kuusterä, A. (1995) Suomen Yhdys-Pankki syntyi kansanliikkeestä. *Helsingin Sanomat*, 21.3.1995.
- Lane, C. (1995) Gender and the Labour Market in Europe: Britain, Germany and France Compared. *International Journal of Sociology* 25, 8-38.
- Levinthal, D. (1994) Surviving Schumpeterian Environments: An Evolutionary Perspective. In *Evolutionary Dynamics of Organizations*, eds J.A.C. Baum and J.V. Singh. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Lewis, J. and Morgan D.H.J. (1994) Gendering Organizational Change: The Case of Relate, 1948-1990. *Human Relations* 47, 641-663.
- Maile, S. (1995) The Gendered Nature of Managerial Discourse: The Case of a Local Authority. *Gender, Work and Organization* 2, 76-87.
- March, J.G. (1981) Footnotes to Organizational Change. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 26, 563-577.
- March, J.G. (1991) Exploration and Exploitation in Organizational Learning. *Organization Science* 2, 71-87.

- March, J.G. (1995) The Future, Disposable Organizations and the Rigidities of Imagination. *Organization* 2, 427-440.
- March, J.G. and Olsen, J.P. (1975) The Uncertainty of the Past: Organizational Learning Under Ambiguity. *European Journal of Political Research* 3, 147-171.
- March, J.G. and Olsen, J.P. (1976) *Ambiguity and Choice in Organizations*. Universitetsforlaget, Bergen, Norway.
- March, J.G. and Simon, H.A. (1958) Organizations. John Wiley, New York.
- Marshall, J. (1984) Women Managers: Travellers in a Male World. Wiley and Sons, Chichester/New York.
- Martin, J. (1994) The Organization of Exclusion: Institutionalization of Sex Inequality, Gendered Faculty Jobs and Gendered Knowledge in Organizational Theory and Research. *Organization* 1, 401-431.
- Maurice, M., Sellier, F. and Silvestre, J-J. (1986) *The Social Foundations of Industrial Power: A Comparison of France and Germany*. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Miller, A.R. (1980) *Occupational Statistics and Labour Force Analysis*. Proceedings of the American Statistical Association, Social Statistics Section.
- Mills, A.J. and Tancred, P. (eds) (1992) *Gendering Organizational Analysis*. Sage, Newbury Park, CA.
- Millward, N. and Woodland, S. (1995) Gender Segregation and Male/Female Wage Differences. *Gender, Work and Organization* 2, 125-139.
- Morgan, G. and Knights, D. (1997) Regulation and Deregulation in European Financial Services. Macmillan Press, London.
- Morgan, G. and Sturdy, A. (1997) *Organisational Change and Managerial Discourse*. Paper presented to the 'Modes of Organizing' conference, University of Warwick, UK, April 3-4.
- Morgan, G. and Quack, S. (forthcoming) Confidence and Confidentiality: The Social Construction of Performance Standards in Banking. In *National Capitialisms, Global Competition and Economic Performance*, eds S. Quack, G. Morgan and R. Whitley. De Gruyter, New York.
- Morley, L. (1994) Glass Ceiling or Iron Cage: Women in UK Academia. *Gender, Work and Organization* 1, 194-204.
- Müller, M. (1997) Stability or Transformation of Employment Relations in German Banking. In *Financial Institutions and Social Transformations*, ed D. Knights. Macmillan, London.
- Nordic Council (1996) Women in Leading Positions Gender Distribution in the 100 Biggest Private Enterprises in the Nordic Countries. Nordic House of Publishing, Copenhagen.
- Nummenmaa, A.-R. (1994) The Development and Realization of Sex-Atypical Occupational Plans in Finland. In *Women and Markets*, eds P. Koistinen and I. Ostner. University of Tampere Work Research Centre publications 13/1994.
- Nyberg, P. and Vihriälä, V. (1994) *The Finnish Banking Crisis and Its Handling (an update of developments through 1993*). Bank of Finland discussion papers 7/94.
- OECD (1997) Bank Profitability. OECD, Paris.

- Oberbeck, H. and d'Alessio, N. (1997) The End of the German Model? Developmental Tendencies in the German Banking Industry. In *Regulation and Deregulation in European Financial Services*, eds G. Morgan and D. Knights. Macmillan, London.
- O'Reilly, J. (1994) What Flexibility Do Women Offer? Comparing the Use of, and Attitudes to, Part-Time Work in Britain and France in Retail Banking. *Gender, Work and Organization* **1**, 138-150.
- O'Reilly, J. (1996) *Theoretical Considerations in Cross-National Employment Research.* WZB Discussion Paper FS I 96-203. Berlin.
- O'Reilly, J. (1998) Is It Time to Gender the Societal Effect? In *Societal Effects: Stocktaking and Revisiting*, eds M. Maurice and A. Sorge. DeGruyter, Berlin.
- O'Reilly, J. and Fagan, C. (eds) (1998) Part-time Prospects: An International Comparison of Part-time Work in Europe, North America and the Pasific Rim. Routledge, London.
- Ostner, I. (1994) Independence and Dependence Options and Constraints for Women Over the Life Course. In *Women and Markets*, eds P. Koistinen and I. Ostner. University of Tampere Work Research Centre publications 13/1994.
- Pateman, C. (1989) The Patriarchal Welfare State. In *The Disorder of Women*, ed C. Pateman. Polity, Cambridge.
- Peters, T.J. and Waterman, R.H. (1982) In Search of Excellence. Warner, New York.
- Pettigrew, A.M. (1987) Context and Action in the Transformation of the Firm. *Journal of Management Studies* 24, 649-670.
- Pettigrew, A.M., Ferlie, E. and McKee, L. (1992) *Shaping Strategic Change: Making Change in Large Organizations, The Case of the National Health Service.* Sage Publications, London.
- Pfau-Effinger, B. (1996) Analyse Internationaler Differenzen in der Erwerbsbeteiligung von Frauen Theoretischer Rahmen und Empirische Ergebnisse. Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie 48, 462-492.
- Pfau-Effinger, B. (1998) Culture or Structure as Explanations for Differences in Part-time Work in Germany, Finland and the Netherlands? In *Part-time Prospects: An International Comparison of Part-time Work in Europe, North America and the Pasific Rim*, eds J. O'Reilly and C. Fagan. Routledge, London.
- Pfau-Effinger, B. and Geissler, B. (1992) Institutionelle und sozio-kulturelle Kontextbedingungen der Entscheidung verheirateter Frauen für Teilzeitarbeit. *Mitteilungen aus der Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung* 3, 358-370.
- Quack, S. (1993) Dynamik der Teilzeitarbeit. Implikationen für die soziale Sicherung von Fraucn. Edition Sigma, Berlin.
- Quack, S. (1997) Karrieren im Glaspalast. Weibliche Führungskräfte in Europäischen Banken. WZB Discussion Paper FS I 97-104. Berlin.
- Quack, S. (1998) Reorganisation im Bankensektor Neue Chancen für Frauen im Management? WZB Discussion Paper FS I 98-104. Berlin.
- Quack, S., Maier, F. and Schuldt, K. (1992) Occupational Segregation in the Federal Republic of Germany and in the former German Democratic Republic 1980-1989. Report for the Commission of the European Community DG V. Brussels.

- Quack, S. and Maier, F. (1994) From state socialism to market economy women's employment in East Germany. *Environment and Planning* 26, 1257-1276.
- Quack, S., O'Reilly, J. and Hildebrandt, S. (1995) Structuring Change: Training and Recruitment in Retail Banking in Germany, Britain and France. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management* 4, 759-794.
- Quack, S. and Hildebrandt, S. (1997) Bank Finance for Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises in Germany and France. In *Regulation and Deregulation in European Financial Services*, eds G. Morgan and D. Knights. Macmillan, London.
- Räsänen, K. (1986) *Tensions in Management: A Study of Managerial Work Processes and Firm Performance*. Helsinki School of Economics doctoral dissertation, HSE Series A-45.
- Räsänen, K. (1991/92) Making History / Breaking History: the Dynamics of Organizational Transformation. *International Studies of Management & Organization* 21, 3-8.
- Räsänen, K. and Whipp, R. (1992) National Business Recipes: A Sector Perspective. In *European Business Systems*, ed R. Whitley. Sage, London.
- Ragins, B. R. and Sundstrom, E. (1989) Gender and Power in Organizations: A Longitudinal Perspective. *Psychological Bulletin* 105, 1, 51-88.
- Rantalaiho, L. (1997) Contextualizing Gender. In *Gendered Practices in Working Life*, eds L. Rantalaiho and T. Heiskanen. St Martin's Press, New York.
- Rantalaiho, L. and Heiskanen, T. (eds) (1997) *Gendered Practices In Working Life*. St Martin's Press, New York.
- Reskin, B.F. and Roos, P.A. (1990) *Job Queues, Gender Queues: Explaining Women's Inroads into Male Occupations*. Temple University Press, Philadelphia.
- Romanelli, E. and Tushman, M.L. (1994) Organizational Transformation As Punctuated Equilibrium: An Empirical Test. *Academy of Management Journal* 37, 1141-1166.
- Ropo, A. (1989) *Leadership and Organizational Change*. University of Tampere Dissertation. Acta Universitatis Tamperensis ser A vol 280.
- Rosenfeld, R.A. and Spenner, K.I. (1992) Occupational Segregation and Women's Early Career Job Shifts. *Work and Occupations* 19, 424-449.
- Rubery, J. (ed) (1988) Women and Recession. Routledge & Kegan Paul, London.
- Rubery, J. and Fagan, C. (1995) Gender Segregation in Societal Context. *Work, Employment and Society* 9, 213-240.
- Rubery, J., Smith, M., Fagan, C. and Grimshaw, D. (1998) *Women and European Employment.*Routledge, London.
- Santalainen, T. and Spencer, B. (1990) Successful Results Management in a Finnish Bank. Long Range Planning 23, 41-48.
- Savage, M. (1992) Women's Expertise, Men's Authority: Gendered Organization and the Contemporary Middle Classes. In *Gender and Bureaucracy*, eds M. Savage and A. Witz. Blackwell Publishers, Oxford.
- Savage, M. and Witz, A. (1992) Gender and Bureaucracy. Blackwell Publishers, Oxford.

- Scott, J. (1986) Gender: A Useful Category of Historical Analysis. *American Historical Review* 91, 1053-1075.
- Scott, W.R. (1987) The Adolescence of Institutional Theory. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 32, 493-511.
- Sorge, A. (1991) Strategic Fit and the Societal Effect: Interpreting Cross-national Comparisons of Technology, Organization and Human Resources. *Organization Studies* 12, 161-190.
- Sorge, A. and Warner, M. (1986) *Comparative Factory Organization: An Anglo-German Comparison of Manufacturing, Management and Manpower*. Gower, Aldershot.
- Statistics Finland (1996) Women and Men in Finland. Statistical Office of Finland, Helsinki.
- Swary, I. and Topf, B. (1992) Global Financial Deregulation. Blackwell Publishers, Oxford.
- Tainio, R., Lilja, K. and Santalainen, T. (1997) Changing Managerial Competetive Practices in the Context of Growth and Decline in the Finnish Banking Sector. In *Deregulation and European Financial Services*, eds G. Morgan and D. Knights. Macmillan Press, London.
- Tainio, R., Santalainen, T. and Sarvikivi K. (1991) Organizational Change in a Bank Group: The Merger Process and Its Generative Mechanisms. *Scandinavian Journal of Management* 7, 191-203.
- Tainio, R. and Virtanen, K. (1996) Governance Structures in Finnish Corporations. *ZfB-Ergänzungsheft*, 3/96, 1-13.
- Teulings, A.W.M. (1986) Managerial Labour Processes in Organised Capitalism; the Power of Corporate Management and the Powerlessness of the manager. In *Managing the Labour Process*, eds D. Knights and H. Willmott. Gower, Aldershot.
- Teulings, A.W.M. and Lilja, K. (1989) Fields and Arenas of Managerial Work: Elements of a Sensitising Framework. *International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy* 9, 1-8.
- Tienari, J. (1995) Speeding in the Slow Lane: Process of Organizational Change 1983-1993 in a Finnish Bank. Helsinki School of Economics licentiate thesis, HSE series B-150.
- Tienari, J. (1998) *Gender Segregation in the Making of a Merger*. Helsinki School of Economics unpublished manuscript.
- Tienari, J. (forthcoming) The First Wave Washed Up On Shore: Reform, Feminization and Gender Resegregation. *Gender, Work and Organization*.
- Tienari, J. and Tainio, R. (forthcoming) The Myth of Flexibility in Organizational Change. Scandinavian Journal of Management.
- Tienari, J. and Tuunainen, V.K. (1998) Merging for the Future: Orchestrated Blending and the Ambiguity of Organizational Culture. *LTA / the Finnish Journal of Business Economics* 4/1998.
- Volberda, H.W. (1997) Building Flexible Organizations for Fast-moving Markets. *Long Range Planning* 30, 169-183.
- Willms-Herget, A. (1985) Frauenarbeit. Zur Integration der Frauen auf dem Arbeitsmarkt. Campus, Frankfurt/Main.
- Witz, A. (1995) Gender and Service-class Formation. In *Social Change and the Middle Classes*, eds T. Butler and M. Savage. UCL Press, Norwich.

- Witz, A. and Savage, M. (1992) The Gender of Organizations. In *Gender and Bureaucracy*, eds M. Savage and A. Witz. Blackwell Publishers, Oxford.
- Woodall, J., Edwards, C. and Welchman, R. (1997) Organizational Restructuring and the Achievement of an Equal Opportunity Culture. *Gender, Work and Organization* 4, 2-12.
- Wolff, J.(1977) Women in Organizations. In *Critical issues on Organizations*, eds S. Clegg and D. Dunkerley. Roudlege, London.
- Yin, R.K. (1989) Case Study Research: Design and Methods. Sage Publications, USA.
- Zysman, J. (1983) Governments, Markets and Growth: Financial Systems and the Politics of Industrial Change. Cornell University Press, USA.
- Zysman, J. (1994) How Institutions Create Historically Rooted Trajectories of Growth. *Industrial and Corporate Change* 3, 243-283.

BÜCHER DES FORSCHUNGSSCHWERPUNKTS ARBEITSMARKT UND BESCHÄFTIGUNG

(nur im Buchhandel erhältlich)

Bettina Bangel

Geographie der Altersgrenzen. Frühverrentung im regionalen Strukturwandel

1993, Berlin, edition sigma, 251 Seiten

Friedrich Buttler, Wolfgang Franz, Ronald Schettkat, and David Soskice

Institutional Frameworks and Labor Market Performance. Comparative Views on the U.S. and German Economies

1995, London/New York, Routledge, 352 Seiten

European Academy of the Urban Environment New institutional arrangements in the labour market. Transitional labour markets as a new full employment concept

1998, Berlin, EA.UE series "The Urban Environment in Europe", 135 Seiten

Gernot Grabher (Ed.)

The Embedded Firm

On the Socioeconomics of Industrial Networks

1993, London/New York, Routledge, 306 Seiten

Gernot Grabher

Lob der Verschwendung

1994, Berlin, edition sigma, 144 Seiten

Gernot Grabher / David Stark (Eds.)

Restructuring Networks in Post-Socialism. Legacies, Linkages and Localities

1997, Oxford, Oxford University Press, 360 Seiten

Hubert Heinelt / Gerhard Bosch / Bernd Reissert (Hrsg.)

Arbeitsmarktpolitik nach der Vereinigung 1994, Berlin, edition sigma, 249 Seiten

3 1, 1 1, 11

Hitchens, D.M.W.N. / Wagner, K. / Birnie, J.E. **East German Productivity and the Transition to the Market Economy**

1993, Aldershot, Avebury, 126 Seiten

Hansjörg Herr / Andreas Westphal (Hrsg.)

Transformation in Mittel- und Osteuropa. Makroökonomische Konzepte und Fallstudien

1993, Frankfurt/New York, Campus, 370 Seiten

Traute Meyer

Ungleich besser? Die ökonomische Unabhängigkeit von Frauen im Zeichen der Expansion sozialer Dienstleistungen

1997, Berlin, edition sigma, 216 Seiten

Mirjana Morokvasic / Hedwig Rudolph (Hrsg.)

Wanderungsraum Europa. Menschen und
Grenzen in Bewegung

1994, Berlin, edition sigma, 286 Seiten

Frieder Naschold / David Soskice / Bob Hancké / Ulrich Jürgens (Hg.)

Ökonomische Leistungsfähigkeit und Institutionelle Innovation

WZB-Jahrbuch 1997

1997, Berlin, edition sigma, 366 Seiten

Jacqueline O'Reilly

Banking on Flexibility

1994, Aldershot, Avebury, 297 Seiten

Jacqueline O'Reilly / Colette Fagan (Eds.)

Part-Time Prospects. An International Comparison

1998, London/New York, Routledge, 304 Seiten

Sigrid Quack

Dynamik der Teilzeitarbeit.

Implikationen für die soziale Sicherung von Frauen

1993, Berlin, edition sigma, 289 Seiten

Hedwig Rudolph / Mirjana Morokvasic (Eds.)

Bridging States and Markets.

International Migration in the Early 1990s

1993, Berlin, edition sigma, 330 Seiten

Hedwig Rudolph (Hg.)

unter Mitarbeit von Dagmar Simon

Geplanter Wandel, ungeplante Wirkungen. Handlungslogiken und -ressourcen in Prozeß der Transformation

WZB-Jahrbuch 1995

1995, Berlin, edition sigma, 348 Seiten

Ronald Schettkat (Ed.)

The Flow Analysis of Labour Markets

1996, London/New York, Routledge, 294 Seiten

Günther Schmid (Ed.)

Labor Market Institutions in Europe.
A Socioeconomic Evaluation of Performance

1994, New York/London, M.E. Sharpe, 291 Seiten

Günther Schmid

Är full sysselsättning fortfarande möjlig? Övergångsarbetsmarknader som en ny strategi för arbetsmarknadspolitiken.

(Übersetzung: Birger Viklund) 1995, Södertäje, PM Bäckström Förlag, 53 Seiten

Günther Schmid / Jacqueline O'Reilly / Klaus Schömann (Eds.)

International Handbook of Labour Market Policy and Evaluation

1996, Cheltenham, UK, Edward Elgar, 954 Seiten

Klaus Schömann

The Dynamics of Labor Earnings over the Life Course. A Comparative and Longitudinal Analysis of Germany and Poland

1994, Max-Planck-Institut für Bildungsforschung: Studien und Berichte, Bd. 60, Berlin, edition sigma,190 Seiten

Klaus Schömann / Ralf Rogowski / Tomas Kruppe

Labour Market Efficiency in the European Union. Employment Protection and Fixed-Term Contracts

1998, London/New York, Routledge, 214 Seiten

zukunft im zentrum, Service-Gesellschaft für Beschäftigungs- und Qualifizierungsberatung / Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin für Sozialforschung (Hrsg.)

Arbeitslandschaft Europa. Bericht zum Zweiten Europäischen Arbeitsmarktkongress

The European Labor Landscape. Report on the Second European Labor Market Congress Berlin 1994

Vertrieb: zukunft im zentrum gGmbH, Rungestraße 19, D-10179 Berlin, Schutzgebühr: 20,-- DM, 328 Seiten

DISCUSSION PAPERS 1995

Abteilung:

Organisation und Beschäftigung

FS I 95 - 101

Sigrid Quack, Jacqueline O'Reilly,

Swen Hildebrandt

New Patterns of Recruitment and Training in German, UK and French Banks. An examination of the tensions between sectoral and national systems

FS I 95 - 102

Sigrid Quack, Swen Hildebrandt

Hausbank or Fournisseur? Bank Services for Small and Medium Sized Enterprises in Germany and France

FS I 95 - 103

Sigrid Quack, Swen Hildebrandt

Das Geheimnis der Banken - Zum Einfluß von Organisationsstrukturen und Personalpolitiken deutscher und französischer Kreditinstitute im mittelständischen Unternehmensgeschäft

Abteilung:

Arbeitsmarktpolitik und Beschäftigung

FS I 95 - 201 Klaus Schömann

Active Labour Market Policy in the European Union

FS I 95 - 202 Sylvia Matheus

Dienstleistungsarbeit als Auffangnetz? Eine Analyse der Eintritte und Wechsel in Dienstleistungsarbeit mit Daten des Sozioökonomischen Panels

FS I 95 - 203

Colette Fagan, Janneke Plantenga, Jill Rubery

Does Part-Time Work Promote Sex Equality?

A Comparative Analysis of the Netherlands

and the UK

FS I 95 - 204

Klaus Semlinger

Arbeitsmarktpolitik für Existenzgründer. Plädoyer für eine arbeitsmarktpolitische Unterstützung des Existenzgründungsgeschehens

FS I 95 - 205

Hugh Mosley, Thomas Kruppe and Stephan Speckesser

Flexible Adjustment through Short-time Work: A Comparison of France, Germany, Italy, and Spain

FS I 95 - 206 Birgitta Rabe

Implementation wirtschaftsnaher Arbeitsmarktpolitik - Lohnkostenzuschüsse nach § 249h Arbeitsförderungsgesetz in Berlin und Sachsen

FS I 95 - 207

Klaus Schömann, Ralf Rogowski, Thomas Kruppe

Fixed Term Contracts and Labour Market Efficiency in the European Union

FS I 95 - 208

Claudia Spee und Günther Schmid

Beschäftigungsdynamik in Ballungsregionen. Entwicklung und Struktur der Beschäftigung des Berliner Arbeitsmarktes in Ballungsraumvergleich 1977-94

FS I 95 - 209 Nigel Meager

Arbeitsmarktpolitik für Existenzgründer. Internationale Erfahrungen der Existenzgründungsförderung von Arbeitslosen

Abteilung:

Wirtschaftswandel und Beschäftigung

FS I 95 - 301

Wendy Carlin, Peter Richthofen

Finance, Economic Development and the Transition: The East German Case

FS I 95 - 302 Andrew Glyn

Social Democracy and Full Employment

FS I 95 - 303 Andrew Glyn

Unemployment and Inequality

FS I 95 - 304 Ronald Schettkat

Asymmetric Labor Market Flows over the Business Cycle

FS I 95 - 305

Wendy Carlin and Colin Mayer

Structure and Ownership of East German Enterprises

FS I 95 - 306 Andres Glyn

Does Profitability Really Matter?

FS I 95 - 307

Andrea Boltho, Wendy Carlin, Pasquale Scaramozzino

Will East Germany Become a New Mezzogiorno?

FS I 95 - 308 Sigurt Vitols

Are German Banks Different?

FS I 95 - 309 Sigurt Vitols

German Banks and the Modernization of the Small Firm Sector: Long-Term Finance in Comparative Perspective

FS I 95 - 310 Sigurt Vitols

Corporate Governance Versus Economic Governance: Banks and Industrial Restructuring in the U.S. and Germany

FS I 95 - 311 Sigurt Vitols

Financial Systems and Industrial Policy in Germany and Great Britain: The Limits of Convergence

FS I 95 - 312 Sigurt Vitols

Inflation Versus Central Bank Independence? Banking Regulation and Financial Stability in the U.S. and Germany

FS I 95 - 313 Thomas R. Cusack

Partisan Politics and Public Finance: Changes in Public Spending in the Industrialized Democracies, 1955-1989

FS I 95 - 314 Steven Casper

How Public Law Influences Decentralized Supplier Network Organization in Germany: The Cases of BMW and Audi

FS I 95 - 315 Thomas R. Cusack

Politics and Macroeconomic Performance in the OECD Countries

DISCUSSION PAPERS 1996

Abteilung:

Organisation und Beschäftigung

FS I 96 - 101 Swen Hildebrandt

Berufsausbildung in Frankreich zwischen Staat, Region und Unternehmen:

Neuere Entwicklungen in der Region Provence-Alpes-Côte d'Azur

FS I 96 - 102 Dorothee Bohle

Governance im Spätsozialismus. Die Herausbildung hybrider Koordinationsformen und informeller Vernetzungen in Polen und Ungarn in den achtziger Jahren FS I 96 - 103

Felicitas Hillmann / Hedwig Rudolph

Jenseits des brain drain - Zur Mobilität westlicher Fach- und Führungskräfte nach Polen

FS I 96 - 104 Gernot Grabher

Neue Bundesländer?

Zur Rolle des historischen Erbes in der Reorganisation von Betrieben und Regionen in Brandenburg

FS I 96 - 105 Philippe Bernoux

Das Unternehmen - ein neues soziologisches Forschungsobjekt in Frankreich?

FS I 96 - 106 Frauke Miera

Zuwanderer und Zuwanderinnen aus Polen in Berlin in den 90er Jahren.

Thesen über Auswirkungen der Migrationspolitiken auf ihre Arbeitsmarktsituation und Netzwerke

Abteilung:

Arbeitsmarktpolitik und Beschäftigung

FS I 96 - 201

Willem J. Dercksen / Jaap de Koning

The New Public Employment Service in the Netherlands (1991-1994)

FS I 96 - 202

Peter Auer with Thomas Kruppe

Monitoring of Labour Market Policy in the EU-Member States

FS I 96 - 203 Jacqueline O'Reilly

Theoretical Considerations in Cross-National Employment Research

FS I 96 - 204 Günther Schmid

Reform der Arbeitsmarktpolitik. Vom fürsorgenden Wohlfahrtsstaat zum kooperativen Sozialstaat

FS I 96 - 205

Peter Auer / Stefan Speckesser unter Mitarbeit von Lothar Linke

Labour Markets and Organisational Change Future Working Structures for an Ageing Workforce

FS I 96 - 205a

Peter Auer / Stefan Speckesser unter Mitarbeit von Lother Linke

Arbeitsmarkt- und Organisationswandel: Zukünftige Arbeitsstrukturen und ältere Arbeitnehmer FS I 96 - 206 Günther Schmid

unter Mitarbeit von Maja Helmer

Beschäftigungswunder Niederlande?

Ein Vergleich der Beschäftigungssysteme in den Niederlanden und in Deutschland

FS I 96 207

Philip O'Connell and Fran McGinnity

What Works, Who Works? The Impact of Active Labour Market Programmes on the Employment Prospects of Young People in Ireland

Abteilung:

Wirtschaftswandel und Beschäftigung

FS I 96 - 301 Bob Hancké

Industrial Reorganisation in France. Changing relationships between large and small firms

FS I 96 - 302 Bob Hancké

The Political Economy of Organizational Change. Industrial Restructuring and Industrial Relations in France: *Le Cas Renault*

FS I 96 - 303

Bob Hancké / David Soskice

Coordination and Restructuring in Large French Firms. The Evolution of French Industry in the 1980s.

FS I 96 - 304 Elisabetta Gualmini

Policy Innovation in the Italian Labour Market: The influence of institutions

FS I 96 - 305 Richard Hyman

Institutional Transfer: Industrial Relations in Eastern Germany

FS I 96 - 306 Steven Casper

German Industrial Associations and the Diffusion of Innovative Economic Organization: The Case of JIT Contracting

FS I 96 - 307 Mark Lehrer

The German Model of Industrial Strategy in Turbulence: Corporate Governance and Managerial Hierarchies in Lufthansa

FS I 96 - 308 Isabela Mares

Firms and the Welfare State: The Emergence of New Forms of Unemployment

FS I 96 - 309 Bob Hancké

Labour Unions, Business Co-ordination and Economic Adjustment in Western Europe, 1980-90

FS I 96 - 310

David Soskice / Bob Hancké

Von der Konstruktion von Industrienormen zur Organisation der Berufsausbildung. Eine vergleichende Analyse am Beispiel von Großbritannien, Deutschland, Japan und Frankreich

FS I 96 - 311

Bob Hancké / Sylvie Cieply

Bridging the Finance Gap for Small Firms. The role of information flows across large firm-based production networks in supplying finance to small firms: the case of France

FS I 96 - 312 John Phillimore

Restructuring Australian Industrial Relations: The Limits of a Supply Side Approach

FS I 96 - 313

Bob Hancké / Steven Casper

ISO 9000 in the French and German Car Industry. How international quality standards support varieties of capitalism

FS I 96 - 314 Isabela Mares

Is Unemployment Insurable? Employers and the Institutionalization of the Risk of Unemployment

FS I 96 - 315 Torben Iversen

The Political Economy of Inflation: Bargaining structure or central bank independence?

FS I 96 - 316 Mark K. Cassell

The Treuhandanstalt, Privatization and the Role of the Courts

FS I 96 - 317

Pepper D. Culpepper

Problems on the Road to "High-Skill": A sectoral lesson from the transfer of the dual system of vocational training to eastern Germany

FS I 96 - 318 Sylvain Broyer

The Social Market Economy: Birth of an Economic Style

FS I 96 - 319 David Soskice

German Technology Policy, Innovation, and National Institutional Frameworks

FS I 96 - 320

Karl-Orfeo Fioretos

How and Why Institutional Advantages are Preserved in a Global Economy: A Comparison of British and Swedish Multilateral Preferences

FS I 96 - 321 Sigurt Vitols

German Industrial Policy: An Overview

FS I 96 - 322 Steven Casper

The Development of Decentralized Supplier Networks in East Germany: A Challenge to the German Model of Industrial Organization

FS I 96 - 323 Richard Deeg

German Banks and Industrial Finance in the 1990s

DISCUSSION PAPERS 1997

Abteilung:

Organisation und Beschäftigung

FS I 97 - 101

Felicitas Hillmann / Hedwig Rudolph

Redistributing the Cake? Ethnicisation Processes in the Berlin Food Sector

FS I 97 -102 Dorothee Bohle

Zwischen lokaler Anarchie und globalen Netzen: Transformationsprozesse im polnischen Straßengüterverkehr

FS I 97 - 103 Felicitas Hillmann

This is a migrant's world: Städtische ethnische Arbeitsmärkte am Beispiel New York City

FS I 97 - 104 Sigrid Quack

Karrieren im Glaspalast. Weibliche Führungskräfte in europäischen Banken

FS I 97 - 105 Enzo Mingione

The Current Crisis of Intensive Work Regimes and the Question of Social Exclusion in Industrialized Countries

Abteiluna:

Arbeitsmarktpolitik und Beschäftigung

FS I 97 - 201

Dirk Finger

Dienstleistungsschecks in Europa - ein Modell für Deutschland? Beschäftigungseffekte und Kosten für die Volkswirtschaft: fünf Szenarien

FS I 97 - 201a

Dirk Finger

Service cheques in Europe - a model for Germany? Employment effects and macro-economic costs: five scenarios

FS I 97 - 202

Günther Schmid

in collaboration with Maja Helmer

The Dutch Employment Miracle? A comparison of employment systems in the Netherlands and Germany

FS I 97 - 203

Günther Schmid, Peter Auer, Hugh Mosley, Klaus Schömann (Eds.)

Progress in Evaluation Research: Documentation of Two Transfer-Workshops on the "International Handbook of Labour Market Policy and Evaluation"

FS I 97 - 204

Günther Schmid, Klaus Schömann und

Holger Schütz

Evaluierung der Arbeitmarktpolitik. Ein analytischer Bezugsrahmen am Beispiel des Arbeitsmarktpolitischen Rahmenprogramms in Berlin

FS I 97 - 205

Silke Bothfeld

Teilzeitarbeit für alle? Eine Untersuchung von Teilzeitpräferenzen in Deutschland und Großbritannien unter beschäftigungspolitischen Gesichtspunkten

FS I 97 - 206

Ralf Rogowski und Günther Schmid

Reflexive Deregulierung. Ein Ansatz zur Dynamisierung des Arbeitsmarkts

FS I 97 - 206a

Ralf Rogowski and Günther Schmid

Reflexive Deregulation. International experiences and proposals for labour market reform

FS I 97 - 207

Jacqueline O'Reilly, Claudia Spee

Regulating work and welfare of the future: Towards a new social contract or a new gender contract? FS I 97 - 208

Hugh Mosley and Stefan Speckesser

Market Share and Market Segment of Public Employment Services

Abteilung:

Wirtschaftswandel und Beschäftigung

FS I 97 - 301

Mark Lehrer, Owen Darbishire

The Performance of Economic Institutions in a Dynamic Environment: Air Transport and Telecommunications in Germany and Britain

FS I 97 - 302 Stewart Wood

Weakening Codetermination?

Works Council Reform in West Germany in the 1980s

FS I 97 - 303

Thomas R. Cusack

On the Road to Weimar? The Political Economy of Popular Satisfaction with Government and Regime Performance in Germany

FS I 97 - 304 Bob Hancké

Modernisation Without Flexible Specialisation. How large firm restructuring and government regional policies became the step-parents of autarchic regional production systems in France

FS I 97 - 305 Mark Tilton

Regulatory Reform and Market Opening in Japan

FS I 97 - 306 Thomas R. Cusack

Partisan Politics and Fiscal Policy

FS I 97 - 307 Peter A. Hall /

Robert J. Franzese, Jr.

Mixed Signals:

Central Bank Independence, Coordinated Wage Bargaining, and European Monetary Union

FS I 97 - 308

David Soskice and Torben Iversen

Central Bank - Trade Union Interactions and the Equilibrium Rate of Employment

Assoziiertes Arbeitsgebiet: Internationale Politik

P 97 - 301

Wolf-Dieter Eberwein

Die Politik Humanitärer Hilfe: Im Spannungsfeld von Macht und Moral

P 97 - 302 Yasemin Topcu

Die Neugestaltung staatlicher humanitärer Hilfe in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland

P 97 - 303

Wolf-Dieter Eberwein

Umwelt - Sicherheit - Konflikt Eine theoretische Analyse

P 97 - 304 Peter Brecke

Using Pattern Recognition to Identify Harbinger Configurations of Early Warning Indicators

DISCUSSION PAPERS 1998

Abteilung:

Organisation und Beschäftigung

FS I 98 - 101 Hildegard Theobald

Frauen in leitenden Positionen in der Privatwirtschaft. Eine Untersuchung des schwedischen und deutschen Geschlechtervertrages

FS I 98 - 102 Isabel Georges

Heterogeneity versus homogeneity?

Transformation of wage relations of the French and the German public telephone operators: the case of directory inquiry services

FS I 98 - 103 Dieter Plehwe (Hg.)

Transformation der Logistik

FS I 98 - 104 Sigrid Quack

Reorganisation im Bankensektor.

Neue Chancen für Frauen im Management?

FS I 98 - 105

Janne Tienari, Sigrid Quack and Hildegard Theobald

Organizational Reforms and Gender: Feminization of Middle Management in Finnish and German Banking

Abteilung:

Arbeitsmarktpolitik und Beschäftigung

FS I 98 - 201

Dietmar Dathe

Wechselwirkungen zwischen Arbeitszeitpolitik und Arbeitsangebotsverhalten. Eine Untersuchung zur Bedeutung von Arbeitspräferenzen für eine Politik der Arbeitsumverteilung

FS I 98 - 202 Ton Wilthagen

Flexicurity: A New Paradigm for Labour Market Policy Reform

FS I 98 - 203

Klaus Schömann, Thomas Kruppe und

Heidi Oschmiansky

Beschäftigungsdynamik und Arbeitslosigkeit in der Europäischen Union

FS I 98 - 204

Jacqueline O'Reilly, Ralf Rogowski (Hg./Eds.)

Dokumentation des Round-Table Gesprächs "Die neue Labour-Regierung in Großbritannien: Zwischenbilanz der ersten hundert Tage"

"The New Labour Government in Great Britain: Assessment of the first 100 days"

FS I 98 - 205

Holger Schütz, Stefan Speckesser, Günther Schmid

Benchmarking Labour Market Performance and Labour Market Policies: Theoretical Foundations and Applications

FS I 98 - 206 Günther Schmid

Transitional Labour Markets:

A New European Employment Strategy

Abteilung:

Wirtschaftswandel und Beschäftigung

FS I 98 - 301 Karin Wagner

The German Apprenticeship System after Unification

FS I 98 - 302 Donatella Gatti

The Equilibrium Rate of Unemployment in Varying Micro-Institutional Settings

FS I 98 - 303 Steven Casper

The Legal Framework for Corporate Governance: Explaining the Development of Contract Law in Germany and the United States FS I 98 - 304

Torben Iversen and Thomas R. Cusack

The Causes of Welfare State Expansion: Deindustrialization or Globalization?

FS I 98 - 305 Bob Hancké

Industrial Restructuring and Industrial Relations in the European Car Industry. Instruments and Strategies for Employment

Beim Präsidenten

Arbeitsgebiet: Internationale Politik

P 98 - 301

Wolf Dieter Eberwein

Die deutsch-polnischen Beziehungen: Integrationstheoretische Überlegungen

P 98 - 302

Wolf-Dieter Eberwein

Sven Chojnacki

Disasters and Violence, 1946-1997. The link between the natural and the social environment

P 98 - 303

Catherine Götze

Humanitäre Organisationen und Zivilgesellschaft. Konzeptionelle Überlegungen zum zivilgesellschaftlichen Charakter von Nichtregierungsorganisationen

P 98 - 304

Ortwin Renn und Andreas Klinke

Risikoevaluierung von Katastrophen

Absender/From:			

Versandstelle - WZB

Reichpietschufer 50

D-10785 Berlin

BESTELLSCHEIN ORDER FORM

Bitte schicken Sie mir aus Ihrer Publikationsliste folgende Diskussions-Papiere zu. Bitte schicken Sie bei Ihren Bestellungen von WZB-Papers unbedingt eine 1 DM-Briefmarke pro paper und einen an Sie adressierten Aufkleber mit. Danke.

For each paper you order please send a "*Coupon-Réponse International*" (international money order) plus a *self-addressed adhesive label*. Thank You.

Please send me the following discussion papers from your Publication List:

Paper No. Author